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FEHRE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of China New Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group” or “We”), | am pleased to report the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (“Reporting
Year”).

2022 was a relatively tough year for the Company in its development
history. On the external environment, the Pandora’s box of multiple
external factors-inflicted conflicts opened by the Ukraine Conflict and
the economic sanctions imposed by the U.S. and some countries of the
European Union not only had tremendous impact on the global economy,
but also delivered a heavy blow to the development of the Chinese
economy, posing serious challenges to the economic development of the
PRC. Under the cumulative effects of external uncertainties, our potential
projects that were sought for through communication during recent years
in Africa and the Southeast Asia made no progress. And in the PRC,
as the COVID-19 pandemic still had intermittent outbreaks in different
regions, the country adopted stringent prevention and control policies. In
Guangzhou where our headquarters is located, when regional lockdown
policies in response to the COVID-19 pandemic were adopted in the
second half of the year, most of the Company’s employees had very limited
mobility and had to work from home. When the full lifting of the prevention
and control measures was effective in early December, substantially all
employees were infected by the novel coronavirus and were unable to
work or go out as normal, seriously hindering the business expansion
of the Company. After the full lifting of the prevention and control
measures, various sectors in the country embarked a journey toward
uneven economic recovery and development, and the increasing price
of upstream commodities and raw materials narrowed the profit room
of fuel ethanol industry. After years of expansion, the capacities of the
domestic fuel ethanol industry are saturated, weakening new investors’ will
in making investments in the industry to build new fuel ethanol production
facilities. Over recent years, in the PRC, strong policy and capital support
went to the investments in lithium battery technology application routes,
and the policy support for fuel ethanol investment from the government
is also fading out, affecting the future development of fuel ethanol to a
certain extent. The above internal and external factors have to some extent
affected the development of the industry and the Company’s business.
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6 China New Energy Limited

Under adverse internal and external business environment and industry
downturn, the Board and management team of the Company led all
employees to preserve their beliefs, uphold the business philosophy of
steady operation and continuous improvement, strengthen scientific and
technological innovation and actively adapt to the situation. They also
required the marketing team to explore project opportunities through
multiple channels, excel in technical, service and even price competitions
and do their very best to secure new projects. The engineering department
shall execute well in the completion of existing projects, consolidate
our overall capabilities in development, and turn disadvantages into
opportunities. We mainly aim to stabilise the Company’s operating
performance and try to control the degree of decline. Under the current
circumstance of shrinking business volume, the technology and R&D
departments continued to proceed in technological research, strengthen
project's R&D cooperation with well-known universities and elevate the
Company’s R&D level. At present, China has already increased investment
in rural waste (cellulosic ethanol). It is hoped that there will be more
market opportunities to encourage the development of cellulosic ethanol.
We strive to take the lead in the development and utilisation of new energy
technologies in the future.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Our total revenue has decreased by 69.66% from approximately
RMB386.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately RMB117.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Due to the aforementioned market environment and other factors, the
number of newly signed contracts this year has significantly decreased,
resulting in a decrease in the number of contracts that can be performed
and hence a significant decline in operating income this year.

Our net profit decreased by 753.71% from a profit of approximately
RMB7.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 and turned into a
loss of approximately RMB51.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, mainly due to the decline in turnover, shrinking of gross profit
margin and decrease in gross profit by 66.49% year on year. Meanwhile,
the impairment loss of contract assets and receivables increased by
67.13%, resulting in a relatively substantial loss.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

PROSPECTS

From the external macro environmental perspective, in 2023, there is
a high probability that the global economic growth rate will decline, and
the medium and long-term growth of the global economy will also be
significantly sluggish. Under the pressure of high inflation, central banks
in the United States and Europe continue to tighten monetary policy,
and there may even be a risk of excessive tightening, which increasingly
highlights the negative spillover effect on the global economy. At the same
time, under the impact of non-economic factors such as geopolitical
conflicts and natural disasters, the global economic recovery in 2023 will
face greater pressure. In the medium and long term, the growth rate of the
global working age population is slowing down significantly. The impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on education and human capital accumulation
will also gradually emerge. The pace of technological innovation and the
application of advanced technology is still slow, and the global economic
growth is unlikely to improve significantly. In the next 3-5 years, the global
economy will maintain a medium to low speed growth level of around
3%, and the external environment is still unfavorable for our project
development. The domestic environment is relatively optimistic. After the
fully release of the prevention and control measures for the COVID-19
pandemic, China has experienced short-term pain. This problem seems
to have passed, and it is unlikely that there will be a large-scale outbreak
of the domestic pandemic. China focuses on the planing and construction
of economic recovery. It is expected that China's economy will experience
a steady trend of recovery in 2023. The “14th Five Year Plan” Biobased
Economy Development Plan was issued by the National Development
and Reform Department which will ushered in new opportunities for
development of green and low-carbon technologies such as new biomass
energy and biochemistry. The current development prospects of the
Company’s industry should be more optimistic than that in 2022.
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8 China New Energy Limited

In the context of achieving carbon peak and carbon neutral goals, China
will continue to implement a green and low-carbon development plan
for industry in 2023. Although there are fewer incentives and support
policies involved this year, the policies to encourage the development of
low-carbon green energy will not change. The Company has been deeply
engaged in the bioenergy industry for many years and has developed
certain cellulosic ethanol production technical solutions which can
provide the technology and equipment required for industrialisation. The
Company will continue to optimise its cellulosic ethanol technology and
build demonstrative projects under the mature administrative policies and
market conditions. The Company has always paid attention to the research
in energy saving and emission reduction and upgrades with the latest
technology and equipment so as to provide replacement and upgrading
services for industries in which the Company operates. The Company also
contemplates to strengthen its R&D in the field of clean and new energy,
such as the development of hydrogen energy technology and related
equipment manufacturing, for its future business expansion which shall
provide commercial momentum for its sustainable development.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my appreciation to the
valued shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”), supportive
business partners and associates, insightful management team and
dedicated staff for all their contributions and commitments to the
Company. In addition, | would also like to thank the Board for their
valuable advice in steering the Group.

Yu Weijun
Chairman and Executive Director

31 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is a leading ethanol system producer in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”). We primarily provide integrated
services including engineering design, equipment manufacturing,
installation and commissioning, and subsequent maintenance for the core
system of ethanol production system in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic
beverage industries in the PRC. The Company has been qualified as
a National High-Tech Enterprise equipped with a provincial standard
technology centre. We have cooperated with Guangzhou Institute of
Energy Conversion, Chinese Academy of Sciences and various well-
known universities, and have undertaken many national research projects
with over 30 patented technologies researched and developed by the
Company. These proprietary intellectual properties enable us to provide
production processes and technologies for alcohol, ethanol fuel and
similar chemicals for customers at large. The pressure vessel equipment
designed and constructed by the Company are both CE and ASME
certified.

The Company is well-equipped to undertake a full range of services from
engineering design, large-scale equipment manufacturing to integration,
installation and commissioning for alcohol, ethanol fuel, biobutanol
and similar production systems. We provide customers with complete
customised solutions for project construction, relocation, upgrading,
transformation and installation of systems through bidding, invitation
to bid and quotation. According to our business process and operation
system, we have established a business model led by marketing service
and followed by technical R&D centre support, centralised procurement,
collaborative production, distribution and on-site production, equipment
system integration, installation and commissioning, where each step
is assigned with technical engineer service. We have thus created a
comprehensive system of design, construction and turnkey project to
sincerely serve our customers.

T _EFER
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China New Energy Limited

Faced with the ongoing spread of the COVID-19, strict prevention and
control policies at the early stage as well as uncertain economic recovery,
we barely made any progress in our overseas projects under negotiation
in recent years due to mounting external instability and uncertainty. At the
same time, the domestic fuel ethanol and edible alcohol industries have
also been severely challenged. On the one hand, profits from ethanol
remained at low level in light of oversupply, resulting in the accelerated
integration of production capacity. As for the domestic fuel ethanol and
edible alcohol industries where the Company operates, demand has
been saturated following expansion of production capacities in recent
years. According to the statistics, in 2022, the production capacity of
edible and industrial alcohol industries in China reached 13.6 million
tons, representing a decrease of 0.8 million tons as compared to that
in 2021, which is the second consecutive year recording decline in
production capacity, with major economic indicators going weak. On
the other hand, in 2022, given the downstream consumption of ethanol
declined, the industry still needs to seek new demand growth points. As
such, for the fuel ethanol and edible alcohol production industries where
the Company operates, the willingness to invest in fixed assets was not
strong. In 2022, China’s fixed asset investment grew by 5.1% year-over-
year. Although it has increased compared to 2021, the major investments
are still infrastructure investments. In response to the complicated and
unfavorable internal and external business environment, under the
leadership of the Board, management team of the Company has tried
every means to overcome difficulties and control the decline of the
Company’s business performance by focusing on the annual business
objectives and tasks.

During the Reporting Year, trading in the shares of the Company on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) has been
suspended since 1 April 2021 due to the delay in publication of the 2020
Final Results in March 2021. Having worked for 18 months to effectively
fulfill the resumption guidance issued by the Stock Exchange, the
Company has completed all reports of delayed publication and fulfilled the
requirements in accordance with the resumption guidance issued by the
Stock Exchange by October 2022. Trading in the shares of the Company
has been resumed on 12 October 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The main business activities of the Group in the current year are as

follows:

1)

The status of the Company’s marketing activities and contracts

During the Reporting Year, while the COVID-19 pandemic was
still raging around the world, some potential overseas projects of
the Company have almost ground to a halt. Marketing team of
the Company could only shift its focus to the domestic market,
the environment of which was not that optimistic. The Company
has struggled to obtain a sufficient business volume due to the
saturation in the ethanol industry’s production capacity and the
lack of new investment projects. In addition, as the business
activities are affected by the prevention and control measures of
the COVID-19 pandemic in some areas from time to time, and
the market activities are not carried out smoothly, and most of our
marketing activities had to be conducted online rather than face-
to-face, the effectiveness and success rates have been significantly
impaired, resulting in lower business volumes as compared to
previous years.

During 2022, the Group has signed sales contracts with a total
value of approximately RMB123 million. When compared with
the Group's total contract value of approximately RMB201 million
for 2021, the contract sum had decreased by RMB78 million or
approximately 39%. Market and economic conditions between
2021 and 2022 were considerably more unfavorable to the Group
and the substantial decrease in the amount of new contracts has
affected the operating income of the current year.

During the Reporting Year, the Company recorded a total operating
income of RMB117.35 million, representing a decrease of
RMB269.48 million or approximately 69.66% when compared
to approximately RMB386.83 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The significant drop in the number of new
contracts secured did not only impact the operating income this
year but also might affect that for the coming years.
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2)

The status of the Company’s projects under construction for the
year

During the Reporting Year, Engineering, Procurement and
Construction (“EPC”) projects in fuel ethanol and edible alcohol
industries still represented the main types of businesses for the
Company, with facility upgrades rather than new built as the
majority. Revenue from the five highest value projects accounted
for about 60% of the total revenue for the year, having generated
total revenue of approximately RMB73.78 million. The remaining
40% of revenue was attributable to certain equipment renovation
and upgrading projects provided to some small and medium-
sized fuel ethanol or edible alcohol producers in addition to direct
sales of small equipment and components. The five highest value
projects are outlined below. The highest value project was our
provision of a complete set of equipment for an annual output
of 300,000 tons of fuel ethanol with corn biomass as feedstock
for a regular customer in Heilongjiang Province. It contributed
approximately RMB26.1 million of revenue. The second highest
value project was our provision of technical upgrades for a regular
customer in Heilongjiang Province, for a project producing an
annual output of 300,000 tons of fuel ethanol and plain alcohol
co-production with corn biomass as feedstock, contributing
approximately RMB13 million of revenue. The third highest
value project was our provision of a set of new xanthan gum
extraction alcohol distillation equipment for a regular customer in
Heilongjiang Province, which contributed approximately RMB12.1
million of revenue. The fourth highest value project was for a new
absolute ethanol plant project with an annual output of 100,000
tons provided to a regular customer in Jilin Province, contributing
approximately RMB11.9 million of revenue. The fifth highest
value project was our provision of a complete set of equipment
for an annual output of 300,000 tons of fuel ethanol with corn
as feedstock for a regular customer in Heilongjiang Province,
contributing approximately RMB10.8 million of revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Technology research and development

During the Reporting Year, the Company continued to increase
R&D investment and adhered to the innovation-oriented business
philosophy. It helped maintain the Company’s competitiveness
in ethanol production technology and create a sound technical
foundation for the Company’s market development. During
the Reporting Year, the Company invested RMB4.8 million in
research and development and applied for 1 new patent in order
to enhance its capacity for patent development and intellectual
property rights, so as to further strengthen the Company’s core
technology competitiveness in the industry.

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in multiple
research projects in edible alcohol and fuel ethanol production
plant and its process methods, among which, there are two key
research and development projects. One of them is a major
project of the Ministry of Science and Technology concerning the
vehicle and jet fuel synthesized by hydrothermal depolymerization
and carburizing of biomass (RD064). In 2022, the manufacture
of pilot plant was basically completed, and it is expected that all
trials will be finished in this year. In turn, we will obtain important
technical data and equipment manufacturing experience,
laying a solid foundation for us to achieve vertical and in-depth
development of ethanol intensive processing industry chain.
Another one is a major science and technology project (RD0O61)
in Guangdong Province, which is carried out by our project team
in close collaboration with a project team organised by various
universities. The design and manufacture for the equipment have
been finished. Currently, the construction of plant is carried out
according to the processing plan, and the entire trial is expected
to be completed within this year. This will help the Company to
prepare for meeting the technological requirements of national
carbon peak and carbon neutrality strategy for bioenergy and
green chemical production.
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China New Energy Limited

FUTURE PROSPECTS

(1)

(2)

Business development strategy

In the next few years, with the world’s attention and commitment
to carbon emission reduction and carbon neutrality and China’s
dual carbon goals, application and development of new energy
production technologies will enter into a new era. The Company
will seize this historic opportunity and actively develop new
technologies and new business given its leading position in the
industry.

The Company aims to maintain technical advantages in the
fuel ethanol market. Through our R&D efforts in the cutting-
edge 1.5th and 2nd generation cellulose ethanol production
technologies, hydrogen energy production technology, as well
as high-carbon ethanol production technology through ethanol
intensive processing and related equipment manufacturing, we
shall be able to increase project income from cellulose ethanal,
hydrogen energy industry and high-carbon ethanol equipment
manufacturing in the future.

Looking forward, the Company will further strengthen the building
of our marketing team, continuously improve the depth and
breadth of sales network, maintain good relationships with the
existing customers and actively acquire new customers. The
Company will also proactively explore investment opportunities
in related industries and increase production equipment
manufacturing and technical service income from other chemicals
in order to expand the current revenue mix.

Strengthening technology R&D

The Company believes that independent innovation is essential
for its sustainable development. Since its establishment, the
Company has committed substantial resources to R&D for new
technologies and processes for energy-saving and environmentally
friendly new energy production. As at the end of the Reporting
Year, the Company and its subsidiaries currently have registered
a total of 37 valid patents, including 23 invention patents. Relying
on its leading position in the clean energy technology industry,
the Company will continue to increase investment in technology
R&D. We conduct effective exchanges and cooperation with
customers, universities and research institutes so as to create an
organic combination of production, learning and research. Our
R&D activities will focus on fuel ethanol technology, super grade
alcohol, hydrogen production and equipment manufacturing
technology and related chemical production processes. So long as
our technology is ahead of the curve, the self-owned intellectual
property will eventually convert into income from businesses of the
Group.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Year, the Company realised a total operating revenue
of RMB117.4 million (2021: RMB386.8 million), a decrease of 69.7%
over the year ended 31 December 2021, and a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of RMB50.5 million (2021: profit RMB8.4 million), which
decreased by 700.0% compared to the year ended 31 December 2021.
The decrease of revenue was mainly due to lesser contracts secured
than previous years. The total contracted amount shrunk about 39% in
the Reporting Year as affected by the inactive investment expenditure of
ethanol industry during the COVID-19 outbreak period.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales decreased by approximately RMB239.3 million, or 70.1%,
from approximately RMB341.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately RMB102.2 million for the Reporting Year. Such
decrease was mainly driven by the corresponding decrease in revenue of
the Reporting Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately RMB30.1 million,
or 66.5%, from approximately RMB45.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB15.2 million for the Reporting Year.
The Group’s overall gross profit margin increased from approximately
11.7% for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately 12.9% for
the Reporting Year. The slight increase in gross profit margin represented
normal fluctuations.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately
RMB3.4 million, or 55.8%, from approximately RMB6.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB9.4 million for the
Reporting Year, mainly due to the increase in maintenance expenses for
projects.
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Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses decreased by approximately RMB2.8 million,
or 12.5%, from approximately RMB22.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB19.5 million for the Reporting
Year. Such fluctuation was mainly attributable to the decrease in R&D
expenditures.

Net impairment losses under expected credit loss model

The Group's net impairment losses under expected credit loss model
increased by approximately RMB16.4 million, or 67.1%, from RMB24.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB40.8
million for the Reporting Year, mainly due to the increase of the expected
credit loss resulting from the uncertainty of the economic development.
The Company engaged a third party valuer who independently assess the
impairment of trade receivables and contract assets as a reference.

Other income and other (losses)/gains — net

The other income and other (losses)/gains — net decreased by
approximately RMB18.9 million from approximately RMB18.3 million
gain for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMBO.6
million loss for the Reporting Year, mainly attributable to the increase of
impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately 7.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, and some contracts of the Concerned
Transactions (as defined on pages 39 and 82 of the 2021 annual report)
being cancelled in 2021, as a result of which an approximately RMB10.7
million was refunded and recognised as other income of the Group in
2021, while such matter was absent in 2022.

Finance costs — net

The Group’s finance costs — net decreased by approximately RMBO0.3
million from approximately RMB2.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB1.7 million for the Reporting Year.
The finance costs mainly represented interests on bank borrowings. In
2022, the discount on hills of exchange decreased and interest rates
dropped.

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, for the Reporting Year, the Group recorded
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB50.5
million as compared to a profit of approximately RMB8.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB58.9 million or 700%, mainly due to the decrease in revenue and
gross profit.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, there were a total of 589,758,898 shares
in issue. There was no change in the number of issued shares of the
Company during the Reporting Year.

The Group's operation and investments were financed principally by cash
generated from its business operations and equity contribution from the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB143.1 million (2021: approximately RMB194.7
million) and bank deposits, balances and cash of approximately RMB1.9
million (2021: approximately RMB6.9 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total equity attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately RMB196.4 million (2021:
approximately RMB249.9 million), and the Group’s total debt comprising
lease liabilities amounted to approximately RMB287.4 million (2021:
approximately RMB287.1 million). The Directors have confirmed that the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they
fall due in the foreseeable future.

The Group expresses its gearing ratio as a percentage of total debts
divided by total equity. The Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 1.47
(as at 31 December 2021: approximately 1.15).

BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s borrowings were approximately
RMB28.5 million (31 December 2021: RMB31.9 million), of which
RMB27.1 million will be repayable within 1 year. Such loans were all
denominated in RMB. The weighted average effective interest rates as at
31 December 2022 and 2021 are 4.83% and 4.62% respectively. There
is no seasonal requirement for borrowings.

As at 31 December 2022, the right-of-use land and buildings of the
Company’s subsidiaries have been pledged to the bank as security for
banking facilities granted to the Group. The pledged land and properties
will be released upon the settlement of relevant loans.
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China New Energy Limited

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the Group's operation in China, the major revenue and expenses
are denominated in RMB. Since there are certain monetary assets and
monetary liabilities that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the Group
would be exposed to foreign exchange risk.

The Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Company monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the need arises.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
or joint ventures. Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have other plans for material investments or acquisition of capital assets as
at 31 December 2022.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's financing and treasury activities are centrally managed and
controlled at the corporate level. Bank borrowings of the Group are all
denominated in RMB and have been arranged on installment repayment
basis. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into derivative transactions for
speculative purposes.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material capital
commitments (2021: Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information for the Group is disclosed in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 94 employees (2021: 101
employees). The decrease in the number of employees was mainly
attributable to the staff turnover in the project management and support
department in the PRC.

The Group believes that on-going and continuous development of its
employees is critical to its success. The Group provides its employees
with tailored training programmes that are designed to upgrade their skills
and knowledge and to prepare them for the next step in their career path
within the Group. The Group entered into separate labour contracts with
each of its employees in accordance with the applicable labour laws of
China. The remuneration offered to employees generally includes salaries
and bonuses. In general, the Group determines salaries of its employees
based on each employee’s qualification, position and performance.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

ZEIEER
Annual Report 2022

19



ESEREREEBREEFRE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

HITES

REERELE S8R RRTEERESTEXRE
RIT2006E8AMARER - RALEETEEER
EENERERSREI BRI - RIT/EAT
HMNEEENE RAEZEERAREERZE S
BHEZER - RITERBERPRRITTHIEREHR
ERAE BEREBEPHR TSR IES
RABKREMNSBFHRAERARNES-

RICERFEAMTTE B BEMFLER © 7220146
BE2018F108 » REZFARME RN B IR
RE] (—ER EEEAFRZF EmNAT ) KRD
5% - 600582) AYEEEE © fR20156F9 8 2018412
B fAeEEEHItHREBEERERAT
BIEEEE o A20165E1 3 202241 B » [RIEEEM
EERERMDBRAE —BRRIIESRZ
EHIAT BRIDCHE © 430429) FUSBILIEFNTT
o=

RAERTEREFNS M EAS ERBSM
MBS B ESS TS0 - RIMETEE
INBIRLARSEFTHA B TR BRI
RAERTEEME MR ETERERSE

maEstiirggs.

20

China New Energy Limited

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Weijun, aged 58, is an executive Director and chairman of
the Board. He joined the Group in August 2006. Mr. Yu is primarily
responsible for the overall strategic planning and corporate development
of the Group. He is also a member of the remuneration committee, the
chairman of each of the nomination committee and the risk management
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu is a director of Guangdong Zhongke
Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (BE& F Rl K 7T
HAERERIE AR/AT]), Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan High and
New Technology Engineering Co., Ltd.* (BER & BREBR XTSI
it TR A BR/AE)) and Guangzhou Hydrogen Power Technology Co., Ltd.*
(EINEBRHRARAT).

Mr. Yu has over 34 years of experience in the technology sector. From
June 2014 to October 2018, he was appointed as the supervisor of Tiandi
Science & Technology Co., Ltd.* CR#IEHERMHBIRAE) (a listed
company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600582). From
September 2015 to December 2018, Mr. Yu was the director of Hubei Jin
Zhuang Renewable Resources of Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* G5
& HREBEEERERAST). From January 2016 to January 2022,
he acted as an independent non-executive director of Guangzhou Startec
Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (BEMNE2FRFERDERAE) (a
listed company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 430429).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Jilin University
of Finance and Economics (FME A& K 22) (previously known as Jilin
Institute of Finance and Economics* (#4848 £2B5%)) in Changchun,
China. He also obtained an Executive Master of Business Administration
from Sun Yat-Sen University (also known as Zhongshan University*) (FRLL
KE2) in Guangzhou, China. Mr. Yu is a member of The Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants* (FREIzE & 51 EM#®) and a member
of the Guangdong Institute of Certified Public Accountants* (&R % =
BEEHE).

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. TANG Zhaoxing, aged 53, is an executive Director and chief executive
officer of the Company. He joined the Group in August 2006. Mr. Tang is
primarily responsible for overseeing the overall operation, sales and project
design and management of the Group.

From June 2002 to August 2006, Mr. Tang was a general manager of
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan Regeneration Resources Engineering
Co., ltd.* (BEERFPR KX THBEERIIEHBMAT). He is the director
and deputy chief executive officer of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New
Energy Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (BEEHRI KT A RAHY
B R/AE]) and the director of Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan High
and New Technology Engineering Co., Lid.* (BER A BERR X TEH
Rt T2 ABR/AE]) and Guangzhou Hydrogen Power Technology Co.,
Ltd.*(EMNEER A RAR).

Mr. Tang has over 32 years of experience in the engineering and
technology sectors. Prior to joining the Group, he has held various
management and engineer positions in the sectors of operation and sales;
process and equipment installation design; process planning and design;
and technology and project management.

Mr. Tang obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from South China
University of Technology (EERET A2 in Guangdong, China and an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from Peking University
(JEmAE) in Beijing, China.

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Antony BENNETT, aged 54, was appointed as a Director
and re-designated as an independent non-executive Director in March
2011 and July 2020 respectively. He is also a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the risk management committee of the Company.

Mr. Bennett has over 29 years of experience in the technology sector.
Prior to joining the Group, he was a director and a co-founder and later
a consultant of FAI Inc. (currently known as Ziff Davis Inc.) from January
1994 to June 1999. Mr. Bennett was a director of Virtual Internet plc
(stock code: VI), the shares of which are listed on the London Stock
Exchange, from January 1999 to December 2001 and was a corporate
development director at Coms plc and later promoted as the chief
executive officer from November 2005 to January 2013. He was also a
non-executive director of MTI Wireless Edge Ltd. (stock code: MWE), the
shares of which are listed on the London Stock Exchange, from February
2013 to March 2022. He is a non-executive director and chairman of
Getech Group plc (stock code: GTC) and an independent non-executive
director of Ethernity Networks Ltd. (stock code: ENET). Both companies
are listed on the London Stock Exchange. Mr. Bennett is also a director
and chief executive officer of Sunbird Bioenergy Africa Limited and a
director of related companies that include Grey Reach Investments
Limited, Sunbird Bioenergy Management Services, Sunbird Bioenergy
Sierra Leone Limited, Sunbird Bioenergy and Zambia Limited.

Mr. CHAN Shing Fat Heron, aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in July 2020. He is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of each of the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in marketing and sales
management. He has held various senior management, managing
directors, consultants and directors positions in sectors of account
management and marketing, managing sales and marketing activities,
liaison to various entities and business associations and project
partnership. Since May 2007, Mr. Chan has been the managing director
of IC Strategy Company Limited, where he has been responsible for
organising education and business related projects, and the business
development of the trading business in China and the international
market.
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Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor's degree in Public Administration and
Mathematics from the University of Saskatchewan in Canada, a master’s
degree in Business Administration from Oklahoma City University in the
United States and also a doctorate degree in Business Administration from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong.

Ms. WONG Mei Ling, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in March 2023. She is also the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the risk management committee of the
Company.

Ms. Wong obtained a master degree of Finance of the Curtin University.
She is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 20 years of experience in accounting field. Ms. Wong was an
independent non-executive director of Global Token Limited (the shares
of which were delisted from the Growth Enterprise Market (GEM) of the
Stock Exchange with effect from 20 April 2021) from December 2016
to April 2021. She was also the chief financial officer of Sun Television
Cybernetworks Enterprise Limited from July 2011 to January 2016, and
the financial controller of Up Energy Development Group Limited (the
shares of which were delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with effect from 5 January 2022) from September 2006 to July 2011.
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China New Energy Limited

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. PAN lJinfeng, aged 51, is our general manager. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall management and daily operations
of the Group, including providing technical support, equipment supplies,
after-sales technical services and company operation management.

Mr. Pan joined the Group in April 2008 as the marketing director and was
responsible for the liaison, undertaking and post-construction services
of the domestic and overseas projects of the Group. He has been the
general manager of Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan High and New
Technology Engineering Co., Limited* (ER&EZEPR KT
T T2 ABR/AT]) since February 2012, where he is responsible for
overseeing the overall management and daily operations of the company.
Mr. Pan has been the general manager of the Group since March 2022.

Mr. Pan has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
technology sector. Prior to joining the Group, he has held management
positions in the sectors of technology and project management.

Mr. Pan graduated from Guangdong Science and Technology School* (&

HEREEMER). He has also obtained the national certificate of
senior winemaker.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. ZHOU Hongcai, aged 54, is our deputy general manager. He is mainly
responsible for overseeing the overall technical design, development and
management of engineering projects.

From April 2003 to August 2006, Mr. Zhou was a technical director at
Zhongke Regeneration. From September 2006 to August 2016, Mr. Zhou
became the technical director of Zhongke Tianyuan. Since August 2016,
Mr. Zhou has been our deputy general manager of Zhongke Tianyuan.

Mr. Zhou has over 30 years of working experience in the engineering
sector. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou has held various positions at
Hunan Jintian Chemical Fertilizer Company Limited* GH= % X1EAB1E
TARATE). From July 1990 to July 1992, Mr. Zhou was a teacher at
the company’s vocational school where he was responsible for delivering
lectures. From August 1992 to December 1997, Mr. Zhou was the
technical supervisor and technical factory manager of the company’s
adhesive manufacturing plant where he was involved in management
of the factory. From January 1998 to March 2003, Mr. Zhou was the
technical supervisor of the company’s technology development centre,
where he was mainly responsible for technical management.

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’'s degree in chemical engineering at South
China University of Technology (ZEFIE T A=) in Guangdong, China in
July 1990.

* For identification purpose only
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China New Energy Limited

Mr. CEN Delin, aged 49, is our finance director. He has been responsible
for overseeing the daily financial management and accounting matters of
the Group. Mr. Cen joined the Group in February 2012 as the investment
manager of Zhongke Tianyuan.

Mr. Cen has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting.
Prior to joining the Group, from August 2002 to June 2003, Mr. Cen
was the finance officer of Saiwo Naru (Guangzhou) Shoes Materials
Co., Lid.* (BRMUNEIMNEMBR/AST)where he was responsible
for overseeing financial matters. He was also the finance manager at
Guangzhou Guangzhong Electromechanical Equipment Engineering
Company Limited* (BMMNEE#ERE T E)and Guangzhou
Deji Aquarium Company Ltd.* (BEM{EE KRB RAE]) from August
2006 to November 2010, and from December 2010 to December 2011
respectively, where he was mainly involved in overseeing daily financial
and accounting matters.

Mr. Cen completed a finance and accounting program at the Wuzhou
Branch of Guangxi University* (B275 A28 M 434 in Guangxi, China in
July 1995. Mr. Cen also studied a part-time course in professional English
at Sun Yat-Sen University * (FALLIA ) in Guangzhou, China from August
2005 to January 2008.

Ms. XU Huijuan, aged 43 is our Board secretary/joint company secretary.
Ms. Xu joined the Group in September 2006. She is primarily responsible
for equities management and company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Xu has over 19 years of experience in finance, accounting and
company secretarial matters. Ms. Xu has held various positions in the
Group since joining us in September 2006. From September 2006
to December 2007, she was the deputy office supervisor of Zhongke
Tianyuan. Ms. Xu has been the board secretary of Zhongke Tianyuan since
May 2011. She has also been the finance manager of our Company since
January 2008 and our Board secretary since May 2011.

* For identification purpose only
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Before joining the Group, from July 2003 to September 2006, she was
an accounting assistant and an asset management manager at Zhongke
Environment, where she was primarily responsible for accounting matters,
asset management and equities management.

Ms. Xu obtained her bachelor’s degree in Accounting at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies* (BEER4MEIMNE A Z2) in Guangdong, China
in June 2003. She obtained an intermediate economist qualification
issued by the Human Resources and Social Security Department of
Guangdong Province* (BEHE ANERMAEREE)in January
2011. Ms. Xu also obtained a master’s degree in Professional Accounting
from Sun Yat-sen University* (FALLX2)in Guangdong, China in
December 2013.

Dr. OU lJingshen, aged 47 is the deputy director of our research and
development department. He is primarily responsible for overseeing
laboratory operations of the Group.

Dr. Ou joined the Group in 2007. From January 2007 to August 2007,
Dr. Ou was a researcher of Zhongke Tianyuan, where he was responsible
for the operation of laboratories and experiments. Since November 2015,
he has been our deputy director of the biofuel engineering technology
research centre of Zhongke Tianyuan, where he has been responsible
for its daily operations, developing research and development plans, and
providing technical support to other departments in Zhongke Tianyuan.

Dr. Ou has over 7 years of experience in laboratory operations. Prior
to joining the Group, from July 1999 to February 2001, Dr. Ou was an
assistant of Guangdong Huaning Group Co. Ltd.* (EREZERERA
@), where he was responsible for the operation of laboratory tests.

Dr. Ou obtained a bachelor's degree in biopharmaceutical at South
China University of Technology (EEmI2 T A%)in Guangdong, China
in July 1999. He then obtained a master degree in engineering at South
China University of Technology GEmIE T A% in Guangdong, China
in June 2006. He also obtained a doctor of science degree at South
China University of Technology (ZERFIE T AE)in Guangdong, China in
December 2014. He has published various articles such as “The Specific
SiRNA Plasmids Construction and their Inhibition Effect on Expression of
mcl-1 Protein in Liver Cancer Cell” and “Incorporation of Endoglucanase
E4 into Minicellulosomes by In-Vitro Assembly” on the Modern Food
Science and Technology and the Journal of South China University of
Technology GERFIE T A2 in 2010 and 2013, respectively.

* For identification purpose only
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China New Energy Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance. The Board believes that good and effective
corporate governance practices are key to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to sustain the success of the Group to create long-term
value for the Shareholders. The Group has applied the principles of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2022.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirms that the Directors have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2022.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised a total of four Directors,
being two executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman) and
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer); and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and Mr. Chan
Shing Fat Heron. The Board has at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to having independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the board under Rule 3.10A during
the year ended 31 December 2022. As such, there exists a strong
independent element in the Board which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.
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After Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam retired as an independent non-executive
Director at the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on 16
December 2022, the Company failed to comply with the following
requirements of the Listing Rules:

(@ at least three independent non-executive directors on the board of
directors under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules;

(b) at least one of the independent non-executive directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules; and

(c) the audit committee comprising a minimum of three members
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

On 15 March 2023, the Company appointed Ms. Wong Mei Ling as
an independent non-executive Director. Following the appointment of
Ms. Wong, the Company has fully complied with the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Yu Weijun and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing, the executive Directors, are
interested in the Shares through their interests in Tewin Capital Holding
Limited and Tonzest Capital Holding Limited respectively. Save as
disclosed aforesaid, the Directors have no other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 23 of this
annual report.
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China New Energy Limited

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing and approving the Group’s overall
business plans and strategies and monitoring the implementation of such
business plans, strategies and policies, and the leadership and control of
the Company.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The executive Directors are primarily responsible for overall management
of the Group, while the senior management including the finance director
and the general manager are delegated the responsibilities of managing
the day-to-day businesses and operations and executing the business
decisions of the Group.

The roles of the independent non-executive Directors are to oversee
the Board independently to ensure that there is no potential conflict of
interest, to provide independent advice to the Board, and to ensure that
the Board has taken into consideration the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole when making decisions and the advice of the
senior management team of the Group.

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. This is achieved by giving Directors
access to external independent professional advice from legal advisers
and auditor, as well as their declaration of independence according to the
Listing Rules during the year. The Board reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis.
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Board Process

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. The
Directors may participate in meetings either in person or through
electronic means of communications. According to the current Board
practice, if a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting rather
than by a written resolution. The articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”) also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided
therein, a Director shall abstain from voting and not be counted in
the quorum at meetings for approving any transaction, contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) has a material interest.

Board and committee minutes are recorded in appropriate detail and
draft minutes are circulated to all Directors and committee members for
comments before being approved.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, seven Board meetings, of
which four were regular Board meetings, were held and attendance of
each Director at the Board meetings is set out in the section headed
“Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman should
at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
directors without the presence of other directors. During the year ended
31 December 2022, a formal meeting was arranged between the
Chairman of the Board and the independent non-executive Directors
without the other Directors present. The independent non-executive
Directors may communicate and discuss with the Chairman directly at any
time to share their view on the Company’s affairs. The Company considers
that there are sufficient channels and communication for discussion of the
Company’s affairs between the Chairman and independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of other Directors.

T _EFER
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China New Energy Limited

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Yu Weijun is the Chairman
of the Board and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for overseeing the functions
of the Board and providing leadership for the Board to ensure that the
Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in a timely manner. The Chief
Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the overall management,
operation and businesses of the Group.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the requirements
of the Listing Rules. The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Although no new Director was appointed during the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group has an internal policy in place to give
each newly appointed Director a formal and tailored induction after his
appointment so as to ensure that he had appropriate understanding of
the Group’s business and operations and of his duties and responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements. The Company provides regular updates on the business
performance of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are continuously
updated on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance and maintain
good corporate governance practices.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Directors participated in continuous professional development
by way of attending trainings and/or seminars organised by professional
organisations and director training webcasts organised by the Stock
Exchange and also reading materials relating to new practices, rules and
regulations to keep themselves updated on the roles, functions knowledge,
skills and duties of a listed company director.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of trainings
received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as
follows:

A HhE g R

Trainings/Seminars/

E=H4 Name of Directors Reading materials
HiTESR Executive Directors
REEIE Mr. Yu Weijun v
IR B S A Mr. Tang Zhaoxing v
BIERITES Independent Non-executive Directors
Richard Antony Bennett4c 4= Mr. Richard Antony Bennett v
PRE% 2L Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron v
f DL S a Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam

(FR20227F 125 16 HAE1E) (retired on 16 December 2022) v

EEREEESR Appointment and Re-election of Directors

EEERTAZ TR EB22FRE 8% %
= (BEARECHNES RELVE=FRE
BAE—Re

FIBEEAMUEEAESF SWITESER
20205F6 A 16H B AA B 5T 17 AR5 17h5% » 2020
F7R15HEF AR =F - REUIFNITESE
RiE B HIA20205E6 160 2 R ER BNEER
EEEEELT 2020678 158 s B =1

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

All Directors have been appointed for a specific term. Each of the
executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company on 16 June 2020 for a term of three years commencing from
15 July 2020. Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Board pursuant to their respective letter of appointment
dated 16 June 2020 for a term of three years commencing from 15 July
2020.
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According to the Articles, any person appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only until the
next annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting. The Articles also provide
that at each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors who are
subject to retirement by rotation shall retire from office and shall be eligible
for re-election at that meeting.

Attendance Record of Meetings
Set out below are details of the attendance record of each Director at the

Board meetings and committee meetings of the Board held during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

HERY,/ AERHERY
Attendance/Eligible to attend

miEER [

EX805 ZE99% ZEG9E ZE993 %Z898: BEAE
Risk
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Management Annual
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
e Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HiTES Executive Directors
REERE ER) Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman) 717 - n n 1 n
BRERE (FTHAE) Mr. Tang Zhaoxing 717 - - - - 17
(Chief Executive Officer)
BIERITESR Independent Non-executive
Directors
Richard Antony Bennettfc %~ Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 717 4/4 171 171 171 171
TREL S L Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 77 444 1n 1n = 1
B RE Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam (Note) 77 44 = = 11 11
Hrit)
B B 2022E 12816 R BT IeEEEAE  Note:  Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam retired as an independent non-executive Director and ceased

ERFREBUIFNTES UABERILTARE

ZEEETERAREEZEEME
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to be the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Risk Management
Committee of the Company at the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting held on
16 December 2022.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee (collectively, the “Board Committees”) on 16 June 2020.
All the Board Committees perform their distinct roles and functions in
accordance with their respective terms of reference which are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The attendance of each member of the Board Committees is set out in the
section headed “Attendance Record of Meetings” of this report.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are (among others) to review
and supervise the financial reporting process of the Group, review the
effectiveness of internal audit function, and oversee the audit process and
the audits of the financial statements of the Group. Meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least twice a year.

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett
and Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron. All members of the Audit Committee
possess in-depth experience in their own profession. Mr. Chan Siu Shan
Sam, the chairman of Audit Committee, retired as an independent non-
executive Director at the conclusion of the annual general meeting held on
16 December 2022, the Company failed to comply with the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules until
appointment of Ms. Wong Mei Ling as a new independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee on 15 March 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held
four meetings to (i) review the audited annual results of the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, and the unaudited financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022 with
recommendation to the Board for approval, (ii) review the internal control
systems of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021,
and (iii) propose re-appointment of auditor with recommendation to the
Board for approval.
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Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (among others)
to make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board, review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors. Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least
once a year.

As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee comprises the
Chairman of the Board, Mr. Yu Weijun, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and Mr. Chan
Shing Fat Heron. Mr. Yu Weijun is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance its effectiveness. The
Board Diversity Policy provides that the Company should endeavour to
ensure that the Board members have the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of the Group’s business strategy. Pursuant to the policy, the
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of factors, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural background, education, ethnicity,
length of service, personal integrity and time commitments of the
proposed candidates. The Board Diversity Policy also provides that the
ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board which will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

As at 31 December 2022, all Board members were male. The Board has
set down its goals to appoint one female as Board member no later than
31 December 2024 as part of its effort to achieve diversity on the Board
level. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor and actively
consider different aspects of diversity in the boardroom, and recommend
further actions or plan to the Board when necessary. On 15 March 2023,
the Board has appointed a female Director to early fulfil the aforesaid
board diversity target.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s workforce (including senior
management) is more than 22% female, among which, around 20% of
the Group's senior management roles are held by women. The table below
summarizes the share of women at different position levels across the
Group as at 31 December 2022.

Bk

Level
B SREEE L35S B&

Senior
el Gender Director ~ Management Manager Employee
Bt Male 4 13 51
geq i Female 0 1 6 15
Kz . ot iR E022EI2A3 AN AEE RS Note: ~ The above data is calculated based on the number of total employees of the Group as
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of 31 December 2022.

The Board has also adopted a policy to nominate directors (the
“Nomination Policy”). The purpose of this policy is to set out the
procedures for nominating candidates for Directors, the procedures
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
recommending candidates for Directors, and the follow-up procedures
for considering and approving, as appropriate, nominations made by the
Board and, where applicable, Shareholders. The nominating procedures
are as follows:

a. To assess the qualifications, skills, knowledge, ability and
experience of candidates, and the time and attention that may
be spent in performing the duties of Directors in accordance with
the common law, legislation and applicable rules, regulations
and guideline (including, but not limited to the Listing Rules
and guidelines on the Board and by referring to the relevant
professional knowledge and business experience of the Company,
as well as the qualifications that candidates may bring to the Board
(including qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity);

b. To assess the personal ethics, integrity and reputation of the
candidate (including, but not limited to, conducting appropriate
background checks and other verification procedures on the
candidate);
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C. With reference to the Board Diversity Policy (to be revised from
time to time), consider the structure, size and composition of the
Board at that time (including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
balance of experience and diverse perspectives that is in line
with the Company’s business requirements) and the Company’s
corporate strategy, and take into account the benefits of the
diversification of Board members and the contribution that
candidates may bring to the Board;

d. To consider the factors of Board succession planning and the
long-term needs of the Company;

e. In the case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
Director, assess (i) the independence of the candidate by
reference to (among other things) the independence criteria set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) code provision B.3.4
of the CG Code and the guidelines and provisions relating to
independent non-executive Directors contained in the guidelines
on the Board; and

f. To consider any other factors and matters that the Nomination
Committee may consider appropriate.

The Board shall consider the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee and make a decision on whether the nominated candidate is
eligible for appointment as a Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to (i) assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors, (ii) review the structure, size and composition of the
Board, and (i) nominate the retiring Directors for re-election at the 2022
annual general meeting.

In carrying out the above review, the Nomination Committee accepted that
despite the lack of gender diversity, the composition of the Board satisfies
the Board Diversity Policy taking into account of the business model of the
Group and the backgrounds and experience of the current Directors. The
Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are (among others)
to review, determine and make recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure or the remuneration payable to the Directors
and senior management and making recommendations on employee
benefit arrangements. The Remuneration Committee has adopted
the model under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. Meetings of the
Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a year.

As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee comprises one
executive Director, namely Mr. Yu Weijun and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron and Mr. Richard
Antony Bennett. Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting to review and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Group.

Remuneration of the Directors and Senior Management by Band
Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual

remuneration of the senior management (including all executive Directors)
by band for the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

AE
4B B Remuneration band Number of individuals
AR 0t ZE AR #1,000,0007T RMBO to RMB1,000,000 9
AR 11,000,001t E A K #82,000,00075 RMB1,000,001 to RMB2,000,000 0

BZE2022F12A31HILEERES ZHMF1E
R G M BRERMEEL2.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Risk Management Committee

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are (among
others) to monitor the Group's exposure to sanctions risks and to oversee
its implementation of the related internal control procedures. Meetings of
the Risk Management Committee shall be held at least twice a year.

As at 31 December 2022, the Risk Management Committee comprises
one executive Director, namely Mr. Yu Weijun and one independent non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett. Mr. Yu Weijun is
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Risk Management
Committee held one meeting to (i) review the effectiveness and adequacy
of the risk management system of the Group; and (ii) suggest corporate
governance improvement of the Company.

Going forward, the Risk Management Committee will hold meetings at
least twice a year to comply with its terms of reference.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The total fees paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, KTC Partners CPA
Limited, for services rendered in respect of the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out below:

20224

AEETFT

2022

RMB’000

BEIZARTE Audit services 945
IERIZ AR — BRI SRk 3= Non-audit services — review of interim

financial statements 172

“ast Total 1,117
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for presenting a clear,
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects and
preparing the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
Group on a going-concern basis.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 92 to 94 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and ensuring effective
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing their
effectiveness to safeguard the Shareholders’ interest and the Company’s
assets. However, these systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risk of failure in business operations, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. The Group has implemented an effective internal control system
which includes a defined management structure with clear lines of
responsibility, limits of authority, proper procedures for income and
expenditure, monthly review by the executive Directors of management
reports on operations and financials, regular business meetings between
executive Directors and the core management team and periodic review of
the Group’s financial results by the Board.

The Audit Committee reviews regularly the effectiveness and adequacy of
the Group’s internal control system which includes financial, operational
and compliance mechanism and risk management functions in order
to identify, evaluate and manage risks and take appropriate measures
to avoid or mitigate those risks that could adversely impact the Group’s
business activities. The review also includes the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function. The review process consists of, amongst
other matters, assessment and implementation of material control issues
identified by an independent external auditor during the statutory audit.
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In accordance with the requirements of code provision D.2.1 of the
CG Code, the Board annually reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control system (including risk management functions) and
report to shareholders on the completion of the review in the Corporate
Governance Report in the Annual Report.

In order to maintain a high-level corporate governance culture, the
Company has engaged an independent internal control consultancy firm
in February 2023 to carry out several review procedures (“Internal Control
Review”) on the Group’s main procedures, systems, and monitoring
measures. The Internal Control Review covered the period from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2022 is in order to assist the Board in evaluating
whether the Group can provide reasonable benchmarks and has
established sufficient procedures, policies, and monitoring measures, and
to enable the Directors to make appropriate assessments of the financial
condition and prospects of the Group.

In the year under review, no material issues in the Group’s internal control
system have been identified in the reviewed areas and the findings of
the review have been reported to the Audit Committee. The independent
internal control consultancy firm also performed a follow-up review on the
remedial actions undertaken by the management of the Group on the
control risks identified during the Internal Control Review conducted. The
Board considered that the risk management and internal control systems
were adequate and effective.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced as soon as reasonably practicable when
it is the subject of a decision.

The Board has implemented a “Policy on Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information” setting out the procedures and internal controls for
guiding the Group’s officers and employees in handling confidential and
price-sensitive inside information. It ensures that inside information of the
Group can be disseminated to the public promptly in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations.

Below is a summary of the key provisions of the Policy:

(i) Directors and employees must follow the reporting channels for
disclosing the inside information and take reasonable care to
safeguard the confidentiality of all inside information;

(ii) The Directors are empowered to take appropriate actions to ensure
compliance with the disclosure requirements including issuing
announcements and making a request to the Stock Exchange for
a trading halt in case the Company is facing an unexpected and
significant event; and

(iii) Directors and employees of the Group must not deal in the
Company'’s securities when they are in possession of unpublished
inside information.

The Group also keeps Directors and employees informed of the latest
regulatory updates on disclosure requirements of inside information.
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China New Energy Limited

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

To promote effective communication with the Shareholders and to
enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy. The
Board communicates with the Shareholders and investors through
various channels. The Board members meet and communicate with
Shareholders and investors at annual general meetings and other general
meetings where the Shareholders can obtain better understanding
of the business and operating performance of the Group. Corporate
communications (such as interim and annual reports, notices, circulars
and announcements) are sent to Shareholders in a timely manner and are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy including steps taken at the general
meetings, the handling of queries received (if any) and the multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place, and considered
that the policy has been properly implemented during the year and is
effective.

Pursuant to Rules 13.49(1) and 13.46(2)(a) of the Listing Rules, the
Company was required to publish the annual results announcement of
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (the “2021
Annual Results”) on or before 31 March 2022, and to despatch the
annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (the “2021
Annual Report”) to the Shareholders on or before 30 April 2022.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31 March
2022, there was a delay in publication of the 2021 Annual Results and
despatch of the 2021 Annual Report.

The Board acknowledges that the delay in publication of the 2021 Annual
Results and despatch of the 2021 Annual Report constituted non-
compliance of Rules 13.49(1) and Rule 13.46(2)(a) of the Listing Rules
respectively.

Further, the Company has failed to convene an annual general meeting
and lay the 2021 Annual Results before the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting within the period of 6 months after the financial year
ended 31 December 2021 in accordance with the requirement under
Rule 13.46(2)(b) of the Listing Rules.
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The 2021 Annual Results had been announced on 14 June 2022, the
2021 Annual Report had been despatched to the Shareholders on 30
June 2022, and the 2022 annual general meeting had been convened on
16 December 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the issuer should have
a policy on payment of dividends and should disclose it in the annual
report.

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
June 2020 which sets out the guidelines to distribute dividends to its
Shareholders. Under the Dividend Policy, the Shareholders are entitled to
receive dividends that the Company declares. The declaration of dividends
is subject to the discretion of the Board and may require the approval
of the Shareholders, and the Company may change the Dividend Policy
in the future. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to
distribute dividends of such amounts or any amounts in every year or any
year in the future.

The Board may recommend a payment of dividends in the future
after taking into account the Group’s operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions, capital expenditure and other factors which the Board may
deem relevant at such time.

Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of the dividends will
be subject to the constitutional documents and the Companies (Jersey)
Law 1991, including the approval of the Shareholders, if required.
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China New Energy Limited

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Xu Huijuan, a joint company secretary and the Board secretary, is
primarily responsible for equities management and company secretarial
matters of the Group.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also
engaged Mr. Chan Kwong Leung Eric, the director of Gladson Secretaries
Limited, a company secretarial service provider, as a joint company
secretary to assist Ms. Xu to discharge her duties. His primary contact
persons at the Company are Mr. Yu Weijun, an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board, and Ms. Xu Huijuan.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, Ms. Xu Huijuan and Mr. Chan
Kwong Leung Eric have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 9.3 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
(the “EGM”) shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
members of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the joint company secretary at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong, which is presently situated
at Unit 2406, 24/F., Strand 50, 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong
Kong, for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business clearly specified in such requisition with
reasons therefor and signed by the requisitionist(s).
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If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries to the Company for
the attention of the joint company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders at Shareholders’ Meeting

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting under the Articles or the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.
If Shareholders wish to do so, they may request to convene an EGM as
described above and specify the proposals in such written requisition.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2022.

By order of the Board

Yu Weijun

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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China New Energy Limited

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Introduction

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
summarizes the initiatives, plans and performance of China
New Energy Limited (the “Company”) and together with its
subsidiaries, collectively (the “Group”) in the Environmental,
Social and Governance (the “ESG”) aspects, and illustrates the
sustainability of business activities in these aspects. This Report
was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set
out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (“Stock Exchange”). All the information contained
herein reflects the performance of the Group in environmental
protection and social responsibility from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022 (the “Reporting Period” or “FY2022"). This
Report has complied with all the “Comply or Explain” provisions
set out in the ESG Reporting Guide and included the disclosure of
environmental Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”). The Group
will publish an annual Report on a regular basis, which will be
available for public inspection at any time, so as to continuously
enhance the transparency of information disclosure.

ESG Governance

To effectively implement the ESG governance of the Group, it has
established and defined a framework for sustainable development
governance. The directors (the “Directors”) and the board of
Directors (the “Board”) as the top decision-making organization
of the Company lead the various functional departments and
subsidiaries, to promote the orderly progress of ESG governance.
The Board provides independent opinions during the review of
ESG reports as well as strengthens ESG risk management and
assumes responsibilities for internal control of the risks in order to
protect the development of the Group and the long-term benefits
of stakeholders.
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Reporting Scope

The scope of the report covers the KPIs data of the Group’s
main operating activities: mainly an office in Guangzhou and
a processing plant in Huizhou, to provide integrated services
including engineering design, equipment manufacturing,
installation and commissioning and subsequent value-added
maintenance for the core system of ethanol production system
in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage industries in the PRC.
For equipment installation, the works are completed by approved
contractors who are not employees of the Group and do not
contain relevant data.

The details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of the annual
report 2022.

Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality Assessment

The Group believes that a strong relationship built with its
stakeholders is a key driver of its business success. It maintains
close communications with various stakeholders (including but
not limited to investors and shareholders, customers, contractors,
subcontractors, suppliers, employees, government and regulatory
bodies as well as communities, non-governmental organizations
and the media) through different channels. The Group’s
communication channels with the key stakeholders are through
meeting, emails, teleconferences, interviews, trainings annual
and extraordinary general meetings and annual reports with the
stakeholders during the Reporting Period to help refining the
Group’s ESG strategies and reporting.

The materiality assessment process of ESG aspects includes:
(1) identification of ESG reporting issues; (2) importance to
the corporation under industry standard; (3) key ESG area
prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (4) evaluation
and endorsement by the management. Based on the results of
the materiality assessment, employee-related issues, product
responsibilities, anti-corruption and customer service are
considered to be the most concerned issues of the stakeholders
of the Group. The Group strives to review these issues regularly for
continuous improvement in its sustainability performance.
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China New Energy Limited

Contact us

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with us via email at zkty@zkty.com.cn

ENVIRONMENT

The Group, as a clean energy system marketer, provides excellent
R&D capability and innovation-oriented business philosophy in the
ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage industry. During the business
operations and management, the Group takes environmental
protection as the core issue. In order to control environmental
management and minimize the impact of the business operations,
the Group has formulated relevant environmental management
policies and reduced environmental footprints through effective
use of resources and adoption of environmentally friendly
technologies, enhancing employees’ environmental awareness
and complying with relevant laws and regulations at the same
time.

During the Reporting Period, information on major environmental
emissions and resource consumption is described in the
“Summary of Environmental Key Performance Indicators” table.
The total amount of major greenhouse gas emissions decreased
by about 25% year-on-year from 302.5 tons of carbon dioxide
in fiscal year 2021 to 225.27 tons of carbon dioxide in fiscal
year 2022, while the annual total density in fiscal year 2022 was
maintained at 1.98 tons per million yuan of income. The increase
in carbon emission intensity per unit output value was mainly
due to the impact of the new coronavirus epidemic, resulting in
a decrease in total revenue, and there was a demand for rigid
carbon emissions in the group’s business development, although
the company has taken some measures to reduce emissions this
year.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect Al: Emission

The major exhaust gas and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions
of the Group comes from, among others, gasoline consumed by
vehicles, air travel by employees and the electricity consumed
by processing facilities and corporate offices. With the goal to
reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions, the Group has
formulated relevant rules and regulations for a sound and effective
management of energy consumption, GHG emission, as well as
discharge of domestic waste and sewage and other pollutants.
The Group strictly complies with the Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC, the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap.358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap.354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
other laws and regulations concerning environmental protection.

Air emissions

The exhaust gas generated by the Group mainly comes from
transport vehicles for employees and guests. The gasoline
consumes also cause air pollutants to be emitted. The treatment
methods and emission reduction measures are as follows:

° Optimizing operating procedures for increasing the loading
rate of vehicles and lowering the idle rate;

° Turning off the engine when the vehicle is not in use;

° Conducting regular maintenance and repair of vehicles to

effectively reduce fuel consumption, which further reduce
carbon emissions and exhaust gas emissions;

° Selecting unleaded gasoline with low sulphur content as
fuel: and
° Preventing engine idling of vehicles.
T _EFER
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China New Energy Limited

ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
GHG emissions

The main sources of the Group’s GHG emissions were direct
emissions from the mobile combustion sources (“Scope 1”),
indirect emissions arising from the emissions related to acquired
electricity (“Scope 2") and other indirect emissions from air travel,
general waste and paper consumption and packaging materials
(“Scope 3").

The Group promotes energy saving and emission reduction
initiatives while strengthening environmental management.
Employees are encouraged to participate in green operation,
which aims at mitigating the impact of GHG emissions. In order
to minimize environmental pollution associated to vehicle use, the
Group monitors and regulates the fuel consumption, conducts
routine maintenance on vehicles, and encourages employees
taking public transport. Moreover, site visits and seminars were
often needed due to business nature, the Group also encourages
employees to make use of teleconferencing or videoconferencing
systems for reducing carbon footprint causing by business air
travel.

The Group also encourages employees to actively participate in
the PHCER in Guangdong Province, promote the PHCER, and
establish a low-carbon, energy-saving, green, and environmentally
friendly consumption concept and life philosophy. The Group has
launched a carbon GSP pilot within the Group. Based on actual
conditions, organize and carry out activities to create low-carbon
communities and low-carbon factories, and organize employees
of the company to participate in the pilot project. Using important
time nodes such as the National Low Carbon Day and the Energy
Conservation Publicity Week, organize and carry out characteristic
themed promotional activities in pilot areas, widely publicize the
principles, rules, and relevant policies and measures of the carbon
general benefit system, promote the public’s practice of low-
carbon life and consumption, and guide the public and relevant
enterprises to actively participate in the carbon general benefit
system. Specific carbon inclusive behaviors include the following:
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
Carry out research on the Group’s carbon peak roadmap

The Group has entrusted relevant consulting companies to
help formulate the Group’s carbon peak roadmap, working
mechanisms, safeguard measures, etc. The administrative office
irregularly organizes meetings, actively communicates with the
outside world about the company’s dual carbon strategy through
various forms such as annual reports, visits to listed companies,
and carbon neutral professional meetings. This includes, but
is not limited to, the following: the company’s historical carbon
emissions, the company’s future planning, the company’s carbon
dioxide emissions characteristics over the years, the company’s
future emission reduction potential, the company’s peak time
point, and the company’s financial characteristics.

Active packaging company’s carbon emission reduction project

The Group is paying attention to the policy trends in the voluntary
carbon emission reduction market in China. The Group has noted
that many of its projects have the potential to develop into carbon
emission reduction projects. The Company is communicating
with relevant consulting companies to make a comprehensive
assessment of the development of carbon assets of the Group and
its customers. If the development conditions are met, the Group
will entrust the Carbon Asset Company to develop relevant projects
and provide relevant documentation as required, Carbon Asset
Company provides the entire process of project identification,
methodology development, buyer selection, project design
file preparation, DOE approval, competent authority approval,
project registration, project monitoring, DOE verification, issuance
approval, and business dispute resolution for domestic voluntary
emission reduction projects.
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China New Energy Limited

ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
GHG emissions (Continued)

Develop the company’s carbon asset management rules and
regulations

Carbon asset management involves a wide range of departments,
including enterprise strategy formulation, raw material
procurement, engineering construction, asset finance, new
project preparation office, and carbon asset trading. Therefore,
it is necessary for the company to establish a carbon asset
management leading group, whose main members include the
main principals of the above departments, and to introduce the
company's carbon asset management rules and regulations,
standardize the main business operations of each department,
and design the relevant responsibilities and processes for carbon
assets.

Optimize the carbon asset pool and build the best performance
portfolio

By drawing on the experience of various flexible mechanisms in
the international carbon emissions trading market, companies can
leverage their own advantages to provide low-carbon technologies,
management tools, or funds to other enterprises in exchange
for carbon quotas from other enterprises, achieving the goal of
achieving win-win results and performing at the lowest cost. The
company needs to cooperate with a professional carbon asset
management team in order to analyze the transformation and
development trend of domestic and foreign carbon markets,
actively participate in carbon asset financial derivatives, and seek
business opportunities from hedging.

The Company also actively encourages employees to carry
out green office work, implement the concept of conservation,
carry out publicity, education, and training from aspects such
as water-saving management, energy-saving management, and
consumable management, guide all employees to develop the
working habits of low-carbon office work, achieve green and
low-carbon office work, and reduce resource consumption. The
specific achievements are as follows:
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
GHG emissions (Continued)

Optimize the carbon asset pool and build the best performance
portfolio (Continued)

By 2022, the Company will achieve about 30% paperless office
space

In 2022, 60% of the Company’s employees will travel through
public transportation or clean energy

Achieve 100% energy-saving of the Company’s lighting sources in
2022

All employees of the Company must learn the concept of “green
energy conservation, optimization, and efficiency” as a guide,
and cooperate with the supervision system of the administrative
department to ensure a steady decline in the consumption of high
carbon emission products.

Sewage emission

The Group strives to proper conduct sewage treatment processes
to avoid polluting other natural resources. The sewage discharged
by corporate offices and the processing plant during the daily
operations will be discharged into the municipal sewage pipe
network to the regional water purification plant. The Group
continues to stay vigilant on the use and application of modern
technologies and installations to Improve the performance in this
regard.
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China New Energy Limited

ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
Waste emission

Due to the Group’s business nature, no significant number of
hazardous wastes has been generated and only limited non-
hazardous wastes has been generated during the Reporting
Period. Non-hazardous wastes such as metals, plastics, paper
and general waste are properly classified into recyclable waste
and non-recyclable waste, and are stored in designated collection
areas. During the Reporting Period, the collected scrap of 15.93
tonnes as recycle waste is then periodically recycled by the scrap
collector. The Group identifies and classifies waste, centrally
stores it, and disposes of it in a unified manner. The persons in
charge will dispose of waste in a timely manner and endeavour to
maintain environmental sanitation around them.

In addition to actively reducing waste in the processing plant,
employees in the offices are also encouraged to develop a “green
lifestyle” to minimize waste. Posters are posted everywhere in the
canteen, warmly reminding employees to order the right amount of
food to avoid wasting food.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with relevant
laws and regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharge
into water and land, and generation of non-hazardous waste.
The Group did not violate any environmental protection laws or
regulations of the region where it operates, nor was it subject to
significant fines, non-monetary penalties and litigation relating to
environmental protection.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Gasoline and electricity are the major types of energy consumed
by the Group throughout and daily operations. The Group has
developed rigorous policies for the use of resources to control
the conservation of energy, water and raw materials, in order to
improve the efficiency of resource utilization, reduce waste and
promote recycling.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect A2: Use of Resources (Continued)

Energy Consumption

Notices and reminders on energy saving are regularly issued to
staff to raise their energy saving awareness on their behaviours,

including:

o Monitoring and regulating the fuel consumption, conducts
routine maintenance on vehicles;

° Using high energy-efficiency for equipment;
° Adopting technology to simplify processing;

° Switching off all electronic devices during lunch hours and
when leaving office;

° Setting computers on energy saving modes;
o Using energy-saved light bulbs and tubes; and
° Making good use of telecommunication system and video

conferencing to replace arranging business trip.

Water Consumption

During the Reporting period, there was no major problem about
sourcing water that is fit for use in its operations. Due to the nature
of the operations, water consumption mainly arises from the
daily use of water by the employees at the offices during working
hours. The Group regularly reminds its employees to conserve
water resources through notices and reminders. To reduce water
consumption, they are reminded to:

° Control flow from tap and avoid turning it to the full;

° Turn off tap when applying soap;

o Avoid flushing unnecessarily; and
° Avoid wasting water in upflow water dispenser.
“EZFFR
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China New Energy Limited

ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect A2: Use of Resources (Continued)
Paper Consumption

The Group is committed to a paperless operation, constantly
encouraging all employees to reduce paper usage through
duplex printing, paper recycle and frequent use of electronic
information systems for material sharing or internal administrative
documents. Reusable paper products, such as envelopes, are
properly recycled whereas the Group limited the use of disposable
paper products, such as paper cups and paper towels, wherever
possible and appropriate during the Group’s operations.

Use of Packaging Materials

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s packaging materials
of equipment manufacturing, installation and maintenance for
the ethanol production system are mostly carton, plastic plates,
sealing tapes, etc. To minimize the use of packaging materials, the
skillful packing workers can effectively pack and protect products.
In addition, the Group itself not only produces as little waste as
possible by choosing recyclable packaging materials and reusing
packaging materials wherever possible but also encourages the
suppliers and contractors for participating together.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

Since the Group is expending domestic and overseas businesses,
the Group emphasizes corporate social responsibility and has
devoted massive resources in environmental protection initiatives
to reduce negative impacts on the environment and natural
resources caused by the Group’s business activities. The Group
has complied with all environment-related regulations and
international standards. The concept of environmental protection
has been incorporated into the management. The Group
implemented an environmental monitoring system for continuous
assessment in the daily operations. Therefore, it is obligated to take
responsibility for the environmental and natural resources of the
local community with the adopted measures including applying
new eco-friendly technology and practices for processing facilities
to reduce the consumption of non-renewable resources such as
petrol, water, electricity and reduce their associated greenhouse
gas emissions and minimizing waste generation in daily operations
through reduction, recycling and recovery.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
(Continued)

Noise Control

Although the use of few heavy machinery in business operation,
work plant still creates noise. To minimize the level of noise
generated, processing facilities are inspected regularly to ensure
they remain in optimal conditions. Meanwhile, the Group also
has adopted sound-proofing designs and structures in the
construction of processing facilities. To comply with the industrial
standards for noise pollution and minimize the impact of its noise,
the processing plant also taken noise-control measures on the
equipment that makes high level of noise.

Aspect 4. Climate Change

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been affected
by extreme climate. Major issues related to climate, such as
heavy rains, earthquakes, hail, floods, etc. may affect delivering
equipment and maintenance service for the Group’s core
business of ethanol production system in the future. The Group
assigns special personnel to observe the weather and climate
and maintains close contact with the Municipal Emergency
Management Bureau. If there is irresistible weather and climate,
the management will proceed in accordance with the emergency
plan to reduce the Group’s unnecessary losses. The Group
formulates various emergency plans and prepares correspondingly
sufficient materials to ensure that it is prepared for major climate
emergencies that may affect the Group.
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China New Energy Limited

IRIE @) A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)
BHEIRIR RS ARSI T Summary of Environmental KPIs! as follows:
Bfi 202204 2021814
15H Item Unit 2022/12/31 2021/12/31
EERHE Air emissions
—RALAYINOX) — Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) Afr kg 4.16 5.2
—IRE{EE%(S0x) — Sulfur Oxides (SOx) A kg 0.08 0.1
—BHY(PM) — Particulate Matter (PM) AFrkg 032 04
BERBEHER GHG emissions
—ERREREH N EEL) — Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) 0E — & 16hx 20.8 26.2
> M — Petrol (Unleaded) consumption tonnes CO2-e
—ERRE RS BE2) — Indirect GHG emission (Scope II) Mg — bRk 1803 220.7
> BITHE — Electricity consumption tonnes CO2-e
—EfiReR = REEHN @BE3) - Other Indirect GHG emission (Scope IIl) =t 24.17 55.6
> BEMEER s —REYN — Alir travel, general waste and paper tonnes CO2-e
2kl consumption
RERBHEE Total GHG emission Mg — & AE Rk 20527 302.5
tonnes CO2-e
BREREAE A ARBIEE?  Total Intensity per million RMB in revenue? M tonnes 198 08
EE kB Sewage emission
—REK - Sewage LK 1864 2,331
cubic meter
EEREAB ARG Intensity per million RMB in revenue? M HK 48 6.0
cubic meter
EEYIHER Waste emissions
—BEBYP — Hazardous wastes® TEANA  THEE NA ANEA NA
—mEEN — Non-hazardous wastes
> 4t > Paper NI 419.12 5239
BEREREARBWG? Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue? N 112 14
> —figiisk > General waste Nl 192 240
BEESABARBWGE? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? NFr kg 048 0.6
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IRIE @) A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

B  20220E 2021814
15H ltem Unit 2022/12/31 2021/12/31
RETRIHFE Energy consumption
— — Petrol (Unleaded) FFL 7730 9,663
EEREABE ARG Intensity per million RMB in revenue? AL 20 25.0
—& — Electricity FREF kWh 280066 350,083
RERSEEARBNG? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? FEFF KWh 724 905.0
k2 Water consumption
EIERK — Domestic water I 5K cubic meter 1864 2,331
FEREEEARBGE? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? 37 753K cubic meter 48 6.0
BEMEHER Use of Packaging Materials*
—iFE B BARE Carton, plastic plates, sealing tapes, efc. A Kg 80 100
RERSEEARBNG? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? NFrKg 0.24 03

M3E

L BEREBHRENDR_AQLHREES
5> W 2E (BIFERRR) ERE R
RERTFHEERTHEEETIE (B
FEREZEE | DESTRBREIRE)
2P T8 2 GRIBRIRA IS IRER S
51) RhEENARABTIZERN(201758]
RESRRE)HIRERE

2. RREHE ZERBRABARELLT 4
BEITCRIHME : ARIE368HETT) ; &

3. RIREMR] AEBTRELTERAERE
o

Note:

Greenhouse gas emission data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalence with reference to the requirements of, including but not limited
to, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard (CREREBERTE @ CEGTRFERE)) published
by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for
Sustainable Development, the Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPls
((IRIZROREIEIZEZRIES])) published by the Stock Exchange
and the 2017 Sustainability Report published by CLP Power Hong Kong
Limited;

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total revenue was RMB117.4
million yuan (2021: RMB386.8 million yuan); and

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not produce significant
hazardous waste.
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China New Energy Limited

SOCIAL

Employees are the most valuable asset to the Group. The Group
protects employees’ rights and interests, cares for their health and
safety, improves their work conditions and explores opportunities
for better career development.

Employment and Labour Practices
Aspect B1: Employment

The Group strictly adheres to the local labour laws and regulations
where it operates, including the Labour Law of the PRC (the
“Labour Law”), the Labour Contract Law of the PRC (the “Labour
Contract Law”), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) by participating
in the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “EQ”), the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the laws of Hong Kong) and other laws
and regulations by offering competitive wages, medical insurance,
disability and invalidity coverage, maternity leave and other
compensation to the employees.

The Group offers competitive remuneration, promotional
opportunity, compensation and benefit packages to attract
and retain talents such as making contributions to the social
security fund and the housing reserve fund for staffs. The
Remuneration Committee of the Group is responsible for reviewing
the remuneration of directors. For general employees and
management, remuneration is reviewed annually on a basis taking
reference to market trends, employee qualifications, experience
and performance. During the Reporting Period, the Group has
94 employees (FY2021: 101) who are full-time employees.
All employees are from different provinces in mainland China,
Hong Kong, and the United Kingdom. During the Reporting
Period, a total of 9 employees of the Group resigned due to
personal reasons, and the annual employee turnover rate was
approximately 6.8% (FY2021: 1.9%).
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B1: Employment (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the employee statistics (in %) of the
Group are summarized by gender, age group and level as follows:

Employee Statistics In %
By Gender

Male 72
Female 22
By Age

<30 4
31-50 70
>50 20
By Level

Senior Management 10
Mid-level 17
Entry 67

Employment communication

Performance appraisal is an essential platform for the
management and frontline staff to evaluate their performances
and voice their expectations to the Group’s future development.
Workload of employees is also reviewed and adjusted during
appraisals to avoid overloading.

To raise employees’ sense of belonging, the Group organizes
celebratory activities during festivals such as Chinese New Year,
Mid-Autumn Festival and Christmas. Regular lunch gatherings
also foster interactive communication and create harmonious
relationships among employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations in respect of
human resources.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B2: Health and Safety

Employees’ health and safety has always been the Group’s top
priority. The Group strictly observes the Labour Law, the Work
Safety Law of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of the PRC, the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). In terms of processing facilities, employees
may potentially cause operations that have a significant impact
on health and safety when using equipment. The Group has
specifically certified the Work Safety Standardization (Level 3
enterprise) which was issued by Huizhou Safety Production
Association, to provide guidelines and policies to govern a
safe working environment. The health and safety affairs will
be arranged to designated staff responsible for reviewing and
updating the manuals and procedures on respectively a quarterly
and an annual basis.

Prevention and Control Measures for COVID-19 Epidemic

In order to strengthen the prevention and control of the COVID-19
Epidemic caused by the novel coronavirus infection, the Group
reduced the gathering of personnel, effectively blocked the
spread of the epidemic, and better protected the lives and
health of employees. The Group has implemented the COVID-19
Prevention and Control Programm (Sth Edition) published by
Disease Prevention and Control Bureau of the National Health
Commission, the Notice on Further Optimizing COVID-19
Epidemic Prevention and Control Measures Scientifically and
Accurately issued by COVID-19 Epidemic Prevention and Control
Command of Guangdong Province, and the Guidelines on
Labour-related Matters Arising from Severe Acute Respiratory
Syndrome for employers and employees issued by the Hong
Kong Labour Department. In meanwhile, the Group issued the
Resuming Production Guideline, the management also distributes
the Resuming Production Notices to various departments and
organizes “COVID-19 Responding Team”. The content includes
organization, planning and implementation of epidemic prevention
plans, responsible for employee health information collection and
reporting, external information reporting (including government
and property management departments), hazard information early
warning, and temperature monitoring of employees, Anti-epidemic
information propaganda, disinfection of office areas, procurement
and distribution of anti-epidemic materials, assistance for
personnel rework difficulties, vehicle arrangements, etc. In
accordance with the reminder requirement of Guangzhou CDC,
the Group supervise employees to undergo nucleic and testing
as needed. During the active period of epidemic transmission, in
order to ensure the normal operation of the Group, some of the
staff are required to work from home. The Group ensures physical
health of employees and a safe workplace and prevent disruption
to all operations.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B2: Health and Safety (Continued)

Within the past reporting years, the Group never encountered any
severe injuries or casualties and none of work injury (more than
7 consecutive days). The Group did not record any accidents
that resulted in death or serious bodily injury, did not pay any
reimbursements or compensations to the Group’s employees
due to such accidents, and was not aware of any major violations
against laws and regulations related to employees’ health and
safety.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

All new employees are required to attend orientation training
and 1S09001:2015 management standard training to ensure
employees are aware of the Group's values, polices and goals
and to ensure employees understand their roles in the Group.
At the Group’s processing facilities, all workers are trained and
have the necessary skills and knowledge before starting work.
The management encourages employees to formulate their own
training objectives that will equip or improve themselves with the
skills and knowledge necessary for their jobs such as Intellectual
Property Protection training.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group complies with the Labour Law of the PRC, the
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC, the
EO, Hong Kong Children’s Law and other laws and regulations with
respecting to the employment of youths under 16 years of age and
their legal rights. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
find any major violations of child labour or forced labor to affect its
operating activities.
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China New Energy Limited

SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B4: Labour Standards (Continued)

The Group strictly prohibits the use of any child and forced labour
by its operations. All of new employees are requested to provide
true and accurate personal information when they join the Group
for the recruitment staff to stringently verify their information
including, among other things academic certificates, identity
card and hometown information. The recruitment staff verifies
the identity of all new staff members by the WeChat “Guangzhou
Provincial Affairs” or the Alipay “Electronic ID Card” etc. The
Group has a comprehensive recruitment process in education
and previous working experience check against every candidate,
as well as a formal reporting process to handle any exceptional
cases. It also conducts regular checks to guard against child or
forced labour in its operation. The probationary period or labour
contract of any employee who uses false information will be
terminated immediately. To ensure staff health and safety, forced
labour is strictly prohibited and no staff can start working before
the completion of the relevant training.

Equal opportunity

The Group puts effort in ensuring equal opportunities are given to
employees in respect of recruitment, training and development,
job advancement, and compensation and benefits. The employees
are not discriminated against or deprived of such opportunities
on the basis of gender, ethnic background, religion, colour,
sexual orientation, age, marital status, family status, retirement,
disability, pregnancy or any other discrimination prohibited
by applicable laws in the PRC and Hong Kong. To eliminate
workspace discrimination, if employees are treated unfairly or feel
discriminated against by action or speech, employees can report
directly to the management of the Company. The management
of the Company will investigate the reported case and take
corresponding stringent disciplinary actions after verification.
Employees can also report directly to the Equal Opportunities
Commission.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group supports reducing greenhouse gas emissions and will
prioritize the use of local suppliers with the same conditions as non
local peers. The total number of suppliers and subcontractors is
184 (fiscal year 2021: 253) companies, all from mainland China.

The Group adheres to fair and transparent operating
practices through the adoption of internal policies including
the Procurement Management System and the Outsourced
Processing Management System, which set out the selection
and assessment procedure for suppliers, contractors, and
subcontractors according to the criteria that should be taken
into account. Furthermore, while selecting the suppliers or
subcontractors, it avoids engaging questionable environmental
practices. Through these policies, we require our suppliers,
contractors and subcontractors to comply with all applicable
laws and regulations to commit safety, environmental and social
responsibilities. The Group has a deep understanding of working
with them in order to continue to provide high-quality one-stop
comprehensive services that are responsible for the environment,
society and customers.

In order to be a responsible social enterprise, the Company has
issued the “Initiatives on Developing Low Carbon Supply Chain”,
encouraging suppliers to actively carry out energy conservation
and emission reduction actions, and helping suppliers connect
with the central bank’s direct financing tools for carbon emission
reduction.
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China New Energy Limited

SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
Product and service complaints

The Group values the importance of providing quality core
system of ethanol production system and integrated services to
customers. The Group requires the quality management to be
based on the 1SO9001:2015 certification standard, aiming to
continuously improve its quality control system and improve the
level of product manufacturing and service management. The
Group has set up various complaints and feedback channels,
such as telephone hotline, email and website, to collect
suggestions and advice from customers. The customer data
protection and privacy is followed to the Group'’s policy. During the
Reporting Period, the total number of 28 (FY2021: 11) systems
were sold and no recalled or complaints.

Intellectual Property Protection

In order to committed protecting intellectual property rights,
the Group set “Patent Management Handbook” ensuring the
protection of business data and prevent unauthorized disclosure
of sensitive information to third parties. Policies and procedures in
place are regularly reviewed and updated to adhere to the latest
local laws and regulations, such as the Patent Law of the PRC,
the Trademark Law of the PRC, and the Patents (Amendment)
Ordinance 2016 of Hong Kong etc.

Confidentiality

Confidential information includes all knowledge of the Group
affairs, secrets or information of the Group. This includes but not
limited to affairs, secrets and information relating to the scope
of business, personnel, operation, policies, strategies, clientele,
contracts and financial position. All employees acknowledge and
warrant not to disclose the above information, within and after the
period of employment, by signing the employee’s contract.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Aspects B7: Anti-corruption

The Group commits to managing all business without undue
influence and has regarded honesty, integrity, and fairness as its
core values. All Directors and employees are required to follow
with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap 201 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) enforced by the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption to prevent unethical pursuit. It is stipulated in
the “Personnel Management Rules” that all employees should
have responsibility for understanding and complying with above
policies on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money-
laundering violations. Through the latest annual internal control
self-assessment operation, all departments and subsidiaries of
the Company must conduct self-examination on their work items.
The internal control system can be adjusted timely on the design
and implementation of manner, implement a self-supervision
mechanism.

Meanwhile, the Group distributed the relating anti-corruption
booklets and cases to educate all employees on how to comply
with law and regulations, so as to promote the importance of
anti-corruption practices. The Group sets up various channels
such as telephone hotlines, an email address and mailbox for
whistleblowing. Dedicated staff members collect and sort reported
information on a regular basis, as well as oversee and investigate
reported matters referred to the audit department. The Group
also adopts various measures to encourage staff members to
proactively report acts of violation of rules and regulations, and
strengthens the privacy protection of the whistleblower.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
concluded cases of corruption brought against the Group or its
employees.
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China New Energy Limited

SOCIAL (continued)

Community
Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Group promotes the social contribution of all members. We
attach great importance to inspire a sense of social responsibility
in employees and encourage them to make greater contribution
to our community both at work and in their spare time. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to focus on community services,
motivate employees to actively participate in volunteer services in
the future. We strive to increase our social investment to create a
better environment for our community as well as our business.

The Group also has been promoting a green and sustainable
lifestyle during these years. We share the responsibility to build
a green community with blue sky and create an ideal home with
balanced environmental sustainability and urban prosperity.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in the provision of ethanol production system
technology integrated services in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage
industries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”).
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 224 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 December
2022 and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business can be found in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 9 to 19 of this annual report. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year under review using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights on page
223 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have
a material impact on the Group's performance and could cause actual
results to differ materially from expected and historical results. The Board
monitors risks on an ongoing basis and has implemented appropriate
procedures and processes to manage and mitigate the adverse
consequences of such risks. The principal risks are as follows:
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China New Energy Limited

Uncertainties in the promotion of fuel ethanol

Several years ago, many countries adopted mandatory laws and
regulations to promote the development of fuel ethanol market. However,
due to various reasons, these plans have been postponed or adjusted
one after another in the recent two to three years. For example, Canada
had planned to increase the proportion of ethanol added in gasoline to
15% by 2025. Although the plan was originally scheduled to implement
in the Spring of 2021, it has been postponed to the Autumn. Moreover,
the Philippines, Vietnam and other countries are planning to postpone
the implementation dates of their original ethanol-gasoline policies. In
Mainland China, the No.1 Document of the Central Government for 2022
clearly stated that “strictly control the processing of fuel ethanol using corn
as raw material”. This is the policy adjustment after the country proposed
“moderately developing grain fuel ethanol” in 2017. From “moderate
development” to “strict control”, behind the change in the government’s
attitude towards fuel ethanol is a significant change in the domestic
corn market from oversupply to undersupply. The National Development
and Reform Commission issued the Guiding Opinions on Promoting the
Healthy Development of the Corn Deep Processing Industry, requiring
that no new fuel ethanol projects using corn as the main raw material be
constructed, and strongly encouraging the development of fuel ethanol
using non grain crops as the raw material. In addition, it is often difficult
to predict whether or when the Company will secure new contracts as it
depends on a number of factors, such as the actual business needs of
the potential customers, market conditions, financing arrangements and
government policies.

Order book and contract backlog

Whilst the Group has a strong order book and contract backlog, the
projected revenue amounts might not be able to result in actual revenue
or translate into profits and therefore are not indicative of the future
results of the operations of the Group. Contract backlog figures represent
the estimate of the total contract value of work which remain to be
completed pursuant to the terms of the outstanding ethanol production
system technology integrated service contracts. The contract value of a
project or other transaction represents the amount the Group expects
to receive as at the relevant date. However, such backlog figure is
based on the assumption that the relevant contracts will be performed
in full in accordance with their terms and schedule. Since the contract
may be subject to cancellations or change of order or schedule by the
counterparty or other force majeure which may affect the progress of the
project, such changes to any one or more sizeable contracts could have
substantial and immediate effect on the backlog of the Group, and could
reduce the amount of backlog and revenue and profit that it can actually
generate and put pressure on our working capital.
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Accounts receivable and progress payment from customers

The Group may experience delays or defaults in recognising trade
receivables and progress payments from its customers. For the ethanol
production system technology integrated service projects, project owners
typically make progress payments to the Group with reference to the
percentage of work completed at specific milestone dates. In accordance
with the contracts entered into between the Group and its customers,
once the service project reaches a certain stage as specified in the
relevant contract, the Group will be paid a portion of the contract value on
a progressive basis. The milestone stages of payment generally include
(i) the signing of the contract; (ii) before delivery of the equipment to the
project site of the customer; (iii) after completion of installation of the
equipment and issuance of project completion report; and (iv) the expiry
of the defect liability period, which is generally 12 months from the date
of project completion report issued by the customer. From time to time,
the Group may be required to commit cash and other resources to the
projects prior to reaching a payment stage to cover certain expenses
for the projects. There is a risk that the customers do not fulfill their
contractual obligations pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
contracts and will fail to make full and timely payments to the Group.
Delays in progress payments by the customers may significantly increase
the working capital needs and thereby affects the liquidity of the Group,
and would also adversely affect the financial condition and results of
operations of the Group.

Research and development

As part of the business strategies, the Group continues to focus on
research and development to strengthen its design and engineering
capability. Advanced biofuels using cellulose as feedstock have been
touted as the next step beyond the corn-based ethanol. However,
cellulosic ethanol is more difficult to produce than grain ethanol because
it uses the inedible and irregular parts of the plants. Cellulosic ethanol
production also requires the in-house development of new technologies.
The Group may be unsuccessful in researching and developing such
new technologies. The success of the Group’s business is therefore
dependent upon its ability to continuously develop, in a timely manner,
new technological applications through research and development and
introduce new solution designs to cater to the customers’ requirements.
The Group may be required to invest extra time and resources to develop
new technological applications for solution designs in order to satisfy
changing requirements of the customers.
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China New Energy Limited

Competition

The Group operates in a competitive industry and it may not be able to
maintain an edge over its competitors. There are other providers of ethanol
production systems operating in the market who may possess more in-
depth experience, expertise, technical know-how and financial ability
to capitalise on pricing strategies and other services to gain an edge in
the competition. There can be no guarantee that the competitiveness of
its competitors will not improve or that the Group will be successful in
expanding its market share against its competitors or expanding into new
markets. Hence this could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and operating results.

The Group’s financial instruments and financial risk management
objectives and policies are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 98 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 99 and notes 32 and 40(b) to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves consist of share premium and
retained earnings. As at 31 December 2022, distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB67.5 million (2021: RMB74
million).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers amounted to approximately 60% of the total sales and sales to
the largest customer accounted for approximately 22%. Purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 57% of the
total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 20%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the total
number of issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates
and the local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success.
The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging
employees, providing quality services to customers and collaborating
with business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver
sustainable products and services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 48 to 70 of this annual report.
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China New Energy Limited

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December 2022
and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Richard Antony Bennett

Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron

Ms. Wong Mei Ling (appointed on 15 March 2023)

Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam (retired on 16 December 2022)

Pursuant to Article 19.2 of the Articles, Ms. Wong Mei Ling shall hold
office until the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”)
and shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 19.6 of the Articles, Mr. Yu Weijun and Mr. Tang
Zhaoxing will retire by rotation at the AGM and shall be eligible for re-
election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the current Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 20 to 27 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the
independent non-executive Directors regarding their independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of
them being independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts or appointment letters,
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Group were entered into or
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS
IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no contract of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules,
the “Controlling Shareholder”) or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2022 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of an acquisition of Shares or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, and neither the
Directors nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or had exercised such
right.
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China New Energy Limited

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any related company
(holding companies, subsidiaries, or fellow subsidiaries) was a party and
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders or their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) is interested in any business
which competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or may have
with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as permitted
under the relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including
former Directors) of the Company. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided for in the Articles and in the Directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and
costs associated with legal proceedings that may be brought against such
Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ")), which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive of
the Company were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as

follows:
REP TR - Long positions in Shares:
EEREEEIT
e g7,/ #mEtE Frisiein 88 @st REABAOESLE
Approximate
% of the issued
Capacity/ Number of share capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held Total of the Company
REHREE REEEER (ratl) 99,012,168 99,012,168
Mr. Yu Weijun Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1)
BEEAA 3,070,352 3,070,352
Beneficial owner
102,082,520 17.31%
BIKEAEE REEBER (E22) 48,000,000 48,000,000
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 2)
BREEBA 3,070,352 3,070,352
Beneficial owner
51,070,352 8.66%
Richard Antony Bennettst 4 BEREBA 3,908,099 3,908,099 0.66%
Mr. Richard Antony Bennett Beneficial owner
“EZFFR
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Notes:

I These 99,012,168 Shares were held by Tewin Capital Holding Limited (“Tewin
Capital”) which was wholly owned by Mr. Yu Weijun. Mr. Yu was deemed or taken to
be interested in the same block of Shares held by Tewin Capital for the purpose of the
SFO.

2. These 48,000,000 Shares were held by Tonzest Capital Holding Limited (“Tonzest
Capital”) which was wholly owned by Mr. Tang Zhaoxing. Mr. Tang was deemed or
taken to be interested in the same block of Shares held by Tonzest Capital for the
purpose of the SFO. On 9 October 2020, 48,000,000 Shares have been pledged by
Tonzest Capital in favour of an independent third party as a security of a loan in the
amount HK$1,500,000. As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding amount of the
loan was HK$820,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to
the Company, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which the
Directors and chief executive of the Company were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein;
or were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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FTERENIRND RBRARNE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

EERRE

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

202212831 H » BEEFTA > R AL (EIE  As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
EEYANBETBTHAL) RIRHAEREIZD  persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
A BIREE S R EI SIS EXVERSE2R%3%  interests or short positions in Shares or underlying Shares which would
EBRNE X AN B R B AP R » SRt AA  fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
TIRIEE 5 R RSB SE336(8 B FFERIEEC  provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the

MARNERIRE register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to the section 336
of the SFO:
AT
BT
RERtR, % BmtE e TahE {=] BB
Approximate
% of the issued
Number of share capital
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held of the Company
Tewin Capital EnmaA Wl 99,012,168 16.79%
Beneficial owner (Note 1)
EREZT Fofdn (1) 102,082,520 17.31%
Ms. Tan Fenggiao Interest of spouse (Note 1)
Tonzest Capital BnEA A W:22) 48,000,000 8.14%
Beneficial owner (Note 2)
BEZT Fo@tEm (Wa2) 51,070,352 8.66%
Ms. Zeng Fanghua Interest of spouse (Note 2)
Best Full Investments Limited BERBEA A 0:23) 48,000,000 8.14%
Beneficial owner (Note 3)
A v REEEER (H733) 48,000,000 8.14%
Mr. Liang Hongtao Interest in controlled corporation (Note 3)
BELL Fo i@ (173t4) 48,000,000 8.14%
Ms. Han Jing Interest of spouse (Note 4)
Kapok Capital Management Limited EnEB A Was) 44,652,107 7.57%
Beneficial owner (Note 5)
BRgEre 2 £ REnEEED (11325) 44,652,107 7.57%
Ms. Chen Wan Ling Interest in controlled corporation (Note 5)
Jojo Global Investment Limited EnlEa A\ W:z6) 32,100,000 5.44%
Beneficial owner (Note 6)
EMERLE REEEER (Ee) 32,100,000 5.44%
Mr. Jiang Xinchun Interest in controlled corporation (Note 6)
BB A 3,070,352 0.52%
Beneficial owner
Frat Pt (Hzz7) 35,170,352 5.96%
Ms. Wang Yan Interest of spouse (Note 7)
- 334
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Notes:

Ms. Tan Fengqiao is the spouse of Mr. Yu Weijun, the Chairman and an executive
Director. The interests of Mr. Yu Weijun in the Company comprised (i) 99,012,168
Shares held by his wholly-owned corporation, Tewin Capital; and (i) 3,070,352
Shares held by Mr. Yu directly. Ms. Tan Fenggiao was deemed to be interested in all
the Shares in which Mr. Yu Weijjun was beneficially interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

Ms. Zeng Fanghua is the spouse of Mr. Tang Zhaoxing, the Chief Executive Officer
and an executive Director. The interests of Mr. Tang Zhaoxing in the Company
comprised (i) 48,000,000 Shares held by his wholly-owned corporation, Tonzest
Capital; and (ii) 3,070,352 Shares held by Mr. Tang directly. Ms. Zeng Fanghua was
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Tang Zhaoxing was beneficially
interested for the purpose of the SFO.

Best Full Investments Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Liang Hongtao. Therefore,
Mr. Liang Hongtao was deemed or taken to be interested in 48,000,000 Shares held
by Best Full Investments Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Ms. Han Jing is the spouse of Mr. Liang Hongtao. Ms. Han Jing was deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Liang Hongtao was interested for the purpose
of the SFO.

Kapok Capital Management Limited was wholly owned by Ms. Chen Wan Ling.
Therefore, Ms. Chen Wan Ling was deemed or taken to be interested in 44,652,107
Shares held by Kapok Capital Management Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Jojo Global Investment Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Jiang Xinchun. Therefore,
Mr. Jiang Xinchun was deemed or taken to be interested in 32,100,000 Shares held
by Jojo Global Investment Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Ms. Wang Yan is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Xinchun. Ms. Wang Yan was deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Xinchun was interested for the purpose
of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no other person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above)
had, or were taken or deemed to have interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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CONNECTED/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which were required
to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the
normal course of business are set out in the note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of the related party transactions as disclosed
constituted disclosable non-exempted connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company had complied with the relevant requirements of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during year ended 31 December 2022.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Tewin Captial and Mr. Yu Weijun, Tonzest Capital and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing,
and Jojo Global Investment Limited and Mr. Jiang Xinchun (collectively,
the “Covenantors”) has each entered into a deed of non-competition
dated 16 June 2020 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of its subsidiaries).

The Covenantors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and written confirmation
from the Covenantors, and confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, all
the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied
with by each of the Covenantors during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to date of this report.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is set up to award employees
and Directors based on their performance, qualifications, competence
displayed and market comparable companies. A remuneration package
typically comprises salary, contribution to pension schemes and
discretionary bonuses relating to the profit of the relevant company. The
remuneration of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and is decided by the Board, having regard to the prevailing
market practice, the Company’s remuneration policy and the employee’s
seniority, experiences and their duties and responsibilities with the Group.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or subsisting
at the end of or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied with
the relevant environmental and occupational health and safety laws and
regulations in China and we did not have any incidents or complaints
which had a material and adverse effect on the business, financial
condition or results of operations of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022.

For more detailed information about the Group's environmental policies
and performance for this financial year, please refer to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 48 to 70 of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 of the Jersey, Channel Islands, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
etc. The Group has put in place internal controls to ensure compliance of
the same. In addition, as the Group carries out business activities in China,
compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
PRC laws, rules and regulations which have significant impact on the
Group. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units
in the Company and subsidiaries from time to time.

Save as otherwise disclosed, as far as the Board is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital is held by the
public under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

KTC Partners CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 7 January 2022 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been audited by KTC Partners CPA Limited who shall hold
office until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. A resolution to re-appoint KTC Partners CPA Limited as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

By order of the Board

Yu Weijun
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of China New Energy Limited
(incorporated in Jersey with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New
Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 222, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Room 617, 6/F., Seapower Tower, Concordia Plaza, 1 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
FHAFER D ERA R EIRE K eI 6617 E

Tel E3&: (852) 2314 7999

Fax 1% H&: (852) 2110 9498

E-mail & -F#(44: info@ktccpa.com.hk
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Key Audit Matter

ERLEEERMERCFEER

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

EENE T NAERIEMRETEE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition for ethanol production system construction contracts

2 RR G M BIRARMWEED -

Refer to

B E2022F12831HIEFE »

SEPABS RN o

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue
of approximately RMB115,541,000 was derived from
ethanol production system construction contract for which

revenue is recognised on over time basis.
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note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

EREBERRE S EEMAITHER 8
Our procedures performed to address this key audit matter
included:

EEEBIELERSR
BEREFELEEBENARKL5 54100070 BRAEE .

THREEEE RS AMEBEEEEU RGBS
ERRERER SEERDARRZTS ;

Obtained an understanding of the key controls over
management’s review and approval of project budgets
and estimates of revenue recognition from ethanol
production system construction contract;

. HMEEEREIEEHN R T HIEENEE RERH
BEERR ;

Discussed with management and the respective project
teams to understand the progress of the projects and
relevant contract terms;



EERCRERLERKERSRMENEXELENRE
MTERENRESREBE NENEEREERDT c ZEE T K
BARAE R s - ZEEHIRE SEERBITENE
AEFFELRE SR AT 8 W B E B EREARFRA
EXNSRNAEEREERGFENANE DT

The Group recognises revenue from its ethanol production
system construction contracts based on progress made
towards complete satisfaction of its performance obligation
under contracts. This basis involves significant judgements
and estimates. The progress is measured based on
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the contract costs
incurred up to the end of Reporting Period as a percentage
of total estimated costs for each product in the contract.

%%%%LE—E%imﬁﬁiﬁ’ml%éﬁﬁf%
STTERNIE B PR IER A AN B FE A B Al > LIFERE
BB 72t o R 2E R T #R 5 HAFEI R 58 o

We considered this as a key audit matter because
management applied significant judgements in estimating
the remaining cost to complete the projects in order to
determine the percentage of completion and thus the
revenue to be recognised for the Reporting Period.

B L HENR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

. REEEZEEE2022F 12831 B ILEEEEW
BERA UZFEERERZ MHNEEER
AT A B E RS ;
Tested, on a sample basis, the project costs incurred
during the year ended 31 December 2022 to supporting
evidence including purchase agreements, materials
receipt notes and labour cost records;

. BEETERFERBELENERNAKREREHIER
B A B9 FE 52 5T RV ZE B 14 > ST SE Ak 1B B B9 1E 5T AR
K ;
Evaluated the estimated cost to complete the project by
considering the actual costs incurred subsequent to the
year end, and the accuracy of management's historical
estimation of the project costs;

J MR EERHEREERE =1 RE  HhTTMm

TREANEENEE BEEETREBEERNRRZ
Enlms? ; &
Checked, on a sample basis, the settlements from
customers and third-party evidence to evaluate progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, including final customer confirmation of
acceptance when a project is completed; and

J ZHEIEEHEE2022F12831HILFEREEN
BREMALEEHERAB DLEME S WiREZE
DEEEM TR EERE
Checked management’s calculation of percentage
of actual costs incurred up to the year ended 31
December 2022 to total estimated costs, and
recalculated the revenue recognised based on the
percentage.

BERD MR IBEEERRER R EEEPTANRER
R BRIk e

We found the key assumptions used in revenue recognition
from ethanol production system construction contracts were
supported by the available evidence.
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B SRR IAR BB AR &R E ENRETG

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets

BHR2REG SRR MIEE20 ~ 22535(b) °
Refer to notes 20, 22 and 35(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

122022128318 M 8 5 FE WGRIE K FE UR R IR 4B BR LU
kREBEEED AR AREL15,385,0007T & AR
285,437,0007% > F20224F 12 H31 AV BEE DRI A
AR 1542,364,0007t /2 A R 121,565,0007T ©

The gross trade and bills receivables, and contract assets
amounted to approximately RMB115,385,000 and
RMB285,437,000 respectively as at 31 December 2022,
with loss allowance of approximately RMB42,364,000 and
RMB21,565,000 respectively as at 31 December 2022.

EEEFERITETDENER ENBRXRBRKEARR
KRIEHE BRI % AR 2 ¥ (5 E 5 USRI K B UL
EBRUKERAEENTRIREE/mIEHEE Tt E2TRHE
BEER > SEEZEEGRENKRE - TRE%E PR
MERERAKR LSRR A EEERETH
BomsMbAEERE > SEEZENEREEL
BEER RRQBEIER TERRAE R IEREEH -

The Group assesses expected credit loss allowances of
trade and bills receivables and contract assets using the
risk parameters including industry average default rates,
loss given default, forecast economic conditions and
expected credit loss. When measuring expected credit
loss, the Group considers the ageing of the balances, the
nature and credit profile of different customer base and
adjusts by considerations such as current conditions and
forward looking factors. In assessing forward looking factors,
the Group considers factors including economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, industry risks and changes in
customers’ conditions.

90 China New Energy Limited

EERRIEMRESI EEMITHEREIE .
QOur procedures performed to address this key audit matter
included:

THRHEEETGEESERRIEREREEUARES
& E R E R R SRS

Obtained an understanding of the key controls over
management’s assessment of the impairment of trade
and bills receivables and contract assets;

ML EREET A EEREEBERRANMGEHEY
KIBHNBEARZ BFstRTRAEFHBINME R
ERMRRUREREBRNEET ;

Assessed the estimated default rates and loss given
default applied by management in the ECL calculation,
by considering the nature and credit profile of different
customer base and the appropriateness of data used;

BRESERBEKE TERMBER STHE AR
MEEEREEHMERERNAIBMRE ;

Assessed current conditions and the forward looking
factors considered by management in the assessment
by referencing to macroeconomic, industry and market
information;

RHREEZEEZRRIBREWERUAREE
BEEHEEENREREMREZEER ; &

Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing
of the trade and bhills receivables and contract assets to
invoices and other supporting evidence; and
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R EZHFEAREBNERGE
Tested, on a sample basis, settlement made by the
customers subsequent to year end.

We considered this as a key audit matter because

management applied significant judgements in the
impairment assessment of trade and bill receivables and

contract assets.

Hth&E#
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PR MRASR IR T ARl fk o

We found the key assumptions used in impairment assessment
of trade and bills receivables and contract assets were
supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.



BB B Z G MEHRRAE
AIENTE @

REEBEERETESNF BEFEREX
o REEBSABRETEFEXRERE
BE:

. 5 B K 5T it 7 5 B 5 R AR FR PO B
HERME M E A TERRA R A&
ZFE RS RATESER BB
RRBEEBREREEFNERREHRE
B o N EREES R AsR BB RIE R
B SRE R e E B RER R R
REE IR A IS Y E R SRR R 2
BORAEHIRANERMERNEAER
PRt R fR S 1

. T rRELE S A BRI EREER » LIRS G
EMBESER BLFETH S£E
RERERIN AR ERER -

. HEFTA S HRESINE  UNES
PRIFESHEBERAERARER ST A

. MEEERAUFEECEAERN TS
ERBINE WIRRDENNESESE
MERTAY BEEREKEMEE
BREREENSHNBEREEATE
ERER - HESRED/TFEERTHE
ERER > BEFRIZHBEARETIRFR
B aMBRRABAERMINE  SHE
FiRET e MSRFERERR -BF
B BN EERHETHR S QAT E
SREERE  WARREMF BRI AL
g5y EEEIBEARECENES-

. SHAARE R BIRE (BIEMER) BB
B RBRAS  URGEMHRERS
BARRRESERIERI S RER

B L HENR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that are of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO4686
Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HZE2022F12831HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2022

&t 20224 20214
AR%TFT AR¥EF T
Notes 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
=0 Revenue 5 117,354 386,331
THE Al A Cost of sales (102,167) (341,509)
EH Gross profit 15,187 45,322
HEREHEX Selling and marketing expenses (9,383) (6,021)
THERX Administrative expenses (19,481) (22,252)
AR EEBEEA TN Impairment losses under expected
ERSTE > 0FREEE] credit loss model, net of reversal 10 (40,799) (24,411)
HAA Other income 7 5,760 14,281
Hith (5518) Wz —F%8  Other (losses)/gains — net 8 (6,347) 4,041
& (5518) ER Operating (loss)/profit (55,063) 10,960
B Finance income 9 9 11
A8 AR A Finance costs 9 (1,667) (2,007)
TS AN A — /3 28 Finance costs — net (1,658) (1,996)
FRER1ERRAT (B548) &%)  (Loss)profit before income tax 10 (56,721) 8,964
Frisiike, Bx) Income tax credit/(expense) 11 5,764 (1,169)
FR (858) EF (Loss)/profit for the year (50,957) 7,795
LUFFEML (B5348) i#8F) ©  (Loss)/profit attributable to:
S YNEIEZZ= DN — Owners of the Company (50,525) 8,421
— IR T — Non-controlling interest (432) (626)
(50,957) 7,795
TATEE AEML (Loss)/earning per share for (loss)/
(F518) BFIRERE profit attributable to owners of
(5518) /B USSR the Company (expressed
ARBERTRT) in RMB per share)
SREX (518 &R Basic (loss)/earning per share 15 (0.086) 0.014
SRS (518) &F Diluted (loss)/earning per share 15 (0.086) 0.014
T _EFER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE2022F12831HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2022

20224 20214
ARBFT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
F R (FB18) HF (Loss)/profit for the year (50,957) 7,795
Hit2mEEsE Other comprehensive loss
BJSET BT 7 R 18 HY ltems that may not be reclassified
HH to profit or loss
—BRAFESAEMEEWEZE - Change in the fair value of financial
NEMEELTEEE assets at fair value through other
(0pRIRIE) comprehensive income, net of tax (1,668) (324)
B GEE T 7 4E E R a9 E H Items that may be reclassified
to profit or loss
— BB ER C ERERR — Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations (1,225) (847)
FRHME2EEE (O0RTME)  Other comprehensive loss for the year,
net of tax (2,893) (1,171)
FR2mE (58 WE4E%E Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year (53,850) 6,624
UTRES2E (BR) WKE Total comprehensive (loss)/income
4z . attributable to:
—ARREHEBA — Owners of the Company (53,418) 7,250
—JEEERG R — Non-controlling interests 432) (626)
(53,850) 6,624
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

12202212831 H As at 31 December 2022

&t 20224 20214
AR%TFT ARH¥FT
Notes 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ETRHEE Non-current assets
LY E N =Y Property, plant and equipment 16 12,311 17,467
EEE Intangible assets 17 20,470 27 461
FREESE Right-of-use assets 18 2,866 4,019
BT ESAEMEEW  Financial assets at fair value 19
MRS E through other comprehensive
income 2,502 4,463
IFIEIRIEE Deferred tax assets 28 15,894 9,836
54,043 63,246
MENEE Current assets
=75 Inventories 23 9,348 7,134
BEEWRIBREWER  Trade and bills receivables 20 73,021 90,393
HhEWEIERTEIFIE  Other receivables and 21
prepayments 81,057 104,216
EREE Contract assets 22 263,872 264,864
IRITAERRRIRE Bank balances and cash 24 1,879 6,004
429,177 473,511
mEaE Current liabilities
B eI Trade payables 25 98,275 106,911
HhpE(rma Other payables 26 85,246 76,014
SIEI=E Contract liabilities 27 25,145 21,823
RITER Bank borrowings 29 27,132 24,363
HESE Lease liabilities 30 718 1,186
FETIRIE Tax payable 49,529 48,539
286,045 278,836
MBEERE Net current assets 143,132 194,675
WEERRHEE Total assets less current liabilities 197,175 257,921
SR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

122022 12831H As at 31 December 2022

=3 20224 20214
AR%TFT AR¥FT
Notes 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
JEREIAE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank borrowings 29 1,350 7,500
HEAE Lease liabilities 30 - 746
1,350 8,246
BEEEE Net assets 195,825 249,675
B EE Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 31 1,762 1,762
B Reserves 32 194,680 248,098
TATER ANELER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 196,442 249,860
JEPERG R 2 Non-controlling interests (617) (185)
ENERR Total equity 195,825 249,675

FO5FE223E VRS HMIEMERBN2023FE3H  The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 222 were approved
SIHREEZTHERBETZET AL TESE  and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2023 and

RREE . are signed on its behalf by:
REER YR E
Yu Weijun Tang Zhaoxing
EBFE BE
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EHZE2022F12H31HEEE  For the Year Ended 31 December 2022

kx  Hfth  RERA M5t el st
ARBETT AREBTT ARETR AREBTT ARETR ARET:
(a31)  (EE32)

Non-
Share Other Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings Total interests Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Note 31) (Note 32)

12021%£181H At 1 January 2021 1,762 151,265 89,583 242610 - 242610
FREF Profit for the year = = 8421 8421 (626) 7795
Hi2mEEE Other comprehensive loss = (1,171) = (1,171) - (1,171)
FR2EKRE Total comprehensive income/(loss)

(§518) 48%8 for the year - (1,171) 8421 7,250 (626) 6,624
BERTATERE Transfer to statutory reserves = 1,081 (1,081) - - -
KRB AR Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33)

(FizE33) - = = = 441 441
120215128310 At 31 December 2021 1,762 151,175 96,923 249,860 (185) 249,675
1202251818 At 1 January 2022 1,762 151,175 96,923 249,860 (185) 249,675
EREE Loss for the year = - (50,525) (50,525) (432) (50,957)
Hth2EEE Other comprehensive loss = (2,893) = (2,893) = (2,893)
FRZEEEEE Total comprehensive loss

for the year - (2,893) (50,525) (53,418) (432) (53,850)
120225128318 At 31 December 2022 1,762 148 282 46,398 196,442 (617) 195,825
SR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FHZE2022412831HIEEE  For the Year Ended 31 December 2022

Kzt 20224 20214
ARBFT AR¥FT
Note 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEH) Operating activities
KEFRS, () IR Cash generated from/(used in) 36(a)
operations 2,623 (20,550)
2R (F) ek Income tax paid - (2,264)
RESEEFRE (F) Net cash generated from/(used
& B in) operating activities 2,623 (22,814)
KREEE Investing activities
BEEME WEREE Purchases of property,
plant and equipment (39) (7,239)
EERTEE Purchases of intangible assets (2,231) (8,971)
HEYME -BEKR Proceeds from disposal of
RFEPTSTIE property, plant and equipment 963 5
Ui BE—RAMT B A Acquisition of a subsidiary = (78)
REEBFTRARE3EE Net cash used in
investing activities (1,307) (16,283)
LIRS Financing activities
BHE Interest paid (1,658) (1,996)
RITEREERIA Proceeds from bank borrowings 22,527 48,441
BERITER Repayments of bank borrowings (25,908) (37,250)
HENMNAEED Principal elements
of lease payments (1,214) (1,075)
REEEFR () 15 Net cash (used in)/generated
NS BEE from financing activities (6,253) 8,120
HERREEEBWRHL Net decrease in cash and cash
FEE equivalents (4,937) (30,977)
FYIREKRIBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 6,904 37,322
REMIREFEBYN Translation differences on
HEER cash and cash equivalents (88) 559
FERAERAEEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 1,879 6,904

1 00 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CrZAERBIN FIEZEEMBARKETT)
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China New Energy Limited (MZ~/A5])) B4
EPABAR 20065528 1E 27 B35
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
GENERAL INFORMATION

China New Energy Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Jersey on 2 May 2006 as a public company with limited liability
under the Jersey Companies Law and its shares have been
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 15 July 2020. The address of its registered
office is at 13 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 1ES. The
Company’s principal place of business is at Unit 2406, 24/F.,
Strand 50, 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated service in the ethanol
fuel and alcoholic beverage industries in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
Yuan (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”).
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1 02 China New Energy Limited

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on 1
January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-2020

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
IFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business combinations
for which the acquisition date was on or after 1 January 2022.
The amendments update a reference in IFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting issued by International Accounting
Standards Board in March 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”)
instead of the International Accounting Standards Committee’s
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in September 2010), add a requirement that,
for transactions and events within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies,
an acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination and add an explicit statement that an acquirer
does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments specify that the costs of any item
that were produced while bringing an item of property, plant and
equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
(such as samples produced when testing whether the relevant
property, plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the
proceeds from selling such items should be recognised and
measured in the profit or loss in accordance with applicable
standards. The cost of the items are measured in accordance with
IAS 2 Inventories.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use (Continued)

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy retrospectively to property, plant
and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of 1 January 2021. The application of the amendments in the
current year has had no impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance.

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments specify that, when an entity
assesses whether a contract is onerous in accordance with IAS
37, the unavoidable costs under a contract should reflect the least
net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the
cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from
failure to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental
costs and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
contracts (e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the amendments
are applicable to contracts for which the Group has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations as at the date of initial application, 1 January
2022.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IFRSs Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The annual improvements make amendments to the
following standards:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes
substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
the lender on the other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged as at the date of initial application, 1 January 2022.

IFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS
16 removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

IFRS 17 (including the June
2020 and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts!

Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets
IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates!

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction'
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments add subsequent measurement requirements for
sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the requirements of
IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale. The amendments require
a seller-lessee to determine “lease payments” or “revised lease
payments” such that the seller-lessee would not recognise a gain
or loss that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee.
The amendments also clarify that applying the requirements does
not prevent the seller-lessee from recognising in profit or loss any
gain or loss relating to subsequent partial or full termination of a
lease.

As part of the amendments, lllustrative Example 25 accompanying
IFRS 16 is added to illustrate the application of the requirements
in a sale and leaseback transaction with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate.

The amendments are effective for annual Reporting Periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.
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2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

(Continued)

Non-current

B or non-current, which:

o IEERBE AR R NIERE . specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
FEERIRSHREFENREF) - current should be based on rights that are in existence
BiEMs &F BI85 . at the end of the Reporting Period. Specifically, the

amendments clarify that:

0] DETEZIEERERE (i) the classification should not be affected by
HEAZTEI2EANEER management intentions or expectations to settle
BHRRE & the liability within 12 months; and

(ii) & &N LUESF 25, (ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
g BIEERMATR covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
BHBEATARRERS met at the end of the Reporting Period, even if the
B4 ZEFIEREHAR lender does not test compliance until a later date;
REBENER MLARE and
T &

o BEMEBBERER R . clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
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Presentation.

reclassification of the Group’s liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current

of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity's own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying IAS 32 Financial Instruments:

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2022, the application of the amendments will not result in
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

IAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be
observed directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case,
an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in IAS
8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs
15 and 24 of IAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group applies IAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to relevant
assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDINGS (“IFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Continued)

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise
a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual Reporting Periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject to the
amendments amounted to RMB2,866,000 and RMB718,000
respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing the full
impact of the application of the amendments.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the |IASB. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Going concern

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income that are measured at fair
values at the end of each Reporting Period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices

included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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1 1 6 China New Energy Limited

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell
a promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-
alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates
it using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price
ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the
amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the
customer.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Revenue recognition on performance obligations for contracts
with customers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major source:

Provision of ethanol production system technology integrated
service

The Group is engaged in the provision of ethanol production
system technology integrated service in the ethanol fuel and
alcoholic beverage industries. Revenue is recognised when control
over the asset has been transferred to the customer. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date. The equipment has generally no alternative use for the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date due to contractual restrictions and
the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply to the contract.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Revenue recognition on performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Provision of ethanol production system technology integrated
service (Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, that is, the
actual costs incurred up to the end of the Reporting Period as
a percentage of total estimated costs for each product in the
contract.

The Group generally offers 12 months warranties for its product.
The Group recognised retention money as contract assets as
the Group’s entitement to the consideration was conditional on
satisfactory completion of the warranty period. The retention
money will be recognised as trade receivables at the end of
warranty period.

The Group does not recognise the warranty service as a separate
performance obligation in a single contract as the warranty service
is assurance type, and the Group'’s obligation to repair or replace
faulty products under the warranty terms is recognised as a
provision.
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1 2 0 China New Energy Limited

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of IFRS 16 or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of offices and staff dormitories that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made on or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.
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1 22 China New Energy Limited

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

HEEBE (&) Lease liabilities (Continued)

KEBRUTNEREFEHESE (I The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a

HHERAE BB EFHEERED) . corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

. RS E R AT R EEE . the lease term has changed or there is a change in
ez sHhEBE TEILER T > 1868 the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
HEaEEAERREMTLE which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
BAZ &MER T R IR ARIRA&EE T discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
BENREMNTE discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o HEMNREETHHSHSHAETE . the lease payments change due to changes in market
miZAEsEE M HIRES) ) EITt rental rates following a market rent review in which cases
1BRT B EaRERTS the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
AR IR AIRYE ST B[R E revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.
MEtEe

KEBRGEUBERIRTREEEEE The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

25| AEIIEE - consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
maodification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease madification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as
a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using the
unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is required
by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these
conditions are met:

° the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

° the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to
apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is
a lease modification if all of the following conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only payments

originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions (Continued)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying IFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments. The
related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven
or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit
or loss in the period in which the event occurs.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the Reporting Period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each Reporting
Period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of foreign currency translation
reserves (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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1 28 China New Energy Limited

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that require a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those asset, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable. Such grant are presented.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefit
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier
of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of
the termination benefit and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset. A
liability is recognised as benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
Reporting Period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to retained earnings.

Share options granted to service providers

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before income tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the Reporting Period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investment in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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1 32 China New Energy Limited

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each Reporting Period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the Reporting
Period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each Reporting Period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets
and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether
the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the
lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12
“Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation
on right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the principal
portion of lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets, including
buildings that are held for production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
Reporting Period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each Reporting
Period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

ZEZZEER
Annual Report 2022 1 33



rRE MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

3

*?A M5 R AR RN EE R
32 = D-I-E&Eﬁ (&)

BREE (&)
ABELEELEE—FEZL

MR Es 2 R EL RER SR
Fo

EEEEMAETIEREERE  BIH

BREE (RNEEEZEERR EE
ZNEREEBEIEER T URES

. TERETBEEURERRNLEZ
BRI TiE

. ERHNENBERERNHE
BEE

. SEERNHERTEE

. B EEBRYEELLENm

ZAR;

. AHABEER R MHEREME
RTEE R REANEERETE
=R

. SERERPE Rt EETLEE
E’%TTEZF%E'@

1 34 China New Energy Limited

5

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Derecognition

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is
an indication that they may be impaired.
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1 36 China New Energy Limited

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash generating
unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of CGUs to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.



IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

EEMBRRENEER
FEIHER @

ME - BERRB ERAEEERE
MEEZRE (@)

fefEstEE (HIRTEL BN 2 JE
TR ORHREER BE GRTEE
B Z2IREERRERTKEEEE-
AR REENEE Y BENRERE
EEBMUzPEBEENNDEEEEM
= AEEERRESELBUMERNZER
EE (EEIREZIRTELEUERZ
TEEENBHEFEEZREE &
ZIREFEEBUARZ PRI ERETT
EER o I D ECRUE RS 1R R - RERIAE S
EHEEMAEMNHEMNREE B
B)  RERLOREAZBEUNREEE
BAAARNSEERMELNAMEE
BERBENMBLOEBRERTER
HEMZA (el stE) «EEREE Gne
B RZEzHHESE -BERTTORE
BEZREBRBERLADECEZE
fUgiREEEBUMRNZEMEE R
EFEERNR IR m RS o

iR ER IR E B R AIEE (IRE
ELrBUxRSETBAAR) ZREE
i 18 E B G ET 2 P UR[EIFRIE » Fr g a0
ZIREE NMIBREE HIREELE
UsREEEBUER) HIRBEEEL
BRI EGEMAEETEZREE
MR ERE Z B[O & BNRS I8 m st o

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of CGUSs, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount
of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairments loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUS) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUS) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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1 38 China New Energy Limited

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less the estimated costs of completion and the costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the Reporting Period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-type warranty
obligations under the relevant contracts with customers for
provision of construction services are recognised at the date of
completion of the relevant projects, at the directors’ best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the Group'’s obligation.
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1 40 China New Energy Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

@) Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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1 42 China New Energy Limited

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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1 ll-ll- China New Energy Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next Reporting Period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the Reporting Period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
@) Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOC/

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
financial assets at FVTOCI reserves, and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other income
line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade and bills receivable, other receivables
and bank balances), which are subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.
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1 46 China New Energy Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group'’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and
bills receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
@) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument's
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(@)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that result in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

ii Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held

by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is

more appropriate.

i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the

following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer

or the borrower;

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or

past due event;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

i)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group'’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and
contract assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

@ Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

V) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables and contract assets, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
@) Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified either as
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
COsts.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

()

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which
the amortised cost measurement applies as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to account for these changes by
updating the effective interest rate, such change in
effective interest rate normally has no significant effect
on the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset or
financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and
only if, both these conditions are met:

° the change is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

° the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous
basis (ie the basis immediately preceding the
change).

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue from provision of ethanol production system
technology integrated service in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic
beverage industries is recognised over time when the Group's
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. The Group cannot change or
substitute the product or redirect the product for another use as
the product is tailor made to each customer’s needs and thus the
product does not have an alternative use to the Group. However,
whether there is an enforceable right to payment depends on the
terms of contract and the interpretation of the applicable laws
that apply to the contract. Such determination requires significant
judgments. In assessing whether the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for its contracts, the Group has performed an
assessment on the contractual terms as well as any legislation
that could supplement or override those contractual terms, and
conducted an evaluation of any existence of circumstances
that could restrict the Group to enforce its right to payment for
specific performance. Management uses judgments to classify
contracts into those with right to payment and those without the
right. Management will reassess its judgments on a regular basis
to identify and evaluate the existence of any circumstances that
could affect the Group’s enforceable right to payment and the
implication on the accounting for contracts.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation at the reporting date. The progress is measured
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation, by reference to the contract costs
incurred up to the end of Reporting Period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each product in the contract. Significant
judgments and estimations are required in determining the
completeness of the estimated total costs and the accuracy
of progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation at the reporting date. Changes in cost estimates in future
periods can have effect on the Group’s revenue recognised. In
making the above estimations, the Group relies on past experience
and work of contractors and, if appropriate, surveyors.

The information about revenue is disclosed in note 5.
Capitalisation and amortisation of internal development costs

The Group capitalises costs incurred on development projects
as intangible assets when recognition criteria are met. Significant
judgment is involved in assessing whether the criteria set out
in the accounting standards required for capitalisation of such
costs have been met, including the likelihood of the project
delivering sufficient future economic benefits, and whether costs,
including employment costs, were directly attributable to relevant
projects. The Group starts to capitalise research and development
expenditure upon patent application. Notwithstanding that the
Group has used all available information to make this estimation
and judgment, inherent uncertainty exists and the capitalised
costs may have to be expensed if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Capitalisation and amortisation of internal development costs
(Continued)

Capitalised development costs are amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The Group reviews the estimated useful
lives of the assets semi-annually. The amortisation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes on the
useful lives from previous estimates.

Development cost not yet ready for use, which are capitalised as
intangible assets are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Impairment assessment requires
the use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
both the carrying value of intangible assets and the impairment
charge in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

The information about internal development costs is disclosed in
note 17.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
Reporting Period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Impairment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets

The Group calculate ECL for trade and bills receivables and
contract assets on collective basis. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns. For the balance with significant
amount and different risk chararteric, the ECL will be assessed on
individual basis.



IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

RIS HE Rt AE 4

ERAZHNETERE @

At FRERZNEEZRE (&)

EBESERTBEREREGEREREE
HBE ()

BB RERERU R EREE
IRBEHBESRBRSEAREHRE D
H-oRBEERRMRENERTIR
B I EARBARSHRE 5 RUK
BERERREBEEARBEBNREERS
B Al > FEER > BHBUTRIER
RREENRREERERAREER
BENSEBILUE

BHEEHENELERSE—EE
BARBOGSEOTMNENERE
T FEBN AT BE M EREITIREE < IOFTEAD
FERER AEEEBHERERERL
BER RREEER TERBRKEER
B e

I

HESHEAR  ENRRR - FBAEER
MR FEHAE B RE5IE Z FIBVARRA L ST (LTS
—IREEMNGE - TREIEEEENEE
ZERBRAEASBER NS T E K
EENMEFENR BUBRRRKRHKE
BNV RRATR A SRR AR TR E R A
BHNERENERL -EREERESE
WRIE R R RIBE LU R G R E ERTEH
EEERENINRE M IRRMEE38(b)
AR EE °

ERFEEE 5 BUGREREREREU
hkEREBEENRAEEBRERINHE
35(b) Rz °

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade and bills receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade and
bills receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the ECL for trade and bills receivables are
a reasonable approximation for the loss rates for contract assets.

The ECL calculation is based on the estimated default rates and
loss given default applied to each category of debtor, adjusted
for forward-looking information. In assessing forward looking
factors, the Group considers factors including economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, industry risks and changes in
customers’ conditions.

The assessment of the correlation among estimated default
rates, loss given default, forecast economic conditions and
ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s estimated default rates, loss given default and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s
actual default in the future. The information about the ECL on the
Group's trade and bills receivables and contract assets is disclosed
in Note 38(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The information about the ECL for trade and bills receivables and
contract assets is disclosed in note 35(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible asset — internal
development costs

Intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated amortisation
and impairment, if any. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test.

Based on the management’s assessment, impairment loss of
approximately RMB7,024,000 (2021: Nil) was recognised on the
intangible assets — internal development costs. Please refer to note
17(a) for details of the impairment test.



(ii)

(RSB BERBIN FIESEEMBARETFT)

IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

e 5. REVENUE
EREH AL (0] Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers
EY ol iRFEEE Types of goods or services
2022% 20214
ARETT AR¥TT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRHEERES Provision of construction services
- CEBEERRRI — ethanol production system
rE RS technology integrated services
2RI T Ethanol fuel industries 97,890 277,905
TEREEUEHT 2 Alcoholic beverage industries 17,915 105,009
H Others 1,549 3917
4Est Total 117,354 386,831

TEfth) T RIRB KRR

“Others” mainly refers to revenue generated from projects

TZAERIIER EE AU relating to medical and industry of ethyl acetate.
W FESFPFE - Timing of revenue recognition:

2022% 20214
AREFT ARET T
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
b5 AR P Over time 115,541 386,094
T BB At a point in time 1,813 737
117,354 386,831

DEFEFAVRBREOE
BRRZEN

(i)

A DS ER SRS
15975121 RV B B B 75 VA
IR LR B AR HR TS
ARG HEA% Bt bnE
BB A E B T AR
BEERA—ER TR AN
TSR R
Bk

Transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied
performance obligation for contracts with customers:

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
provision of ethanol production system technology
integrated service such that the above information does
not include information about revenue that the Group will
be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the contracts that had an original
expected duration of one year or less.
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RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

6 HNHEH 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION
BEEERETELZARERRNEK Management has determined the operating segments based on
SEERE NI FERERKEES the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, who
PDEEBRAHEESDHNRITEE is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
RERAREBEW AR AR ATNEITE of the operating segment. The chief operating decision maker has
EL been identified as the executive directors of the Company.
REFFTERCEIMN RBEERHTE The Group is principally engaged in the provision of ethanol
RECELEERREMGRERE S1E production system technology integrated services in the ethanol
EBREEEBNESEREA—EDE fuel and alcoholic beverage industries. Management reviews the
ETEZ WEHEFHENERER operating results of the business of the Group as one segment to
AR AL RARHITERIAER— make decisions about resources to be allocated. Therefore, the
B4 & DB B EH BB MR SR o W e executive directors of the Company regard that there is only one
KRS anar) @ AETE RO & operating segment which is used to make strategic decisions.
FETHMEMERNITE SRS Revenue and profit before income tax are the measures reported

to the executive directors for the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment.
EE R Geographical information
REBZE B PTEMEI DN R B UL The amount of the Group’s revenue from external customers
B AU MR broken down by location of the customers is shown in the table
below.
20224 20214
ARETT AR®FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREd PRC 112,141 383,962
41 Myanmar 4,908 1,972
BEEHT Russia = 635
ElfE Indonesia 197 262
HMER Other countries 108 =
st Total 117,354 386,831

20226 20214512831 8 » A~EEERIFT
BIERSEEHLUR TR

1 62 China New Energy Limited

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the non-current assets
of the Group were located in the PRC.



(RSB BERBIN FIESEEMBARETFT)

DERE R @)

ERIERERNEN

BEFEGAERBNEI0% N EHNE

6

IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing

P over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:
2022% 20214
ARETT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ZRAN? Customer AL2 N/A REH 198,754
EEB3 Customer B%3 26,144 N/A 3
=ZRC? Customer C2 N/A REH 70,111
= RD? Customer D? N/A REH 63,547
ZRE Customer E3 13,006 N/A ~7E F
ZRP Customer F3 12,082 N/A 7E F
ZRG3 Customer G3 11,875 N/A ~7E F
63,017 332,412

FPARE B ILHIREAT] o

AEFEUS I A AN EE @ & 20224 12531
B IF BB 10%L E o

MRFE U T B G A E BB 2021 F 12831
B FEBREEI0% Lo

Customer A and Customer B are related companies of each other.

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

H g A 7 OTHER INCOME

20224 20214F
AREBTT ARBEFTT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARG A (EEG)) Subsidy income (note (i)) 5,757 3,517
FEIEUTA Sundry income 3 =

BRELAEREEER GTEEGD)) Refund of legal and
professional fees (note (ii)) - 10,764
5,760 14,281

(0}

(ii)

AW A E 2R BN R A E R HOH
B (R BRI R RE B ER T K%
) - B RAFRBY B BRI BB FE R A
Ao

FEBEHE2020E12831H ILERE » FEST
HAEREEERNAR18603,0007T &
FE2021F 12318 IEFE > BREIFHE
2REEE R AREE10,764, 0007 R
BALEENEMUA

(0]

(ii)

Subsidy income mainly represented government grants provided to the
Group for its support and award to innovative and growth enterprises. The
grants were unconditional and were recognised as income when received.

The Group recognised legal and professional fees of approximately
RMB18,603,000 during the year ended 31 December 2020. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, part of the legal and professional fees of
approximately RMB10,764,000 were refunded and recognised as other
income of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

8. Hfth (518)  Ukz==/$¥ 8. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS - NET
20224 20214
AREBTT AR®EFT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
edEpEg: S Recovery of bad debts 1,450 2,687
FER (518 W 358 Exchange (losses)/gains, net (773) 1,407
mCBEERE Impairment loss on intangible assets (7,024) =
HEYZE - BERRED Loss on disposal of property,
518 plant and equipment — (56)
Hith Others = 3
(6,347) 4,041
9 HHBWAKRBKZE 9  FINANCE INCOME AND COST
20224 20214
AR®BTT AR®FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
I Finance income
BEREEEMNESREENF  Interest income from financial
BURA assets held for cash management
purposes 9 11
p 7% Finance costs
IRITERMNEMAZ Bank borrowings interest expense (1,579) (1,842)
HESEMNERS Lease liabilities interest expense (88) (165)
(1,667) (2,007)
R 5P A —FER Finance costs — net (1,658) (1,996)

1 64 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
10 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Loss)/profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging

HIEER
20224 20214
AREBTT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
BT A (BREESFHM Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration)
TE i AR EMER] Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
benefits 9,032 16,549
BELEIPIHER Contribution to pension scheme 1,439 1,654
10,471 18,203
B RNEREEEAE Less: Capitalised in intangible assets (2,231) (2,053)
8,240 16,150
SFAMUTR£%E Amounts included in
—tHERA — Cost of sales 1,061 3,190
—iHE REHE X — Selling and marketing expenses 3,088 5,569
— 1T — Administrative expenses 4,091 7,391
TI2ARFBA A Costs of engineering services 17,510 49,283
EREME R HFE R Raw materials and consumables used 83,596 281,628
YEE - R BRI E Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 4,232 4,421
EREEEINTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,153 1,131
m B ESH Amortisation of intangible assets 2,198 1,357
TELL T B IEFESRA R E R 18 Impairment losses, net of reversal
(0kxEEED - recognised on:
— B SRR I FE U R ik — Trade and bills receivables 20,052 6,818
—ER&EE — Contract assets (4,230) 15,868
—H U RIE — Other receivables 24,977 1,725
40,799 24,411
STATTHEZHEEE . Amounts included in administrative
expenses:
FRAEEER Legal and professional fees 3,995 5,782
1% B4 M i B Auditor's remuneration 945 808
(GIE 95 i Research and development costs 4,834 5,838
T _EFER

Annual Report 2022 1 65
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RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

11 FREM (E%R) FxX 11

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES

20225 20214
AR®BTT AR®EF T
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

BIHEATRIE ! Current tax:
FRET b 2EPT1S R PRC Enterprise Income Tax = 4,468
EIEFTISIRIE R Deferred income tax credit (5,764) (3,299)
FriS#i GRS Bz 42%8 Total income tax (credit)/expenses (5,764) 1,169

BERAMER

BEFSRMEH S EREEEERN
BE2E BB Tm A LU8.25% IR T
Mo BB E B AT A LL16.5%89
MR -

AR AEENBALIFRNEBEEN
BREER R ERETRARBAFLEE
(20214F : ®) o

BINFRIFIR

KABIRIRIOIF EFAE A BATE 2R
EEMMIIAARBIRAS - SIRFEM
= A AERGRIEEAERR  BiINEAE
B IEEF BPTEME (19619F) (&(&
) MENEmMBREEERALEEE
B R AR REARENMENREAT
pzZo

PEEEMRSR
AEEGEME QTN HEIAMERER
PSR & s TH IR IR B 220225 522021 F

128318 1L FERITER s R 18 A
BfhsHERR ST B RIRERT R

1 66 China New Energy Limited

Hong Kong profits tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong
(2021: Nil).

Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in Jersey as a public company
with limited liability under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. The
Company is regarded as resident for tax purposes in Jersey and
on the basis that the Group is neither a financial services group
nor a utility group for the purposes of the Income Tax (Jersey)
Law 1961, as amended. The Company is subject to income tax in
Jersey at a rate of zero per cent.

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of the operations
of its subsidiaries in mainland China has been calculated at the
applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable profits for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.
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(RSB BERBIN FIESEEMBARETFT)

FRrigfi (GBE%) B @
chEl & & P8 ()

RIEMN2008FE1 B I HAMMPEARHE
MEAR2FTEME (EEMERE) > B
R RE AR EE BRI R EMERMR
KH25%  BERPR KT RERRZE
FRARE (MFRRIKTT)) iR201 6 P8 A

(ST 2E | 72019 K 20224128
EHE BRHRA=S)  REZE02ER
202112831 H IF FE A ERR R
MR =B EEFRERKHEE

1R 45 B B SR AR 75 48 5 18 B9 — TR I
2R H2008F e » e FHTEIREHIEE
BRNETEHZFERIFERIR A K 5
FERIMEEREEENCBERAEER
BO%RIIRIER T o RIFF B RIS HE R
FR20185F9R NAfmRIF IR UL B BER > 88
SMRIER R G B2 B FBIS0%18
NNEI75% > B20185F F2020F 434 (B4R
%) o RIFHEBERRFEFI2021
FIR|ABVIIRIBBECR » 520214
B REXPENTERMAEERTERI
ISR % EE DI 75 % R = 22 100% ©
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IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES (Continued)

PRC enterprise income tax (Continued)

The enterprise income tax rate applicable to the group entities
located in mainland China is 25% according to the Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “EIT
Law”) effective on 1 January 2008 except Guangdong Zhongke
Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Zhongke Tianyuan”), which was qualified as “High and New
Technology Enterprise” in 2016 and renewed in December 2019
and 2022 with a validity period of three years and was entitled to
a preferential income tax rate of 15% on its estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of
the PRC and effective from 2008 onwards, enterprises engaged
in research and development activities are entitled to claim
an additional tax deduction amounting to 50% of the qualified
research and development expenses incurred in determining its
assessable tax profits for that year. The additional tax deduction
has been increased from 50% of the qualified research and
development expenses to 75%, effective from 2018 to 2020,
according to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by the State
Tax Bureau of the PRC in September 2018 (“Super Deduction”).
Effective from 2021 onwards, the additional tax deduction
rate of the qualified research and development expenses for
manufacturing enterprises has been increased from 75% to
100%, according to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by
the State Tax Bureau of the PRC in March 2021.

ZEZZEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

11 FRER GER) HXZzw@ 11

PEBMFRER

RIFEEFISHA » 200818 1H#E
ETEIRIERERABTDNFEMNEA
5] B12008F 1 A 1H & HREBVFIHEIK
REE R R EIRIPEEER AT

H210% 3807

irEBmkEMEEW@ERANFEANFRS
MBAZ BARRIRAT (B518) | BV HERIN

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

PRC withholding income tax

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES (Continued)

According to the EIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, a
withholding tax of 10% will be levied on the immediate holding
companies outside the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries declare
dividend out of profits earned after 1 January 2008.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss)/profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit

K or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
20224 20214
ARETT ARETTT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Br#3AT (B518) @A (Loss)/profit before tax (56,721) 8,964
BEATEMERETEN Tax at the applicable enterprise
FRIE © 25% (20214 © 25%) income tax rate: 25% (2021: 25%) (14,180) 2,241
MEBABMEEENTE Effect of different tax rates
of subsidiaries 6,264 (1,206)
FERBARLERBEESEN Effect of tax losses and temporary
MIBE B R B R A FARY difference not recognised
as deferred tax assets 1,198 773
TR BRMES » BEZEHRULA  Income not taxable for tax purposes = (16)
IR B RIS » Ae/H0EBESZ  Expenses not deductible for
tax purposes 1,317 335
P EE ST BBV AR Super deduction of research and
development expenditure (363) (958)
(5,764) 1,169

1 68 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

EERFETHRASMNE

RIEBER LR REBQBRPIRE
WFERNEERERITHASMET -

HE2022F 12831 HIEFES S EMN
SEFUOTF ¢

12 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

The remuneration of each director for the year ended
31 December 2022 is set out as follows:

ITE He:
TEAREM BEEZEEHE
ik &7 IR et
AER%ETRT AR%ETR ARETR ARETET
Salaries,

wages,  Contribution
bonuses and to pension
Fees other benefits scheme Total

% Name RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HiTES Executive directors
REBLE Mr. Yu Weijun - 387 = 387
BEKELE Mr. Tang Zhaoxing - 307 43 350
BiE#TES Independent non-executive directors
Richard Antony Bennetts 4 Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 167 3 - 170
BREELE Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 104 29 = 133
BOWEE Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam

(P20226E 128 16 B BHE) (retired on 16 December 2022) 99 43 = 142

370 769 43 1,182
“EZFFR
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

12

EERFTEITHRAEME

)

B E2021F12831H L FERESEAVEN
TEHEITE

12 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended
31 December 2021 is set out as follows:

IE Fes
TEAREM — EEZEE
ik &7 IR Aast
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREBTR
Salaries,
wages, Contribution
bonuses and to pension
Fees  other benefits scheme Total
) Name RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HiTES Executive directors
REGLE Mr. Yu Weijun = 558 = 558
EKELE Mr. Tang Zhaoxing = 460 13 473
BiEHTES Independent non-executive directors
Richard Antony Bennetts 4 Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 177 20 = 197
BRE RS L Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 100 60 = 160
B RE Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam 100 268 = 368
377 1,366 13 1,756

EXBRBAITEFHE TR AR E
BEARERFEBEHRENRER
Bl

EXBRBBIIFRITESEMERRE
TR A B E SR HERIARTE RIS o

FRBEERESNEURETREEM
#BNEYZHE

1 70 China New Energy Limited

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which the directors waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.



IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

13 & & % 13 EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
FroAEERARREHMALTEIE2 The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
SLARNATES (20214 | 32ES) » Hif include 2 directors (2021: 3 directors) of the Company, details of
EMEEIE & _EXXMIEE12 e SZFFER 3% whose emoluments are set out in note 12 above. The emoluments
(20214F : 248) ALRIERBNGOT paid to the remaining 3 (2021: 2) individuals are as follows:
20224 20214
AR®T T ARM¥TT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE Fre ALK Salaries, wages, bonuses
Hhras and other benefits 839 900
BEETEIPHER Contribution to pension scheme 111 25
950 925
REEF T ATBFBNEI U TEE - The emoluments of these remaining individuals of the Group fell
within the following bands:
20224 20214
2022 2021
FroEsE Emolument bands
2= %] ,000,000/8 7T Nil to HKD1,000,000
(*EE 1 A K #859,0007T) (equivalent to RMB859,000)
(20214 : AR #830,0007T) (2021: RMB830,000) 3 2
14 R 14 DIVIDENDS

1220226 > i E R4 A B H BRIk
i EIREHKERIR S > BREEAREE
TMERKMERRS (20214 : ) -

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during 2022, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of the Reporting Period (2021: Nil).
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RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

15 =ik (B8 &F

(a)

(b)

SREF (BER) &BF

BREX (BB B ZRE
KRABEEABGLFEBEN
50,525,000 A B #%(2021 : & &
8421, 000 A R 1) K E@ARRY
NN#EF 35 %1589,758,8980% (2021 :
589,758,898[1%) st& ©

Ski#d B51R) B

HE2022F 2021412831 H LE
FE SRiEE (518 BAHE
SREAR (E518) /‘BAER R
RANRBHEETREEITEET
EEAG o

16 M= KEkKk&H

15

16

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

(LOSS)/EARNING PER SHARE

€)] Basic (loss)/earning per share

The computation of the basic (loss)/earning per share
amount are based on the loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately RMB50,525,000
(2021: profit of RMB8,421,000) and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 589,758,898 (2021:
589,758,898) during the year.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earning per share

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
computation of diluted (loss)/earning per share were the
same as the basic (loss)/earning per share as there were
no potential ordinary shares outstanding during the years.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BF  WARMEG i _E st

AE#ETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Office Motor

Buildings  equipment  Machinery vehicles Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R COST
R2021F181H At 1 January 2021
NE Additions

HE Disposals

RR2021% 128318 At 31 December 2021
HE Additions

HE Disposals
R2022E12H831H At 31 December 2022
ZEtinE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
K221 1818 At 1 January 2021
FRiE Provided for the year
HE Disposals

RR2021% 128318 At 31 December 2021
FREE Provided for the year
HE Disposals
12022128311 At 31 December 2022
fREfE CARRYING VALUES
120224128318 At 31 December 2022
RR2021%12H31H At 31 December 2021

1 72 China New Energy Limited

5772 790 17,788 8516 32,866
= 35 7,204 - 7,239

= = = (613) (613)
5772 825 24992 7,903 39,492
= 22 17 = 39

- - (965) - (965)
5772 847 24,044 7,903 38,566
4,533 548 6,633 6,442 18,156
133 62 3,740 486 4421

= = = (552) (552)
4,666 610 10,373 6,376 22,025
102 60 3,626 444 4,232

- - (@) - (@)
4,768 670 13,997 6,820 26,255
1,004 177 10,047 1,083 12,311
1,106 215 14,619 1,527 17,467
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Office equipment 3-5 years
Buildings 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each Reporting Period.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged
to the consolidated income statements as follows:

20224 20214

ARETT ARETTT

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

TR Administrative expenses 456 452
HE AR Cost of sales 3,734 3,882
THE R EHAY Selling and marketing expenses 42 87
4,232 4,421

2022 2021412831 HAREAREAY
7 N 151,004,00070 % A K #51,106,000
TR F BN IR E R T EEERE
R (EE29) o

Buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,004,000 and RMB1,106,000 as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 respectively were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowings (Note 29).
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(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

17 EHEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

BT
E LA HEF BiR  REEE Hst
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT

Self-
Computer  developed Development
software patents  Trademarks costs Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R COST
120211818 At 1 January 2021
NE Additions
BREEF Transfer to patents
1R2021%12H31H At 31 December 2021
RE Additions
EREER Transfer to patents
12022128311 At 31 December 2022
835 AMORTISATION
R2021%181H At 1 January 2021
FEREE Provided for the year
12021128311 At 31 December 2021
FREE Provided for the year
120224128318 At 31 December 2022
R{E IMPAIRMENT
202261818 At 1 January 2022
FREE Impairment for the year
120224128318 At 31 December 2022
IREE CARRYING VALUES
120224128318 At 31 December 2022
RR2021% 128318 At 31 December 2021

AEBMIPMENE R ERB R EBEE
T E B U RIEAER R 2B
B RE RN EN SRR -HE
2022 F2021€E 12331 HIEEE - E T8
FRABRMAR I M AR EEEF KA
RS MRS ABEEAEE S M
XTI AR AERE S (BIRENERER
THERA) B2 EBAY A A R 17,065,0007T
(20214 : AR#£13908,0007T) ©

1 74 China New Energy Limited

60 17,569 1,374 4,775 23,778
= = = 8971 8971
= 340 = (340) -

60 17,909 1374 13,406 32,749
= = = 2,231 2,231
- 4,113 = (4,113) -

60 22,022 1,374 11,524 34,980

60 3574 297 - 3931
- 1,220 137 - 1,357

60 4,79 434 = 5,288
- 2,061 137 - 2,198
= 6,855 571 = 7,426
= = = 7,024 7,024
= = = 7,024 7,024
= 15,167 803 4,500 20470
= 13,115 940 13,406 27,461

The Group incurred development costs on its research and
development projects for enhancing and upgrading its alcohol and
ethanol production technology, and expanding the business scope
of alcohol and ethanol production. The Group starts to capitalise
development costs upon patent application. During the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, some of the self-developed
technologies were successfully registered as patents of the Group
and the related capitalised development costs were transferred
to self-developed patents of the Group. The total expenditure on
research and development, including capitalised and expensed
costs for the year amounted to approximately RMB7,065,000
(2021: RMB13,908,000).
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IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BEEE® 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
REBIKBBEF LN TS EAEEHER The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life
FRERNELEE | BIEEHIRIfE using the straight-line method over the following periods: The
BEADRESERTREEENBEE useful life of computer software is best estimated based on the
REETREMG BERBITHEN asset’s conditions and management's past experience. The useful
SR ERERIRBEE A ERE life of trademarks and self-developed patents is determined in
FRETE © accordance with relevant laws and regulations.
EASE 105 Computer software 10 years
5L 105 Trademarks 10 years
BiTHRZENER] 10204 Self-developed patents 10-20 years
EREENEBHEGT AGS NaRIVEE Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in cost of
A R A TR FSE © sales and administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statements.
(a) ik =TEhFARYRE 3 B A iR B R (@  Impairment tests for development costs not yet available
B for use
TERESH AT SBIFHEME The following table sets out the key assumptions for
TREREEERE impairment tests for development costs not yet available
for use:
20224 20214
2022 2021
Y e TR R (%) Revenue annual growth rate (%) 5 5
TEEEF)(%) Budgeted gross profit (%) 14 15
RHAE R (%) Long term growth rate (%) 2 25
HRTRGIRZE(%) Pre-tax discount rate (%) 16.9 16.8
“EZFFR
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17 BEEE®

(@)  ERFIE) AR E A RER
= (@)

EEEER THEESRE X
KIBRRNEE:

o« UGEFEEED): GEE
AR T
R

o FEEEF(%): BRELE
BB E R EIEE S
RIARHIFERR

. FEEFAMX REEE
BRNRAREME - H
BN EEENBEERR
STEIBIRTRAS - WA
ZRxMmEEREERI
PR R 8 m BiAL
ZEfRY °

J REEER(%): LA FH
FSMETARE BRRISNR TR
SRNMEFTERR L
RE{TRIREPTETRA—
i&"

. MRABLIRER(%): KA R
HAS I aRT ¥ &E
ROV E R
(b) FERIJIFIEEINTE
B g o] £ B8 72 BE 28 AR AS B9 BR
HE ANBEEREEEEE
BRI EEREZNSELE
EE) > W HEsRE Z 2022612831
BIEFENREBBOARE
7,024,000 (20214F : 4B) <Hi{EAS
BHEEFEARBEEWAN
FEIB R A ERRED  BIE20224F
12A31HIEFE > "EENER
XENEEEERMELRER

{:I:O

1 76 China New Energy Limited
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Impairment tests for development costs not yet available
for use (Continued)

Management has determined the values assigned to each
of the above key assumptions as follows:

° Revenue annual growth rate (%): Average annual
growth rate of comparable patents over the five-
year forecast period.

° Budgeted gross profit (%): Based on past
performance of comparable patents and
management’s expectations for the future.

° Annual capital expenditure: Expected cash costs
in the cash generating unit. This is based on
the historical experience of management, and
the planned refurbishment expenditure. No
incremental revenue or cost savings are assumed
in the value-in-use model as a result of this
expenditure.

° Long term growth rate (%): This is the weighted
average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows
beyond the budget period. The rates are consistent
with forecasts included in industry reports.

o Pre-tax discount rate (%): Reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant industries and the countries
in which they operate.

Impact of possible changes in key assumptions

The recoverable amount is below the carrying amount of
the development costs. The directors and management of
the Company have considered and assessed reasonably
possible changes for the key assumptions and an
impairment loss of approximately RMB7,024,000 was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil). The impairment loss arose is mainly due to decrease
in the budgeted revenue and budgeted net profit, as
the actual performance of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 was underperformed relative to the
management expectations.



(RSB BERBIN FIESEEMBARETFT)

18 FRHESE

IR AT IRR M
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

FHE L HEmE
HizE0) HizEa) et
AR®ETFIT AEETIT AR®ETFIT
Leasehold Leased
lands properties
(Note (7)) (Note (i) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
?2021%F181H At 1 January 2021 2,442 2,708 5,150
TEER Depreciation charge (83) (1,048) (1,131)
120215128310 At 31 December 2021 2,359 1,660 4,019
TEER Depreciation charge (83) (1,070) (1,153)
12022%12H31H At 31 December 2022 2,276 590 2,866
20225 20214
ARETT AR®FIT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
FMERZ Interest expense
Gt AR TSR AN) (included in finance cost) 88 165
BRIEEYEEAAENRSY  Expense relating to short-term leases
GTATTEMAR) in respect of leased properties

HEERT M N AREE

Mzt :

(1)

(i1)

(i)

(included in administrative
expenses)

FEARE E e P EF (F 6 A T B 1 R
B BRI THEA#10E50
£Fo

REEEE FEBG AL EHEWAE
RETES A U HESAHIBELERR
A 1ZE5EE (20214 © 125%F) » WHARRK
AR IR o J B E TR R s T T AT Y
HIRRER A E SN ERWE
TE BB HEVBITEAIBIHAIR °

202212531 AAREIREA SN R B
2,276,000z (20214F | A B #2,359,000
TT) B/ B E B IE 5 K EE BN
BT (H15£29) -

Total cash outflow for leases

Notes:

(1)

(ii)

(i)

141 640
1,371 1,880

It represents the Group’s ownership interests on leasehold land held for
own use in the PRC, with remaining lease term of between 10 and 50
years.

For both years, the Group leases offices and staff dormitories for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5
years (2021: 1 to 5 years) without extension and termination options. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Right-of-use assets with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB2,276,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMBZ2,359,000) were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (Note 29).

ZEIEER
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19

20

BATESFARMEEI
mAEREE

2022 Re2021F 12831 H » AEEIRE
R—RERPEEMAIZAIE LB AN
SXEPEEMM A RATRI2.08%M
> W FEE  BASE B AI#E
PR RN AT ES AR
themEm (AT ES ARMEER
1) B RRE AR D ARRERT o LE R SRER IR
BERFEERRIEDEEAIEE-

BREERATEFB L ERRRIVER
I HYEE35(C) °

BAFESARMERRENEMEE
MAERESHE

B RWRIEREWEE

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

19 FINANCE ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group invested in 2.08%
equity interests in an unlisted company incorporated in the PRC,
Inner Mongolia Zhongneng Biotechnology Co., Ltd., which is not
held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at
initial recognition to recognise in the financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") category. This is
a strategic investment and the Group considers this classification
to be more relevant.

Information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining fair value is provided in Note 35(c).

The financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in RMB.

20 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

202245 20214
ARETT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 U EIE K e ZE % Trade and bills receivables

—$5=75 — third parties 115,385 112,705

A BREWFUEREWEYE  Less: Allowance for credit losses
EEBEERE of trade and bills receivables (42,364) (22,312)
BEEWEIEREWEEBEE  Trade and bills receivables — net 73,021 90,393

1 78 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

20 BEFEWHIEREWES 20 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

€=
RIFSEZ AN E S RRTIERERE An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables based on invoice
¥ FOBRRERE BERBR DT ! date (net of impairment losses) is as follows:
20224 20214
AR®T T ARM¥TT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—FR Within one year 24,961 55,594
—EmE One to two years 7,737 33,877
“E=fF Two to three years 40,323 922
73,021 90,393
2022 R20214E12831H » BB S FEU R As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, trade and bills receivables
BEREWERUAREHE are denominated in RMB.
K2022F12H31H > £ A K 1700,000 As at 31 December 2022, approximately RMB700,000 of bill
(2021 : ) BN ER B IRIRIEADRE receivables (2021: nil) was pledged as security for the Group's
BRI TERAVIER (H5E29) o bank borrowings (Note 29).
BRAE 5 W FUE KR W E R R E TS Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables are
BUEEIEE L MIEE3S(b) set out in Note 35(b).
T _EFER
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

21 HthEWHFIERFEMFRIE 21 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

HAMEWRRIE R R -IEF IR T -

Details of other receivables and prepayments are as follows:

20224 20214
ARETT ARETTT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE S BRI B 5 RRIE (H952(1)) Amounts due from related parties
(note (1)) 42 279
RiITEE R AMEER Amounts due from directors related
BT BB INE S to the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
FIE Option Scheme 389 399
EITEE X AREEMBERAE  Amounts due from employees related
sHEI MY E B IE to the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme 1,854 1,904
IR 58 KB B ER Prepayment for equipment of ethanol
ERIEENRERNRIEA fuel construction and alcoholic
(B =£i) beverage construction projects
(note (i) 30,856 28,510
FEU% <2 > JERB (B aE0i)) Deposits receivables, net (note (jii) 46,842 70,550
Hith > 388 Others, net 1,074 2,574
81,057 104,216

(i)

(iii)

B EN RS BERIRE
KIEE -

Z TN RISE EEIMHER KB
BRI AR IR HIa% 1 1R (T 70 R

BAFIR R A B s A5 5 &
o

JEW 2T BB ERETS
BIMIERAR & PEEDRIEEE
RG] R # B 1B 5 5 R B R A
BT HIFE T 2B BN R
#878,000,0007T (20214 | A FRHE
78,000,0007T) R A B2 1,000,000
7T (20214 : A & #1,000,000
7T) WA R IEH 12T R
B R(B)FF7RE - 1FSCOVID-19%%
IERZ 2 TEE F2022F 12531 H
BB o B F2022F12531 H
LFFEERER R EEEAIN B 15
23,303,0007T (20214 : N RR#
136300057T) °

1 80 China New Energy Limited

(1)

(ii)

(i)

The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable
on demand.

The amounts represent the prepayment for equipment for
use in the ethanol fuel construction and alcoholic beverage
construction projects which the Group has contracted with
the customers, which will be recognised as cost of sales
when the equipment is delivered.

Deposits receivables mainly represents up-front payments
for guaranteeing performance of the contracts to Inner
Mongolia Zhongneng Biological Technology Co., Ltd.
of RMB78,000,000 (2021: RMB78,000,000) which
will be returned upon the project completes and to Xin
Jiang Botai Energy Co., Ltd. of RMB1,000,000 (2021:
RMB1,000,000) which will be returned upon the project
initiates. Due to the COVID-19 epidemic impacts, the
projects were not yet initiated as at 31 December 2022.
Impairment losses of approximately RMB23,303,000 were
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB1,363,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

21 HthFEWFIEKRTESHIE 21

€= (Continued)

AR EE R FB A RUBR I T &S5

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

Other receivables and prepayments are denominated in:

&
20224 20214
ARETT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR RMB 78,306 101,414
HEE GBP 2,751 2,769
BIT HKD = 33
81,057 104,216

HAE W 2 BE s BRI s

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set out

35(b) e in Note 35(b).
22 SREE 22 CONTRACT ASSETS
20224 20214
ARETT N
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERASAFRN Contract assets relating to
EREE construction contracts 285,437 290,659

B E R Less: Loss allowance (21,565) (25,795)
EREE—F5 Contract assets — net 263,872 264,864

R2021F1811 > ERBENETIEABA

F#%143,841,0007T © RMB143,841,000.

As at 1 January 2021, contract assets amounted to approximately

ZEZZEER
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22

23

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

EREE ® 22 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)
HEREEFEAAEBRWEETR A The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
HE TEMERRENENERH FEEA consideration for work completed and not billed because the
BRI BRI AREBBRKKITM rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The
T BARMENRARGAHR SR&EE contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
e B S ENEIE BN AEE T8 become unconditional. The Group classifies these contract assets
R HEEREEBENEZECREE as current because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
IR AR H A RIS E operating cycle.
REE KSR EI0RNERBERR The Group typically agrees to a retention period of one year after
REZREE TR E AR —FNREB- the completion of construction project for 5% to 10% of the
HER A EEZAZEABERNEUAR contract value. This amount is included in contract assets until the
RAEBEN T ERESIER U > HA Bl end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this final
FIEFAGREE BEERZBHGEERS payment is conditional on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing
1Eo7R20226E 128310 » st A G RIEER inspection. At 31 December 2022, the retention receivables (net
FEWREE & (OFREEEE WA AR of loss allowance) included in the contract assets amounted to
3,221,0007T (20214 : AR #35,617,000 approximately RMB3,221,000 (2021: RMB35,617,000).
7T) ©
HEBEEEINTBERAERREIRE Contract assets have increased as the Group has provided more
GRNHREERZAIREEZ R R services ahead of the agreed payment schedules for service
B EEFIBE I HIEE35(0) contracts. Details of the impairment assessment are set out in
Note 35(b).
=8 23 INVENTORIES
20224 20214
AR®TT AR®F T
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEA Raw materials 4,762 442
ERah Finished goods 585 =
TETMHER G Work-in-progress for standard parts 4,001 6,692
9,348 7,134

1 82 China New Energy Limited
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(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

24 SRITHBRKRIRE 24 BANK BALANCES AND CASH
20225 20214
ARETT N
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITAFHEERES Cash at bank and on hand 1,879 6,904
IRITHEERIZN F0.02%E030% (20214 : Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
002%ZFE030%) IHIZHZEET S o 0.02% t0 0.30% (2021: 0.02% to 0.30%).
RITRFEREIEUATEREEHE - Cash at banks and on hand were denominated in:
20225 20214
ARETT N
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR (H1zE) RMB (Note) 1,626 5,827
BT HKD 167 1,029
HgE GBP 33 32
=7t usD 48 2
Hthai Other currencies 5 14
1,879 6,904
Hiat - Note:
TN BE & 72 1 25 51 5 E 38 T [ S B B FE 154 Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations.
IRTT/EER R EIRIRIR T ER 2R E G Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged
SHIBEFHMIEE3Sb) bank deposits are set out in Note 35(b).
SR
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25 B FEM=IE 25 TRADE PAYABLES

20225 20214

AR®BTT AR®EF T

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 EIRIA Trade payables 98,275 106,911

2022 R20214E12H31 H » 1RiE =
BRI B2 5 FE (SR IBERYBREE DA T

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of trade
payables based on invoice date was as follows:

20224 20214

AR®ETT AR®TFIT

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

DR —& less than one year 23,235 84,939
1Z24F 1-2 years 54,066 9,471
2FE3FE 2-3 years 8,504 7,751
3IFEE over 3 years 12,470 4,750
98,275 106,911

REBN2022F K2021F12A31HHN E
ZERMNTEANUAREE-

The Group's trade payables as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
were denominated in RMB.

26 HthFE=IA 26 OTHER PAYABLES

202245 20214
ARETT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE(TIBETR VAT payable 61,020 53,594
HhpE(IaIE R et & A Other payables and accruals 19,554 18,654
BRIE Wages payables 4,422 3,384
T EEIIE (I32) Amounts due to directors (Note) 250 382
85,246 76,014

gz Note:

JENTAIE BT BERILERIEE

1 84 China New Energy Limited

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

26 HthEFRIE @ 26 OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
HtEAFIERA T EEEHE - Other payables were denominated in:
20224 20214
AR#ETT ARH¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
— AR -RMB 82,210 73,190
—BTT - HKD 2,946 2,732
— 4% - GBP 90 92
85,246 76,014
27 EsRE&fHE 27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
20224 20214
ARETT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
BMEESLARN Contract liabilities relating to
aE&aE construction contracts 25,145 21,823
HEEEEFHBR AE B WEZE When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity
REeRFABIEEERAE BE commences, this gives rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
FEAcREEs W aBBREEEE contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract
Ao RER N IFEREERBTE exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group typically receives a
FFUER15% E30% 2 & KRR TE 15%-30% deposit on acceptance of construction services orders
BUARTUWEN15% E30% 2 2 & o 122021 and 15%-30% deposit before construction work commences. As
FIRIR  cREENEENA AR at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
20,226,0007z ° RMB20,226,000.
T _EFER
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(FRBAEREIN FRESEEENA AR T IT)
27 EE&EE®

TRBTRINE E 20224 K2021412H31
HItFERINEAGESEEERMN
W e RE MU B B 20224 572021
FI2A3HIEFEEBITHNBOERES

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities and how much relates to performance
obligations that were satisfied in the year ended 31 December

REAIUS TR B8 o 2022 and 2021.
2022% 20214
ARETT AR®TFIT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
REY A ERBEEGERN Revenue recognised that was included

S in the contract liabilities balance

at the beginning of the year 10,330 12,863
28 RIERIEBEE 28 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
0] IRERIEEE 0] Deferred tax assets
RERIBEEDIU T : The analysis of deferred tax assets is as follows:
20225 20214
AREFT AR®&TFIT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
IEICFRIBE E - Deferred tax assets:

—BRBRI2ER%E — to be recovered after more than
el 12 months 14,607 8,567
— #1218 B AU =] — to be recovered within 12 months 1,287 1,269
15,894 9,836

1 86 China New Energy Limited
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

EEREEE @ 28 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)
(i IRERIBEBEE (B (i) Deferred tax assets (Continued)
RIS EEEU T - The movements on the deferred tax are as follows:
20225 20214
ARETT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
R4 At beginning of the year 9,836 6,479
T AIE® Credited to profit or loss 5,764 3,299
FFAEMEERE Credited to other comprehensive
income 294 58
RER At end of the year 15,894 9,836

B E2022F 20214 12831H 1E
FERIEIERIEE EES) (X
R B—MRFE B A& YA R

The movements in deferred tax assets for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax

B W jurisdiction, are as follows:
BATE
RBH  HAHM
RIREE  MEHER BTRA HE #ESE 2EKE st
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Bad debt Deferred Unutilised
provision Accruals income Lease tax loss FVTOCI Total
BERESE Deferred tax assets RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R2021%181H At 1 January 2021 4904 1,147 360 45 - 23 6,479
ARG Credited to profit or loss
Hitt2mE R or other comprehensive
income 3,663 - (360) (4) - 58 3,357
120214 At 31 December 2021
12A31H 8,067 1,147 - 41 - 81 9,836
1202251818 At 1 January 2022 8,067 1,147 - 41 - 81 9,836
ARG Credited to profit or loss
Hitt2E R m or other comprehensive
income 6,040 (523) = (22) 269 294 6,058
120224128318 At 31 December 2022 14,607 624 - 19 269 375 15,894
“EZFFR

187

Annual Report 2022



rRE MR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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28 RERIBEEE @

28 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (continued)

(i) fRIEEIE Tax losses
2022% 20214
AREBTT AR®EFT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
WERBEERIEEE  Unused tax losses for which
R AMRIERSE no deferred tax asset has
been recognised 11,979 5,682
BRI ERTER Temporary differences calculated
METHEE R EEE at applicable enterprise
income tax rate 2,612 1,421

NERFR IR IRTS AR TP EIRY
MEBAREL MZARNRAR
R AR P BEEE LEFERIR LA

The unused tax losses were incurred by a subsidiary
located in the PRC that is not likely to generate taxable
income in the foreseeable future. Their respective expiry

HEBE MBI T dates are as follows.
20224 20214
AR®TT ABR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
20224 2022 - 29
20234 2023 1,281 1,281
20244 2024 1,278 1,278
20254 2025 3,094 3,094
2026%F 2026 6,326 -
11,979 5,682

1 88 China New Energy Limited
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

28 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)

(iii) KRERNYGRFZEEE (iii)  Unrecognised temporary differences

20225 20214
AREBTT AR®ETFTT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

BURFESTIRERIEEE  Temporary differences relating to

M EA B R ER R investments in subsidiaries for

BB E%E - which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised:

—RDBECBRF] — Undistributed earnings 113,460 156,197

R20224F K 2021412531 H > H
MRTREREEEPRRT
SR IEERAR (MEEX
70)) IR DEEF DR EHL
# AR 15113,460,0007c ;2 A R 15
156,197,0007T * B {F A3 AR B3 A1 2
AZAR IR FERINM - ERINE
Iy 72 SR 7 71 (B S hE SRR AERR
BAE RER SR E]EMHIESR
B8 2 BB 0 K Bs ] > T B TR AR
RER A RRRDIKZ A o

Zhongke Tianyuan and Guangdong Boluo Zhongke
Tianyuan High and New Technology Engineering
Co., Ltd. (“Boluo Tianyuan”) have undistributed
earnings amounting in aggregate to approximately
RMB113,460,000 and approximately RMB156,197,000
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively, which,
if paid out as dividends, would be subject to tax in the
hands of the shareholder. An assessable temporary
difference exists, but no deferred tax liability has been
recognised as the parent entity is able to control the timing
of distributions from the subsidiaries and is not expected to
distribute these profits in the foreseeable future.

ZEZZEER
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29 fRITE™

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

29 BANK BORROWINGS

20225 20214
ARETT ARB¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ENHA Current

— Bk — Secured 25,526 21,520
— KR — Unsecured 1,606 2,843
27,132 24,363

JEENHA Non-Current
—BIiKH — Secured 1,350 7,500
28,482 31,863

@) 1120225 20215 12H31H » &
EEFTARITIEFIEUARES

=k

(b) AE B 20226F K 2021412831
ANERBRTERNVARE

(@

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the Group’s
bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.

The Group's secured bank borrowings as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 of approximately RMB26,876,000 and

26,876,0007% 52 A R #29,020,000 approximately RMB29,020,000 respectively were secured
ToH A IB IR by the following.

20224 20214
AREFT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
L IEN V=Y Property, plant and equipment 1,004 1,106
EREEE Right-of-use assets 2,276 2,359
PRI =45 Bill receivables 700 =
3,980 3,465

PRES EE RSN - 722021512831
B > $R1TEREI A R #393,0007T

==R N[ NSRS

LSRR

B=iHE

1120224 K 2021412431 H > il
RFHERMERD R %4.83% K

4.62%°
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In addition to pledge of assets, bank borrowings of
approximately RMB393,000 as at 31 December 2021
were guaranteed by Mr. Jiang Xinchun, the general
manager of the Company's subsidiary.

The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 were 4.83% and 4.62%
respectively.
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29 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

(c)

(d)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximated
their fair values as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 as the
impact of discounting borrowings with fixed interest rates
was not significant.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s bank
borrowings were repayable as follows:

20225 20214
ARETT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
1R Within 1 year 27,132 24,363
15225 Between 1 and 2 years 300 7,500
Peles Between 2 and 5 years 1,050 -
28,482 31,863
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30 HHE&AR 30 LEASE LIABILITIES
20224 20214F
AREBTT AR®EFTT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHHAEaE: Lease liabilities payable:
—FR Within one year 718 1,186
—F U ERBERE L Within a period of more than one year
HAEA but not exceeding two years = 746
718 1,932
B OmEBEE TR Less: Amount due for settlement
128 B N EIBRAS 89 within 12 months shown
IR under current liabilities (718) (1,186)
JEREIAEIE MR Amount due for settlement
1218 B & BIHR4E 1989 after 12 months shown under
TIE non-current liabilities = 746
BAREESEZNIEFSIE S ERRF The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease
K A653% (20214F © 653%) © liabilities was 6.53% (2021: 6.53%).
31 KR&F 31 SHARE CAPITAL
ZiERHE B s &S
THEE AR®F T
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital Share capital
GBP’'000 RMB’000
ERE Authorized:
120214 F220224F As at 31 December 2021 and
12H31H 2022 40,000,000,000 10,000 N/A 7 FB
BERTLEHE : Issued and fully paid:
120214 220224 At 31 December 2021
12H31H and 2022 589,758,898 147 1,762
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32 f#fE 32 RESERVES
#ATE
SHARA
2ERENE
she HEE
RiEE BfHE EEE BERE 1] AR st
Hize) Hize) Hic) M) fize)
Foreign Financial
currency assets
Share  Combination Statutory translation at FVTOCI Retained
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves eamings Total
note () note (b) nofe(c) note (@) note (&)
12021515 1R K& Balance at 1 January 2021 132761 (33,156) 27934 23858 (132 89,583 240848
EREF Profit for the year = = = = = 8421 8421
Bt 2EEE Other comprehensive loss = = = 847 (324) = (1,171)
BT LEHE Transfer to statutory reserves = = 1,081 = = (1,081) =
WE—FNEAT (H333) Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33) = = - - - _ _
12021512731 ABOKERS Balance at 31 December 2021 132,761 (33,156) 2015 23011 (456) %923 218,098
12022518 1B 048 Balance at 1 January 2022 132761 (33,156) 2015 23011 (456) %923 218,098
FREE Loss for the year = = = = = (50,525) (50,525)
Bt 2EEE Other comprehensive loss = = - (1,205) (1,668) - (2,893)
1202261231 ABOERS Balance at 31 December 2022 132761 (33,156) 2015 21,786 (2,124) 16,398 194,680
(a) BEMHiEHE (@  Share premium
BIOIRMGIEENRG RED B Share premium arising from the issue of shares can be
RIGINESHENE R E AR utilised in increasing paid-in capital as approved by the
directors.
(b) EHEHEE (b)  Combination reserves
BHEFEIEREEESGHEERR Combination reserve represents the differences between
AEBWBEERNEEFER the nominal amount of net assets of the combining entities
BEEAWENEREZEN under common control at the date on which they were
ERHo acquired by the Group and the nominal amount of the

consideration for the acquisition.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

EE R

s STy NERIET i fa v b
BARBRAIRAKREG > IRE
FR AT ZEWB AT A
BOEERB TR BRIEES
BELERE EEXEERB
ZEEHFEMEARS0%4 L 1RiE
ME R E B BIFRHENE
ABWRFHEBRIATEA LD
IKTFRBE

SN E R

MWEBINEEEL Z EREER
P EE3Fr LA Bt 2 I UR et FEEST
R Em AR ERHE DR
RETEEEN HERE PR TR

DEEEBme

BRAFEF ARt E @K@
BRNETREE

FEREZNH 2 E R
RAEZSFRENATEES) %
FEFPR@mARRATES A
Hith2EW@HEENEREERN
R 5t o IRABRAIR A G 5548 LEFEST
B AEBRZHEESEERE

REBEF] o
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

32 RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Statutory reserves

According to the rules and regulations applicable to the
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, when
distributing net profits of each year, these subsidiaries
are required to transfer an amount of their net profits as
reported in their statutory accounts to statutory reserves
until the accumulated balance of such reserves reaches
50% of their registered capital. Depending on the nature,
the statutory reserves can be used to set off accumulated
losses of the subsidiaries or distribute to the owners in
form of bonus issue.

Foreign currency translation reserves

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign
operations are recognised in other comprehensive
income as described in Note 3 and accumulated in a
separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount
is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is
disposed of.

Financial assets at FVTOCI reserves

The Group has elected to recognise changes in the
fair value of investments in equity securities in other
comprehensive income. These changes are accumulated
within the financial assets at FVTOCI reserves within
equity. The Group transfers amounts from this reserve to
retained earnings when the relevant equity securities are
derecognised.
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FEMRBRRIR 33 LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
DU AR 20226 K 2021 F 12831 B = The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December
EE ARSI 2022 and 2021:
B4 AT B¥TR 1202F12R318 120215128318
Gk BIbERAMH &R BREs  SEEEGRE  FEERGRE IEIBREEME
Attributable equity  Attributable equity
Place and date of interest of the Group  interest of the Group
incorporation/ Registered Issued and fully s at 31 December  as at 31 December  Principal activities and

Company name establishment capital paid capital 2022 2021 place of operation

BRER .

Directly owned:

BRTRATIAR e 1095559%  1095559% T 100% 0% REERECBEERRRIGE
BEAT (AT 200689828 it

Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan The PRC, USD 10.955,529 USD 10,955,529 100% 100%  Provision of ethanol production system
New Energy Science 2 September 2006 technology integrated services in
and Technology Co., Lid. the PRC
(‘Zhongke Tianyuan”)

B .

Incirectly owned:

ERERETRAEY & ARE5000000  ARH5,000,0007 100% 100% RAERERENEX R AR
K TRERAR 1998595 305 REdERE
(MB%%T)

Guangdong Boluo Zhangke  The PRC, RMB5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Fabrication and manufacture of
Tanyuan Highand New 30 September 1998 equipment in accordance with
Technology Engineering project requirements and designs
Co,, Lid. (“Boluo inthe PRC
Tanyuan”)

ENTHREARAT  RE2018E8E8E ARKLO0000%  ARELO00000T 51% % RRERERIEERE

Guangzhou Hydrogen Power  The PRC, RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 b1% 51%  Provision of technology development
Technology Co., Lid. 8 August 2018 (Note) senvices in the PRC

MisE: 202012820 AEE (EABH) B— Note: ~ On 2 December 2020, the Group as a purchaser entered into sale
LBUS=H (EAER) TUEERER and purchase agreement, and the supplemental agreement dated 14

FA0020ME 128 148 ST ST E H L% » LUUKES December 2020, with an independent third party as the vendor to acquire
) 51% of equity interests in Guangzhou Hydrogen Power Technology

J;%J\\‘\ﬁ@]ﬂ}i%ﬁ@j&ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%&s’,%%!T)CEZ% Co., Ltd. at a total consideration of RMB544,000. The acquisition was

AE5544,0007T - 2B B IR E /202141 completed on 4 January 2021, which is also the acquisition date for

B4R rAmEstBENZ R 5Ee accounting purpose.
- o et
BXREEEE 34 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
REBEEBEEEAR UERAEENE The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
BB BESLIFBEELSE B BE1E will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
B hEmEGRAERS NBRIRRKE return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
o RER L ABEERILH FFEHRT balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
o prior year.
REBNEREHEIEET 2P EIE The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
IRITIER (15529) RAA BB AFEML bank borrowings (Note 29), and equity attributable to owners of
#m (BEEETRARERAREM the Company, comprising issued share capital, retained earnings
&) o and other reserves.
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3 EXRAKBEIE® 34 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
KABIEETFHABRERGEE (FALL The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly.
BERN—IR EFEZEBEAMEAR As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
ZBERFERIFTMHENRR - RIEEEE and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
) REBBZEBETIRE E1THR recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
KRB THERNERREEH AT overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
HERERGHE - REBNWAZHINE share issue and the issue of new debt or the redemption of
RSN ERER AN BV ES AN B2 3K o B 20225 K¢ existing debt. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
2021 F 12831 HIEFE  BEAEEREZE capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
BR RomAR it i IR e E) o policies or process for managing capital during the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021.

35 £RITH 35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) E=MIANDE (@  Category of financial instruments
20224 20214
ARETT AE®TFIT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
EMBEE Financial assets
IR AS ST E R Financial assets at amortised cost
TREE
=Ryl e =Y Trade and bills receivables
R EEE 73,021 90,393
HAhEWIa Other receivables 50,201 75,706
IRITAEFRRIRE Bank balances and cash 1,879 6,904
BAFEFAHMEE Financial assets at FVTOCI
W ERE E 2,502 4,463
127,603 177,466
ERaE Financial liabilities
GRS E D Financial liabilities at amortised cost
ERaE
B 5 R EMENFRIE Trade and other payables
(R EFEEMIGER) (excluding VAT payable) 122,501 129,331
HEASE Lease liabilities 718 1,932
SRITER Bank borrowings 28,482 31,863
151,701 163,126
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, bank balances
and cash, financial assets at FVTOCI, trade and other
payables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with the financial instruments include
market risks (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Currency risk

Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity.

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of
transactions denominated and settled in RMB, which is
the functional currency of the entities in the Group. The
Group was exposed to currency risk arising from foreign
currency transactions, primarily with respect to Great
Britain Pound (“GBP”), United States Dollar (“USD”) and
HKD.

The Group has not hedged its foreign exchange rate
risk exposure. However, management of the Group
monitors currency risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant currency risk exposure should the need arise.
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35 £ERIT A @ 35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) HHEEAMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

HE B (2 Market risk (Continued)

E%R (&) Currency risk (Continued)

NEFZEHFEARAFRBEE > A& The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
BLOMNESHENEKEERGH denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
BEMNREEWDT the respective dates of consolidated statement of financial

position are as follows:

20224 20214
ARETT ARETTT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
T GBP
—H A FEWFIA — Other receivables 2,751 2769
— RIS RIRE — Bank balances and cash 33 32
—HAENFIA — Other payables 90 92
E7T usD
— RIS RIRE — Bank balances and cash 48 2
BT HKD
—IRTHERR IR — Bank balances and cash 167 1,029
—HAhFEWRIE — Other receivables — 33
—HENRIE — Other payables 2,946 2,732
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

BHEEREEEEREE (&) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
HEEE (4 Market risk (Continued)
E5R b (&) Currency risk (Continued)
TERIRA R D IRAER N The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
EN5%BIBRLE D AT - BURE 24T change in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
EEELUMESHENERRIER > The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency
WRERFAEREINEERES) denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
5% o YNR A R IR IAAERA G 1 F at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
8,82 (E5% > QIZEEHBRRE Should RMB strengthened/weakened by 5% against the
AR IR R EN T relevant currencies, the effect on post-tax profit or loss for
the years would be as follows:
PRRR &N SRS RSB G N
wA R A8 R BRI
1 INES18)
20224 20214
ARBTT AR®EFTT
Change of post-tax profit or loss
increase profit or decrease loss/
(decrease profit or increase loss)
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB against GBP:
FHES% Strengthened by 5% (114) (115)
B2 1E5% Weakened by 5% 114 115
AREBRET ! RMB against USD:
FHES% Strengthened by 5% (2) =
B2 {E5% Weakened by 5% 2 =
ARBRET RMB against Hong Kong dollar
(BTl (“HKD"):
FHE5% Strengthened by 5% 118 71
B2 (5% Weakened by 5% (118) (71)
ARSI RN Fair value interest rate risk

FAEENEENKEABRKRBEEE
MEMER S AEEEEAF
BFRER - NEET)ERET]
KA R AN A EBF R E R

B/ 488
o

AEE HARETEAFHEHALL
HREAZE R o

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from borrowings
with fixed rates, which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The Group closely monitors trend of
interest rate and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk
exposure.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

BHEEREEEEREE (@) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EE R G RBEFFEG Credit risk and impairment assessment
AEEHBREESREE -B5 The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
FE U R IE K FEW 4 ~ EAEUR contract assets, trade and bills receivables, other
MIE RIS RIRE U R ER receivables, bank balances and cash and pledged
HIRTERERNEERRK B bank deposits. The carrying amounts of trade and
SEWGEIE R FEUR 4% ~ HfhAE bills receivables, other receivables, bank balances and
WERIB N IRITAE R RIS UK E cash and pledged bank deposits represent the Group's
IR TTERNREEARNER maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
MEMBEMSNRAEER assets. The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
Fo MRV AERTHMEE M the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, which are
SREE CBETTEPEERE subject to ECL assessment:
) BEE R
12(8R =2 A
AEEETHR TEHEEESE AREAR(E
ARET
Internal 12-month Gross
202245 Kzt credit or carrying
2022 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
RMB’000
FBIEAETEA  Financial assets at
TREE amortised costs
IRTTEEGRRIRE Bank balances and cash 24 FN): 128 B T8 HA 1,879
N/A EEHHE
12-month-ECL
EWEE Bills receivables 20 (M35i) 1218 B Y858 2,200
(note i) EEBE
12-month-ECL
B S REWTIE Trade receivables 20 (Ffd5Ei) 2 HATAHA 113,185
(note i) =HE1E
Lifetime ECL
GREE Contract assets 22 (g 2 HATEHA 285,437
(note i) =EkEiE
Lifetime ECL
H e WIS Other receivables 21 (FffsEii) 1218 A Fa4A 6,416
(note ii) EEEE
12-month-ECL
H RIS Other receivables 21 (Pt =iii) 2 HATEHA 78,000
(note iii) EEBE
Lifetime ECL

2 00 China New Energy Limited
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

2ERmEH
AHBEETA TEHEEES IRMm4ARE
AREBTT
Internal 12-month Gross
20214 Kzt credit or carrying
2021 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
RMB’000
FSER A St EHEY  Financial assets at
TRIEE amortised costs
IRITEGR RIS Bank balances and cash 24 BB 128 B 84 6,904
N/A (S5t
12-month-ECL
EWEE Bills receivables 20 (=) 1218 5 784A 2,080
(note i) EEE18
12-month-ECL
B S REWRTIE Trade receivables 20 (i =Ei) 2 HATEHA 110,625
(note i) EEE18
Lifetime ECL
EREE Contract assets 22 (i =Ei) 2 HATEHA 290,659
(note i) EEE18
Lifetime ECL
HAhpE WIS Other receivables 21 (Pft i) 1218 5 784A 84,944
(note i) EEE18
12-month-ECL
= Notes:
0] FLE S ERRIE BN EE R S (i) For trade receivables, bills receivables and contract assets,
[FIEETM 5 » &% E E A the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to
B REZER BTN 412 measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for items
RIS B 1R 2R 1R that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
1 o BRAETTIE RSP ES (8 impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on these
FEETT R EFTE) Sf » KEEE s iterns by past due status.
KB REEZEEE AR
V27 k
(i) BETASEERREE K (i) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
[FRFEE S EERAEE Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
R R SRS AR B A NG ] © 7 has increased significantly since initial recognition. As at 31
20227 R 2021 E12531 H » i December 2022 and 2021, these balances are either not past
BRI BB IR EEAR N o due or does not have fixed repayment.
(i) Bt E2022F 12531 HIFEE - (iii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, a debtor of other

RE(BEEFN LRI E
BERECE Fil g ELLE A
JEW B EF A 78,000,000
H& (20214F : 78,000,000 FHE)
EBBE BB A
FIR MR REIE » 55 2 BT A
21(ii)

receivable of amount RMB78,000,000 (2021: RMB78,000,000)
has been transferred to lifetime ECL as the project status
associated with the deposit paid to the debtor was paused and
significantly delayed. For details of the other receivable, please
refer to Note 21(ii).
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) MBEREEBRRKRER (8 (b)

15 B Jm 2 R B 1B 5T 1 (4

ESEBUHNERESEEE

FERREERMFFREEDS
IEBVRERBMERIH EHE

RHIEEHEER &

I

BRIEENE 5 BUTIEIIRA

SHATRRIR IR A -

VA ES 4

HEWREE (ORIRTARER
BERNEEREBRAR  BREAR
RITNAERNFHEHEZE
EEREERTRZERERE

IHo

HEMENNE

HtEWRIENEERBRESE

B SHFENRRRZHTF
B ARRBVBEE R A E MR
IRIREITEHE - AR B BB G
HEW R ES RS R
REIR R R R BRI RT AEME L E
BEREERR  HERTAIE

BiEsiEm

RITREER KRR E

rEBRHECHNEERARE
RABKZEHFHRAER
FEEERIRIT REART
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
contract assets and trade receivables.

Bills receivables

The credit risk associated with bills receivables, which
are all bank acceptance drafts, is limited because the
accepting bank will cash the bills unconditionally when the
Group presents these bills on due dates.

Other receivables

The credit risk of other receivable has been assessed with
reference to historical information about the counterparties
default rate and financial position of the counterparties.
The Group recognised the allowance for expected credit
losses by assessing the credit risk characteristics of other
receivables, discount rate and the likelihood of recovery
and considering the prevailing economic conditions.

Bank balances and cash

The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited

because the majority of the counterparties are international
banks and state-owned banks with good reputation.
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

HMEEREEBEREE (& (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
B R EFFE () Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
AITERPEERE BRI To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
FIEREREENIREREEE and contract assets have been grouped based on shared
Bl a iR D E 5 F credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The
BERAFAENTRIZMER contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
REEER wEARERESRE retention receivables and have substantially the same risk
HNEZEWHRIEESAREREN characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types
Rt At REERRA B of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the
SREBGEIBNTEREEEA SR expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
BEEBBENGIEALUE. approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.
FEHIBREDERHE—EER The expected loss rates are based on the estimated
ARANEEHEAEIENIBR default rates and loss given default applied to each
o WHEBFER P EE R category of debtor, adjusted for forward-looking information
TERE DM R A T (R =R B A B4 on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
BEiRE TR customers to settle the receivables.
REEBBREBEIRS £0EE Analysis of trade and bills receivables and contract assets
S EWGERIE K FEW B3R LUK & F) by categories based on method of provision for credit loss
BEZDM allowance
RMB’000
ARETIT
2022 20215
2022 2001
IREEE FEBRRE IREAEE FEBREE
Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance
S8 HAK S8 WH% KEE  SE  WA%  2E  BA%  BEE
Proportion Proportion Carrying Proportion Proportion Carrying
Category ] Amount (%) Amount (%) amount Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
Provision on individual basis (BRI E# R
- Trade and bills receivables —EZEBFIEREKZE 74,730 19 (34,407) 460 40,323 45,655 11 (1384 304 31,791
- Contract assets —-ERBE 13,390 3 (6,513) 48.6 6,877 45,751 11 (6,955) 15.2 38,796
Provision on portfolio basis M AEER
- Trade and bills receivables —EZEBFIEREINZHE 40,655 10 (7,957) 196 32,698 67,050 17 (8,448) 126 58,602
- Contract assets —-ERBE 272,047 68 (15,052) 55 256,995 244,908 61 (18,840) 7.7 226,068
Total @it 400822 100 (63929) - 33683 43364 100 48107 - 357
T _EFER
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35

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

EMT AR @ 35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) MBEAKREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EEEERBEFG (E) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

REEEEEER S EDEE Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract

SRWFIE -BREERENERE assets by categories based on method of provision for

EZ O (&) credit loss allowance (Continued)

@) ER BESHREE IR 0) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
BENEZRNTIBREG for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
BEEZ D : individual basis:

RMB’'000
AREFIT
2022 F HAK 45 R
2022 Closing Balance

IREAE FEHERE EE6l(%) BEREE

Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion Reason for

Item IEH amount allowance (%) provision
Trade receivables 1 B3 EWEIE] = = N/A Note FfzE (i)
Trade receivables 2 B RWRIAE2 8 (8) 100%  Note Fi3E (ii)
Trade receivables 3* B 5 fEdFaE3 67,146 (26,823) 40%  Note FfizE (iii)
Trade receivables 4* B 5 e 2,384 (2,384) 100%  Note 3% (ii)
Trade receivables 5 B3 REEIED 1,617 (1,617) 100%  Note Ft3E (ii)
Trade receivables 6* EE Y ale =Y = = N/A  Note Ft3E (ii)
Trade receivables 7 B RWRET 2,506 (2,506) 100% Note FfzE (i)
Trade receivables 8 B EWFIES 89 (89) 100%  Note Ft3E (ii)
Trade receivables 9* B 5 e FIEY 980 (980) 100% Note FftzE (i)
Trade receivables 10* &5 EWFIAL0* = = N/A  Note FizE (i)
Contract assets 1* EREEL* 11,451 (4,574) 40%  Note FfizE (iii)
Contract assets 2 BREE? = = N/A  Note Ft3E (ii)
Contract assets 3* BREES" 136 (136) 100%  Note Fi3E (ii)
Contract assets 4* BREEL 462 (462) 100% Note FfzE (i)
Contract assets 5 BREES 440 (440) 100%  Note Ft3E (ii)
Contract assets 6* BREEL = = N/A  Note FizE (i)
Contract assets 7* BREET 901 (901) 100%  Note iz (ii)

88,120 40,920

WTFEHBER—7
85 RRIES R G R
BEL;

85 EWGRIEAR &7
BET;

B ZEWRIE6 KR 5 F
HE3;

8 5 RURIEIR &R
BES R

B REREIOKRS
FE&EE6°

2 04 China New Energy Limited

The following pairs represent each of the same party.

Trade receivables 3 and contract assets 1;

Trade receivables 4 and contract assets 7;

Trade receivables 6 and contract assets 3;

Trade receivables 9 and contract assets 4; and

Trade receivables 10 and contract assets 6.



35

(b)

IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

TR w 35

MHERREEBRREE (@)

15 B /m 2 R B 1B 5F 1 (A

RIEEFREHEHE AN EE
ZREWRIE BB RERERE
EZ M (8

@) BRI BEAESHRIEERER
BHENEZSRIEERS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract
assets by categories based on method of provision for
credit loss allowance (Continued)

(i) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on an

REEZ D (8 individual basis: (Continued)
2021 AR AR
2021 Closing balance
RHEE FEEHEEE EEBI(%) BER
Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion Reason for
ltem 15H amount allowance (%) provision
Trade receivables 1 EEraleREll 1,732 (1,732) 100.0% Note P& (i)
Trade receivables 2 B EFIE2 8 ®) 100.0% Note Fff5E (if)
Trade receivables 3* B 5 EWFaE3 35,351 (3,560) 10.1% Note FFIEE (ii)
Trade receivables 4* R yaleEly 2,334 (2,384) 100.0% Note FfEE (if)
Trade receivables 5 B REWFIED 1,617 (1,617) 100.0% Note Fff5E (if)
Trade receivables 6* R rale =Y 30 (30) 100.0% Note Fff5E (if)
Trade receivables 7 el eNEy 2,506 (2,506) 100.0% Note Ffi5E (i)
Trade receivables 8 B 5 EdFIaEs 89 (89) 100.0% Note Ffi&E (ii)
Trade receivables 9 B 5 IR 930 (980) 100.0% Note FfI5E (i)
Trade receivables 10* &5 FEWFIAL0* 958 (958) 100.0% Note i =E (ii)
Contract assets 1* EEEEL 43,140 (4,344) 10.1% Note FizE (ii)
Contract assets 2 BRBEE2 1 o) 100.0% Note Fff5E (if)
Contract assets 3* EEEESK 120 (120) 100.0% Note Fff5E (if)
Contract assets 4* BREES 449 (449) 100.0% Note FfI5E (i)
Contract assets 5 BREES 440 (440) 100.0% Note Ffi&E (ii)
Contract assets 6* IS 700 (700) 100.0% Note Ffi=E (ii)
Contract assets 7* BRBEET 901 (901) 100.0% Note i =E (ii)
91,406 (20,819)
* UTFEHBR—F- * The following pairs represent each of the same party.
B RRHIESR & E Trade receivables 3 and contract assets 1;
BEL;
B RERHIBAR &R Trade receivables 4 and contract assets 7;
BET7;
B 5 EWRIE6 KR &R Trade receivables 6 and contract assets 3;
BHES;
B S RERHIEOR & F Trade receivables 9 and contract assets 4; and
BEL, K
B % BREIOR & Trade receivables 10 and contract assets 6.
F&EE6°

ZEZZEER
Annual Report 2022 2 05



AR e TS ERAR R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

35 EMTAE®

(b) HMBEAREEBERRER (&

15 B /z1 2 R Bt 1B 5F 12 (#7)

RIEEFBEBHE D EDEE
ZREWRIE BB RERERE
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@) RERBAESREEREIR
BENESRIEERS
REEZI : (8

HEER LA R B ESIA
BENESERRERS
EEETOCER

Miaz -

FrEEEEIERERS
HEEBNGEEAKE
BB R ER (BRI
MERD  HIEHE a8
EITAHMLMARRERESEET IR
Bt o

0] BIEERA AR
Z 8 5 R’ WA
WEHBAELERN
BEME BRER
IEE S @Bk
WeElf&Fs - AT
wL % & 7 B WK
THFHREERE °

(i) — BEERR AR
rEBEHEZE
BAR B A
EEMZEZE
WA R 2 E
HE

iy EBEBR® N
20226 [220214F12
A3IHEFRERK
EEGERINES
ANETEEF G

2 06 China New Energy Limited

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract
assets by categories based on method of provision for
credit loss allowance (Continued)

0)

Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
individual basis: (Continued)

Description of trade receivables and contract
assets for which credit loss allowance is provided
on an individual basis:

Note:

The Group considered the reasonable and
supportable evidence and information (including
forward-looking information) available in relation
to the counterparty, to assess the expected
credit losses and recognised the loss allowance
accordingly.

(i) The management believes that full
impairment is necessary in respect of this
trade receivable as there were internal
changes of debtor in respect of this trade
receivable and the Group is considering to
have litigation to collect the debts.

(ii) The management believes that fully
impairment is necessary in respect of this
trade receivable as the Group has lost
contact with this debtor.

(iii) The management consider the debtor with
significant outstanding balances as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 was assessed
individually.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

35 EMITAw 35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) MBEREEBRRKRER (&) (b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

EERER B EFFE (& Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

(ii) KHEERESHEEEREIE (ii)
RENEZRIEIERS
FEERBEFARR

Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on
portfolio basis, based on aging of debtors:

AT
1ER 1226/ 2E3ERN 3ELE fst
ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETE:
Over Over
lyearand 2 yearsand
Within within within Over
BAElTIER Trade and bills receivables 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
EREEURAFAEE  and contract assets RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
1#2022512A318 At 31 December 2022
FEAE Gross carrying amount
—ERERTER — Trade and bills receivables
eSS 25,831 8,276 1,753 4,795 40,655
HsEx Expected loss rate 3% 7% 100% 100% =
BEAGSE Loss allowance provision 870 539 1,753 4,795 7,957
FEFE Net carrying amount 24,961 7,737 = = 32,698
FRAE Gross carrying amount
—-sABE ~ Contract assets 209,194 55,740 5,943 1,170 272,047
EHEEE Expected loss rate 4% 5% 59% 100% =
BRERLE Loss allowance provision 7,818 2,529 3,535 1,170 15,052
FRFE Net carrying amount 201,376 53,211 2,408 = 256,995
T _EFER
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35 £ERIT A @ 35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) HHEEAMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EERER B EFFE (& Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
i 1225/ 2EIER 3ENE fast
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT
QOver QOver
lyearand  2yearsand
Within within within QOver
BARlTMIER Trade and bills receivables 1 year 2 years 3years 3 years Total
EREBEURSFAEE  and contract assets RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1#2021512A318 At 31 December 2021
FmeE Gross carrying amount
—ERERTIER — Trade and bills receivables
ENEE 57,647 2,303 950 6,150 67,050
BHEEX Expected loss rate 4% 9% 3% 100% =
BEEGELE Loss allowance provision 2,03 217 2 6,150 8,448
FEE Net carrying amount 55,59 2,086 922 = 58,602
FmeE Gross carrying amount
—aREE — Contract assets 96,334 145,685 = 2389 244908
BHEEX Expected loss rate 3% 10% = 100% =
BEEGELE Loss allowance provision 2505 13946 = 2389 18840
REFE Net carrying amount 94,329 131,739 = = 226,068
FERNARE S EWIE M ERE Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and
BRI REEIN T - bills receivables during the year is as follows:
20224 20214
2 HATEHA S HATEHA

EEERBst EEBERES
AR®TT AR®ET T

2022 2021

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

Total Total

RMB’000 RMB’'000

K18 184S Balance at 1 January 22,312 15,494
FAERN R EEE Impairment losses recognised

during the year 20,052 6,818

R12831 B 4sER Balance at 31 December 42,364 22312

2 08 China New Energy Limited
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35 EMTAE®

(b) MBERBEEEBRREE (@

15 B /m 2 R B 1B 5F 1 (A

FRERGREENBERFRR

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of contract

EHEINT assets during the year is as follows:
20224 20214
2 HATERA S HETEEA
FEBEES EEBEEGS
AREBTT AR®FTT
2022 2021
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Total Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
R1B1HM4EER Balance at 1 January 25,795 9,927
FEANREDR (RERER[E])  (Reversal of impairment losses)/
/RERE impairment losses
recognised during the year (4,230) 15,868
R12831 B4R Balance at 31 December 21,565 25,795

20224 &20214F12831H » k&
R2022 12331 B4R %EA A R IE
78,000,000 ELAth FE YFRIB SN » A<
S EFTAE At EWEIES KA
INEEEER AEEZI2EAR
TERRE EFRtEHEREE F
WA REMEUE BRI 518

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, except for the other
receivables with gross amount of RMB78,000,000 as at 31
December 2022, all of the Group's other receivables are either
not past due or does not have fixed repayment, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL. Movement in
the loss allowance account in respect of other receivables during
the year is as follows:

ERESENIT
20224 20214
et R 12{ER 4Bt R 12(E B
TEHREER5E ARG EEIR
ARETT AR¥TT
2022 2021
Total and Total and
12m ECL 12m ECL
RMB’000 RMB’000
R1B1E SR Balance at 1 January 9,238 7,513
FAERNREEE Impairment losses recognised
during the year 24,977 1,725
12831 B 4R Balance at 31 December 34,215 9,238
T _EFER
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) MBEREEBRRKRER (8 (b)

TEEZ R

RPETEREFEERNESIE
EAT LB 1T B B ERR -
FERHBNRBETRAREE
REEMEEKRSRIABE
- AEENEREBEBEBS
ERBH R BRI 1E
EEMNBERMEREEEZ BRE

Fio

FEBNBERE EHBERIBRF L
TRER RS AT H K LIRRE
MR TE R BV IR R R m B A2 A R
RPNARBIESHR R BRI £&
ERNESRE TP BIRIERIR

7R

2 1 0 China New Energy Limited

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage
of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
assets and liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through financial support of business partners and
suppliers.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserve of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. At present, the Group is
financed by advance payments from customers and bank
borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group’s financial liabilities at the reporting date based on

=P contractual undiscounted payments:
—FRN BB —F st
AR¥TT ARETIT AR¥TT
Less than More than
one year one year Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2022412H31H 31 December 2022
RITER Bank borrowings 27,899 1,432 29,331
B REMPEIIE  Trade and other payables
(FEIEFE(TIZER)  (excluding VAT payable) 122,501 = 122,501
HEaE Lease liabilities 762 = 762
151,162 1,432 152,594
2021F12831H 31 December 2021
RITER Bank borrowings 25,372 7,578 32,950
B REMPBEMIRIE  Trade and other payables
(FEFEFE(TIG(ERD)  (excluding VAT payable) 129,331 = 129,331
HEaE Lease liabilities 1,277 762 2,039
155,980 8,340 164,320
- 334
Annual Report 2022 2 1 1
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made
in determining the fair values of the financial instruments
that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
financial statements. To provide an indication about the
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the
Group has classified its financial instruments into the three

iRz BREE TR levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level follows underneath the table.
BE A FEFE Recurring fair value measurements
H34K “ast
AR®FT AR®FT
Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
#2022%12831H At 31 December 2022
ETREE Financial assets
WA ESt AHMAEE  Financial assets at fair value through
W EREE other comprehensive income 2,502 2,502
#2021%12831H At 31 December 2021
ETREE Financial assets
BATESt AHMAEME  Financial assets at fair value through
W EREE other comprehensive income 4,463 4,463

2 1 2 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the
Reporting Period. These instruments are
included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the
case for unlisted equity securities.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of
the Reporting Period.

ZEIEER
Annual Report 2022

213



AR e TS ERAR R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

35 EMTAE®

() TWMIAMNQTEFE (&)

(«

e
3

MAFE

i

]

tE ()

EE A FEBIGES A

mERMTAGEMRNFEME
FEESE

. AT ES ARMER
WmHEMEENS &
% (D)

Bisz KEFZ A FEGAEM
PEKFHEBEESR
FFHBAEAR L HEEE
YRS B IR A EIF92.08%%
1 o R E R E 201944
B4H BT > [aFt20214F12
B31H » ##E 2 50 # R
B EE FEEER—
BEEIEF R 1 (& FH o A
U 1B EEDEE# 2 FE A
B2 E K+ M EE
B E Ao

2 1 ll- China New Energy Limited

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)

Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair value

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

° For financial assets at FVTOCI, asset-based
approach (Note)

Note: The Group's financial assets at FVTOCI represent 2.08%
equity interests in an unlisted company, Inner Mongolia
Zhongneng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. The investee was
established on 4 April 2019 and as at 31 December 2021,
the investee has not launched any operation, the majority of
the assets are one building and land use right. Therefore,
the valuer used asset-based approach for financial assets at
FVTOCI.
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

EMIEMNQAFESE B (c)  Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)
BEMELFEFE (B Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)
1 BB 2095 R B 24 2\ FEH Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
17
TR BRRE3IRATFEFE The following table summarises the quantitative
FTARBEAF O ERZ=EAZIENE information about the significant unobservable inputs used
=& (BREFTRMGHER R in level 3 fair value measurements (see (b) above for the
b)) - valuation techniques adopted):
?2022%
#2022 BAFAHE 1263188 FARZ@HAHER
fi 12B31BMATE BARE UAREEE ATENRG
Fair value as at ~ Significant Range of inputs as at  Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 December 2022  unobservable inputs 31 December, 2022 inputs to fair value
BATESARMZER 2502 PAE-ME 15%82% PFEER AATERS
nNEHMEE BENZE
Financial assets at FVTOC 2502 Rate of newness - 15%-82%  The higher the rate of newness, the
Property, plant higher the fair value.
and equipment
THREFHE 100289 MmEHE BATEES
(AR¥E/TAHK)
Market price of 100-2829  The higher the market price, the
land and buildings higher the fair value.
(RMB/square metre)
R20215
R2021F BAFAHE 1263188 FARZ@HAHER
fit 12B31BMATE BARE UABEEE ATENRG
Fair value as at ~ Significant Range of inputs as at  Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 December 2021  unobservable inputs 31 December, 2021 inputs to fair value
BATESAHMZER 4463 EHME-ME 50%-83%  mEEHE A ATEESC
aNEHEE BENZE
Financial assets at FVTOC 4,463 Rate of newness - 59%-83%  The higher the rate of newness, the
Property, plant higher the fair value.
and equipment
THREFHE 1092833 MmEHE BATEES
(AR¥E/TAHK)
Market price of 109-2833  The higher the market price, the
land and buildings higher the fair value.
(RMB/square metre)

rEENZATES ARMEE
WmEMEEBRBILMNGE
BIGEMETHE - MFHRE

HEMMEERRAAERETH

A
o ©

The financial assets at FVTOCI of the Group was valued
by independent and qualified valuers. Discussions of
valuation processes and results were held between the
Chief Financial Officer and the valuers.
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35 EMTAE® 35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) TEMIENAFEE @ (c)  Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)
BIRAFEFEH IR Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
BNFEF A
HEthemkam
NEHEE
AR¥FT
Financial assets
at FVTOCI
RMB’000

FR2021F1H1H At 1 January 2021 4,845

4BE51E Total losses:

—REMEEKE — in other comprehensive income (324)

—HAh — others (58)

1202112831 H At 31 December 2021 4,463

4EES1E . Total losses:

—REMEEKE — in other comprehensive income (1,667)

—HAh — others (294)

R2022E12831H At 31 December 2022 2,502

2 1 6 China New Energy Limited
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36 RERETMERME

(@ FRFAEMANEF REE

TFENHR

36 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FrAR (@  Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash

used in operations

HE12A31HLEFE
2022 20214
ARBFT ARBTT

Year ended 31 December

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRFT1SE3 AT (B548) %A  (Loss)/profit before income tax (56,721) 8,964
KLU A Adjustments for:
— B PR AN R B — Finance costs — net 1,658 1,996
— W R R — Depreciation of property,
e plant and equipment 4,232 4,421
—fEREBEITE — Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 1,153 1,131
— B EEHH — Amortisation of intangible assets 2,198 1,357
—mEEERE — Impairment loss on intangible
assets 7,024 -
—SMEENRSREBEE - Netimpairment losses on
PERIEY SEi=bei-t financial assets and contract
assets 40,799 24411
—ERERE &) — Exchange losses/(gains), net
TREE 773 (1,407)
—HEMERREZ — Loss on disposal of property and
518 equipment = 56
L EIEES — Recovery of bad debts (1,450) (2,687)
EEETEHAIZ Operating (loss)/profit before working
K& capital changes (334) 38,242
EEETES Changes in working capital:
—&aREE — Contract assets 5,222 (136,891)
—F&8 — Inventories (2,214) (1,164)
—BSEWFIEREW - Trade and bills receivables
EE R H A E U and other receivables and
TIBRFEMHRIE prepayment (5,029) 61,139
==L — Contract liabilities 3,322 1,597
— B 5 REMENTIE — Trade and other payables 1,656 18,927
—RIEYTA — Deferred income = (2,400)
KERR/ () R Cash generated from/(used in)
operations 2,623 (20,550)
T _EFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

36 RERETRERME @

(b) FEHHIR

REHIINE 2 FEEFEHER

BEBEFNIN

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the

movements in net debt for each of the year presented.

20225 20214
AR®BTT AR®FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
REMRIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,879 6,904
IRTTERKEEARE Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
—ng——FARER — current — repayable within
one year (27,850) (25,549)
RITERKEEESE Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
—IERE — non-current (1,350) (8,246)
BETS Net debt (27,321) (26,891)
20225 20214
AR®BTT AR®FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
REMRIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,879 6,904
wEF—ETEHEX Gross debt — fixed interest rates (29,200) (33,795)
BETS Net debt (27,321) (26,891)
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IR AT IRR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 ZRFEEMERMTE @ 36 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) EEFHIKR @ (b)  Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

REk R-ER fim— HE&fFE- HEAEA-
REEEN HENET 3] ik ] FERE st
ARETE ARETH ARETE ARETT ARBTE ARETR

Lease

Cash  Borrowings  Borrowings Lease Liabilities

and cash  due within -non- Liabilities - non-
equivalents 1 year current - current current Total

RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000 ~ RMBOOO ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000

"2021F Net debt as at

18181 1 January 2021

FEH 37,322 11,172) (9,500) (1,075) (1,932) 13643
BeheE Cash flows (30977) (11,191 = 1,075 = (41,093)
BN Reclassffication = (2,000) 2,000 (1,186) 1,186 -
BEER Translation differences 559 - - - - 559
"2021F Net debt as at

1283181 31 December 2021

FEH 6,904 (24,363) (7,500) (1,186) (746)  (26891)
1"2022F Net debt as at

18188 1 January 2022

BEE 6904  (24,363) (7,500) (1,186) (746)  (26891)
R&ng Cash flows (4.937) 3381 = 1214 (342)
E-Eipar ] Reclassification = (6,150) 6,150 (746) 746 -
HhEEHE Translation differences 83) = = = (83)
1"2022F Net debt as at

12H318/ 31 December 2022

BEE 1,879 (27,132) (1,350) (718) (27,321)

ZEZZEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B EREPIN FRESEEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 FAEtARSH 37
(a) FAEE S 4R
EHRAM S 2 MR BB REEE
BN G E MBI R R sE21 K

26°

(b) EEEEEHM

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Related party balances
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are
set out in the consolidated statement of financial position

and in Notes 21 and 26.

(b) Key management compensation

20224 20214
AR®BTT AR®EF T
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE Fre Ttk Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
HAh@d] benefits 2,633 3,726
38 HAREE 38 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
R20225E K:2021 5612331 H » <& [Ef 4 As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no significant
RERIERFAER contingent liabilities.
39 BARKIE 39 CAPITAL COMMITMENT
20224 F20214E12 531 H » A~EE @1 42 The Group did not have any material capital commitment as at 31
ERIERE AR EA December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

40 AATMEIRRAERKEFHE 40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

1 AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY
(a) ATATHBRARE (@)  Statement of financial position of the Company
20224 20214
ARETT AR¥FT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
ERENEE Non-current asset
R—REMEBASIA  Investments in a subsidiary
Ea | 86,034 86,034
REMEE Current assets
FEWLAR B Dividend receivables 5,615 5,758
FEW B ATFIE  Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,062 8,439
HhfEWGRIERTE  Other receivables and
INERE prepayments 2,793 3,081
IRITHEG KIS Bank balances and cash 240 1,095
9,710 18,373
mEE Total assets 95,744 104,407
W EQUITY
EATEBA Equity attributable to
FE(L i Owners of the Company
[N Share capital 1,762 1,762
(=] Reserves 89,588 96,957
4ERE T Total equity 91,350 98,719
aE LIABILITIES
mENRE Current liabilities
RITIER Bank borrowings - 2 450
HihpE(FIE Other payables 4,198 3,036
B I8 Tax payable 196 202
4,394 5,688
FER= R Total liabilities 4,394 5,633
M RAaE Total equity and liabilities 95,744 104,407
KAB AR TFTE 202345 The Company’s statement of financial position was
3A31HHESZTHERRET approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
O WA A TRES © Directors on 31 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf
by:
REE FEJKEL
Yu Weijun Tang Zhaoxing
£ -
Director Director
T _EFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BERBIN FTEETRE A ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

40 ZATIAFEIRRRKE#EE 40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(b) ZHRFEBEESD (b)  Reserve Movement of the Company
SMEiE
RiniEE il B4 g fst
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
H#320) Hiz32)
Foreign
currency
translation  Accumulated
Share premium reserves losses Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Note 32(a) Note 32()
1202151 R 1B Balance at 1 January 2021 132,761 23,858 (58,739) 97,880
g Profit for the year = = 33 33
HitzmesE Other comprehensive loss = (956) = (956)
#2021%12A31H Balance at
e 31 December 2021 132,761 22902 (58,706) 96,957
#2022 1B 1B M4 ER Balance at 1 January 2022 132,761 22902 (58,706) 96,957
FREE Loss for the year = = (6,542) (6,542)
Hth2EEE Other comprehensive loss = (827) - (827)
#2022%12A31R Balance at
e 31 December 2022 132,761 22075 (65,248) 89,588

222 China New Energy Limited




™ AL ==
:%I'FEI%HE

MTEEE
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

HHE12A31HIEEE
Year ended 31 December
2022%F 20214
ARBTT AR®ETFTT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue 117,354 386,831
BREF1SR A (518) &A (Loss)/profit before income tax (56,721) 8,964
FER EH) w2 REE (Loss)/profit and total comprehensive
(B518) WA EE (loss)/income for the year (53,850) 6,624
RNBVEB AEHER (Loss)/profit and total comprehensive
(#548) BH REE (loss)/income for the year attributable to
(18 hsezs owners of the Company 53,418 7,250
BEKREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
#12H31H
As at 31 December
2022%F 20214F
ARBFT ARBEFTT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
ERIEE Non-current assets 54,043 63,246
TRENEE Current assets 429,177 473,511
BEHEE Total assets 483,220 536,757
Emkas Equity and liabilities
ERasE Non-current liabilities 1,350 8,246
I =R Current liabilities 286,045 278,836
= REEhR Total liabilities 287,395 287,082
T ARER Total equity 195,825 249,675
MBEERE Net current assets 143,132 194,675
“EZFFR

Annual Report 2022 2 23



M=
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TRBE A S E & 2201845  20194F ~ 20204
2021 F Re2022F 12B31H L FEZ X8 BER
afR:

REEEE2018F K2019F12A31HIEFE 2
FE BEREEHZERE AT BAZ2020
FOANHZBRER -

The following table summarises the results, and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and
2022:

The summary of the results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 was extracted from the
prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2020.

HE12831HILEFE
20225 20214 20204 20194 20184
ARETRT ARETRT ARETT AREFT AR®BTT
Year ended 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ZEEEREME  Major Items of Consolidated

EAREREE Statement of Profit or Loss and

EHH Other Comprehensive Income
e Revenue 117,354 386,831 521,561 398,558 249,978
EH Gross profit 15,187 45322 132,716 109,417 72,604
ESIIES Gross profit margin 12.9% 11.7% 25.4% 27.5% 29.0%
FW (5518) /&M (Loss)profit for the year (50,957) 7,795 44,364 59,168 45,821
NEVHEB NG (Loss)/profit attributable to the owners

(&518) /&F of the company (50,525) 8421 44,364 59,168 45,821
FEIER ARG Loss attributable to the non-controlling

i interests (432) (626) = = =
3 (5518) /A= Net (loss)/profit margin (43.4)% 2.0% 85% 14.8% 18.3%
IFEMBIRRR Major Items of Consolidated

FEER Statement of Financial Position
ERHEE Non-current assets 54,043 63,246 51,031 45 464 27,599
MENEE Current assets 429,177 473,511 448140 355,569 221,323
JEREEE Non-current liabilities 1,350 8,246 13,832 2,891 =
REBME Current liabilities 286,045 278,836 242,729 267,712 177,8%
NEHEE AEM Capital and reserves atributable to

BRRKEE the owners of the company 196,442 249,860 242 610 130,430 71,026
FEERR R Non-controlling interests (617) (185) = = =
BEAREX Gearing ratio 1.47 1.15 1.06 2.07 2.50

224 China New Energy Limited
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